

Numéro 115 Nouvelle série

THEORY OF BERGMAN SPACES IN THE UNIT BALL OF \mathbb{C}^n

Ruhan ZHAO and Kehe ZHU

2 0 0 8

SOCIÉTÉ MATHÉMATIQUE DE FRANCE

Publié avec le concours du Centre National de la Recherche Scientifique

Comité de rédaction

Jean BARGE Emmanuel BREUILLARD Gérard BESSON Antoine CHAMBERT-LOIR Jean-François DAT Charles FAVRE Daniel HUYBRECHTS Yves LE JAN Laure SAINT-RAYMOND Wilhem SCHLAG

Raphaël KRIKORIAN (dir.)

Diffusion

Maison de la SMF Case 916 - Luminy 13288 Marseille Cedex 9 France smf@smf.univ-mrs.fr Hindustan Book Agency O-131, The Shopping Mall Arjun Marg, DLF Phase 1 Gurgaon 122002, Haryana Inde AMS P.O. Box 6248 Providence RI 02940 USA www.ams.org

Tarifs

Vente au numéro : $28 \in (\$42)$ AbonnementEurope : $255 \in$, hors Europe : $290 \in (\$435)$ Des conditions spéciales sont accordées aux membres de la SMF.

Secrétariat : Nathalie Christiaën

Mémoires de la SMF Société Mathématique de France Institut Henri Poincaré, 11, rue Pierre et Marie Curie 75231 Paris Cedex 05, France Tél : (33) 01 44 27 67 99 • Fax : (33) 01 40 46 90 96 revues@smf.ens.fr • http://smf.emath.fr/

© Société Mathématique de France 2008

Tous droits réservés (article L 122-4 du Code de la propriété intellectuelle). Toute représentation ou reproduction intégrale ou partielle faite sans le consentement de l'éditeur est illicite. Cette représentation ou reproduction par quelque procédé que ce soit constituerait une contrefaçon sanctionnée par les articles L 335-2 et suivants du CPI.

ISSN 0249-633-X

ISBN 978-2-85629-267-9

Directrice de la publication : Aline BONAMI

THEORY OF BERGMAN SPACES IN THE UNIT BALL OF \mathbb{C}^n

Ruhan Zhao Kehe Zhu

Société Mathématique de France 2008 Publié avec le concours du Centre National de la Recherche Scientifique Ruhan Zhao Department of Mathematics, SUNY, Brockport, NY 14420, USA. *E-mail* : rzhao@brockport.edu

Kehe Zhu

Department of Mathematics, SUNY, Albany, NY 12222, USA.

E-mail: kzhu@math.albany.edu

2000 Mathematics Subject Classification. – 32A36, 32A18.

Key words and phrases. – Unit ball, Bergman space, Lipschitz space, Bloch space, Arveson space, Besov space, Carleson measure, fractional derivative, integral representation, atomic decomposition, complex interpolation, coefficient multiplier.

The second author is partially supported by a grant from the NSF.

THEORY OF BERGMAN SPACES IN THE UNIT BALL OF \mathbb{C}^n

Ruhan Zhao, Kehe Zhu

Abstract. – There has been a great deal of work done in recent years on weighted Bergman spaces A^p_{α} on the unit ball \mathbb{B}_n of \mathbb{C}^n , where $0 and <math>\alpha > -1$. We extend this study in a very natural way to the case where α is any real number and 0 . This unified treatment covers all classical Bergman spaces, Besov $spaces, Lipschitz spaces, the Bloch space, the Hardy space <math>H^2$, and the so-called Arveson space. Some of our results about integral representations, complex interpolation, coefficient multipliers, and Carleson measures are new even for the ordinary (unweighted) Bergman spaces of the unit disk.

Résumé (Théorie des espaces de Bergman dans la boule unité de \mathbb{C}^n)

Ces dernières années il y a eu un grand nombre de travaux sur les espaces de Bergman pondérés A^p_{α} sur la boule unité \mathbb{B}_n de \mathbb{C}^n , où $0 et <math>\alpha > -1$. Nous étendons cette étude, de manière très naturelle, au cas où α est un nombre réel quelconque et 0 . Ce traitement unifié couvre tous les espaces de Bergman $classiques, les espaces de Bésov, de Lipschitz, l'espace de Bloch, l'espace <math>H^2$ de Hardy, et celui appelé espace d'Arveson. Certains de nos résultats autour de la représentation entière, de l'interpolation complexe, des multiplicateurs de coefficients et des mesures de Carleson, sont nouveaux, y compris pour les espaces de Bergman ordinaires (nonpondérés) sur le disque unité.

CONTENTS

1. Introduction	1
2. Various special cases	5
3. Preliminaries	7
4. Isomorphism of Bergman spaces	13
5. Several characterizations of A^p_{α}	17
6. Holomorphic Lipschitz spaces	23
7. Pointwise estimates	31
8. Duality	35
9. Integral representations	39
10. Atomic decomposition	43
11. Complex interpolation	49
12. Reproducing kernels	55
13. Carleson type measures	63
14. Coefficient multipliers	79
15. Lacunary series	87
16. Inclusion relations	91
17. Further remarks	97
Bibliography	99

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

Throughout the paper we fix a positive integer n and let

$$\mathbb{C}^n = \mathbb{C} \times \cdots \times \mathbb{C}$$

denote the *n* dimensional complex Euclidean space. For $z = (z_1, \dots, z_n)$ and $w = (w_1, \dots, w_n)$ in \mathbb{C}^n we write

$$\langle z, w \rangle = z_1 \overline{w}_1 + \dots + z_n \overline{w}_n, \quad |z| = \sqrt{|z_1|^2 + \dots + |z_n|^2}.$$

The open unit ball in \mathbb{C}^n is the set

$$\mathbb{B}_n = \big\{ z \in \mathbb{C}^n : |z| < 1 \big\}.$$

We use $H(\mathbb{B}_n)$ to denote the space of all holomorphic functions in \mathbb{B}_n .

For any $-\infty < \alpha < \infty$ we consider the positive measure

$$\mathrm{d}v_{\alpha}(z) = (1 - |z|^2)^{\alpha} \mathrm{d}v(z),$$

where dv is volume measure on \mathbb{B}_n . It is easy to see that dv_α is finite if and only if $\alpha > -1$. When $\alpha > -1$, we normalize dv_α so that it is a probability measure.

Bergman spaces with standard weights are defined as

$$A^p_{\alpha} = H(\mathbb{B}_n) \cap L^p(\mathbb{B}_n, \mathrm{d}v_{\alpha}),$$

where p > 0 and $\alpha > -1$. Here the assumption that $\alpha > -1$ is essential, because the space $L^p(\mathbb{B}_n, dv_\alpha)$ does not contain any holomorphic function other than 0 when $\alpha \leq -1$. When $\alpha = 0$, we use A^p to denote the ordinary unweighted Bergman spaces. Bergman spaces with standard weights on the unit ball have been studied by numerous authors in recent years. See Aleksandrov [2], Beatrous-Burbea [11], Coifman-Rochberg [21], Rochberg [46], Rudin [47], Stoll [57], and Zhu [71] for results and references.

In this paper we are going to extend the definition of A^p_{α} to the case in which α is any real number and develop a theory for the extended family of spaces. More specifically, we study the following topics about the generalized spaces A^p_{α} : various

characterizations, integral representations, atomic decomposition, complex interpolation, optimal pointwise estimates, duality, reproducing kernels when p = 2, Carleson type measures, and various special cases. A few of these are straightforward consequences or generalizations of known results in the case $\alpha > -1$ (we included them here with full proofs for the sake of a complete and coherent theory), thanks to the isomorphism between A^p_{α} and A^p via fractional integral and differential operators, while most others require new techniques and reveal new properties. Several of our results are new even in the case of ordinary Bergman spaces of the unit disk.

Our starting point is the observation that, for p > 0 and $\alpha > -1$, a holomorphic function f in \mathbb{B}_n belongs to A^p_{α} if and only if the function $(1 - |z|^2)Rf(z)$ belongs to $L^p(\mathbb{B}_n, \mathrm{d}v_\alpha)$, where

$$Rf(z) = \sum_{k=1}^{n} z_k \frac{\partial f}{\partial z_k}(z)$$

is the radial derivative of f. This result is well known to experts in the field and is sometimes referred to as a theorem of Hardy and Littlewood (especially in the onedimensional case). See Beatrous [9], Pavlovic [42], or Theorem 2.16 of Zhu [71]. More generally, we can repeatedly apply this result and show that, for any positive integer k, a holomorphic function f is in A^p_{α} if and only if the function $(1-|z|^2)^k R^k f(z)$ belongs to $L^p(\mathbb{B}_n, dv_{\alpha})$.

Now for p > 0 and $-\infty < \alpha < \infty$ we fix a nonnegative integer k with $pk + \alpha > -1$ and define A^p_{α} as the space of holomorphic functions f in \mathbb{B}_n such that the function $(1 - |z|^2)^k R^k f(z)$ belongs to $L^p(\mathbb{B}_n, dv_{\alpha})$. As was mentioned in the previous paragraph, this definition of A^p_{α} is consistent with the traditional definition when $\alpha > -1$. Also, it is easy to show (see Section 4) that the definition of A^p_{α} is independent of the integer k.

We also study a companion family of spaces defined using the sup-norm of a combination of powers of $1 - |z|^2$ and partial derivatives of a holomorphic function f in \mathbb{B}_n . More specifically, for any real α we define Λ_{α} to be the space of holomorphic functions f in \mathbb{B}_n such that the function $(1 - |z|^2)^{k-\alpha} R^k f(z)$ is bounded in \mathbb{B}_n , where k is any nonnegative integer with $k > \alpha$. We are going to call them holomorphic Lipschitz spaces. Once again, it can be shown that the definition of Λ_{α} is independent of the choice of the integer k.

The two families of spaces A^p_{α} and Λ_{α} , with $0 and <math>\alpha$ real, cover any space (except H^{∞} and its equivalents) of holomorphic functions that is defined in terms of membership in $L^p(\mathbb{B}_n, \mathrm{d}v)$, 0 , for any combination of partialderivatives of <math>f and powers of $1 - |z|^2$. These spaces have appeared before in the literature under different names. For example, for any positive p and real s there is the classical diagonal Besov space B^s_p consisting of holomorphic functions f in \mathbb{B}_n such that $(1 - |z|^2)^{k-s} R^k f(z)$ belongs to $L^p(\mathrm{d}v_{-1})$, where k is any positive integer greater than s. It is clear that $B_p^s = A_\alpha^p$ with $\alpha = -(ps+1)$; and $A_\alpha^p = B_p^s$ with $s = -(\alpha+1)/p$. Thus our spaces A_α^p are exactly the diagonal Besov spaces. See Ahern-Cohen [1], Arazy-Fisher-Janson-Peetre [4], Arcozzi-Rochberg-Sawyer [7], Frazier-Jawerth [26], Hahn-Youssfi [30], [29], Kaptanoglu [33], [34], Nowark [40], Peloso [44], and Zhu [71] for some recent results on such Besov spaces and more references. In particular, our spaces A_α^p are the same as the spaces B_q^p (with $q = \alpha$) in Kaptanoglu [33], although an unnecessary condition -qp + q > -1 was imposed in [33].

On the other hand, if s is a positive integer, p is positive, and α is real, then there is the Sobolev space $W_{s,\alpha}^p$ consisting of holomorphic functions f in \mathbb{B}_n such that the partial derivatives of f of order up to N all belong to $L^p(\mathbb{B}_n, dv_\alpha)$. It is easy to see that our generalized Bergman spaces are exactly the holomorphic Sobolev spaces. See Ahern-Cohen [1], Aleksandrov [2], Beatrous-Burbea [11] for results and more references.

Therefore, for those who are more familiar or more comfortable with Besov or Sobolev spaces, our paper can be considered a unified theory for such spaces as well. However, we believe that most people nowadays are familiar and comfortable with the term "Bergman spaces", and our theory here is almost identical to the theory of ordinary Bergman spaces (as presented in Zhu [71] for example), so it is also reasonable for us to call A^p_{α} weighted Bergman spaces. We can stretch this a little further. More specifically, there has been a sizable amount of work in the literature about spaces of holomorphic functions satisfying the condition

$$\sup_{z\in\mathbb{B}_n} \left(1-|z|^2\right)^t |f(z)| < \infty,$$

where t > 0. Such spaces are special cases of our Lipschitz spaces Λ_{α} and they have been called Bergman spaces as well by some authors; see Seip [50], [49] for example. Therefore, we do not feel guilty to use the term "Bergman spaces" to include all our Lipschitz spaces Λ_{α} .

It is apparent that this work is a natural extension of the recent book [71]. There is undoubtedly some overlapping between the two. In particular, the notation here is identical to that used in [71], and several techniques developed in [71] are used repeatedly in this paper. Since we are developing a more general theory here, complete proofs are included for all but the obvious.

As was mentioned a little earlier, the spaces we study here are not new. There are several papers in the literature that are very much related to this one, for example, [11] and [33]. In fact, almost every result here has its origin somewhere else. Therefore, in subsequent chapters, whenever a major theorem is proved, we will try to bring the reader's attention to these other sources where earlier versions or special cases of the particular result can be found. These repetitive references may be annoying to the

reader on the one hand, and on the other hand they may prove more offensive to authors whose papers have somehow been overlooked or inaccurately quoted. Whatever the case, we apologize in advance. It is not our intention to claim a known result ours. We also greatly appreciate the referee's complete understanding of this dilemma, as well as his/her suggestions on how to improve the presentation of the paper.

CHAPTER 2

VARIOUS SPECIAL CASES

In this chapter we spell out to the reader several special cases of the spaces A^p_{α} and Λ_{α} . In particular, this partially shows the scope of the paper and gives an orientation to those readers who are only concerned with certain special cases.

As was mentioned in the introduction, when $\alpha > -1$, the spaces A^p_{α} are traditionally called weighted Bergman spaces. In this case, a holomorphic function f in \mathbb{B}_n belongs to A^p_{α} (see Zhu [71]) if and only if

$$\int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \left| f(z) \right|^p \left(1 - |z|^2 \right)^{\alpha} \mathrm{d}v(z) < \infty$$

When $\alpha = -(n + 1)$, or $n + \alpha + 1 = 0$, we have mentioned several times earlier that the space A^p_{α} is traditionally denoted by B_p and is called a diagonal Besov space. Alternatively, a holomorphic function f in \mathbb{B}_n belongs to the Besov space B_p if and only if

$$\int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \left| \left(1 - |z|^2 \right)^k R^k f(z) \right|^p \mathrm{d}\tau(z) < \infty,$$

where k is any positive integer with pk > n and

$$d\tau(z) = \frac{dv(z)}{(1-|z|^2)^{n+1}}$$

is the Möbius invariant measure on \mathbb{B}_n . See Zhu [71].

When $\alpha = -1$ and p = 2, the space A^p_{α} coincides with the classical Hardy space H^2 . See (20) later in the paper and (1.22) of Zhu [71]. Recall that H^p consists of holomorphic functions f in \mathbb{B}_n such that

$$\sup_{0 < r < 1} \int_{\mathbb{S}_n} \left| f(r\zeta) \right|^p \mathrm{d}\sigma(\zeta) < \infty,$$

where $d\sigma$ is the normalized surface measure on the unit sphere \mathbb{S}_n .

When $\alpha = -n$ and p = 2, the space A^p_{α} is the so-called Arveson space, which is usually defined as the Hilbert space of holomorphic functions in \mathbb{B}_n whose reproducing kernel is given by (see Theorem 41)

$$K(z,w) = \frac{1}{1 - \langle z, w \rangle}$$

This space has attracted much attention lately in the study of multi-variable operator theory. We mention Arveson's [8] influential paper and the recent monograph [17] by Chen and Guo.

When $0 < \alpha < 1$, the space Λ_{α} is the classical Lipschitz space of holomorphic functions f in \mathbb{B}_n satisfying the condition

$$\sup\left\{\frac{|f(z) - f(w)|}{|z - w|^{\alpha}} : z, w \in \mathbb{B}_n, \, z \neq w\right\} < \infty.$$

See Section 6.4 of Rudin [47]. The space Λ_1 is also called the Zygmund class, especially in the case when n = 1.

When $\alpha = 0$, the space Λ_{α} is just the classical Bloch space, consisting of functions $f \in H(\mathbb{B}_n)$ such that

$$\sup_{z\in\mathbb{B}_n} \left(1-|z|^2\right) \left| Rf(z) \right| < \infty.$$

When $\alpha < 0$, the spaces Λ_{α} have appeared in the literature under the name of growth spaces. In this case, a holomorphic function f in \mathbb{B}_n belongs to Λ_{α} if and only if

$$\sup_{z\in\mathbb{B}_n}\left(1-|z|^2\right)^{|\alpha|}\left|f(z)\right|<\infty.$$

The term "Bloch type spaces" or α -Bloch spaces can also be found in recent literature. More specifically, for any $\alpha > 0$ the α -Bloch space is denoted by \mathcal{B}_{α} and consists of holomorphic functions f in \mathbb{B}_n such that

$$\sup_{z\in\mathbb{B}_n}\left(1-|z|^2\right)^{\alpha}\left|Rf(z)\right|<\infty.$$

It is then clear that the α -Bloch space \mathscr{B}_{α} is the same as our generalized Lipschitz space $\Lambda_{1-\alpha}$. See Zhu [71].

CHAPTER 3

PRELIMINARIES

In this chapter we present preliminary material on Bergman kernel functions and fractional differential and integral operators. This material will be heavily used in later chapters.

 \triangleright Throughout the paper we use

$$m = (m_1, \cdots, m_n)$$

to denote an *n*-tuple of nonnegative integers. It is customary to write

$$|m| = m_1 + \dots + m_n$$
 and $m! = m_1! \dots m_n!$.

If $z = (z_1, \dots, z_n)$ is a point in \mathbb{C}^n , we write

$$z^m = z_1^{m_1} \cdots z_n^{m_n}.$$

The following multi-nomial formula will be used (implicitly) several times later on:

(1)
$$\langle z, w \rangle^k = \sum_{|m|=k} \frac{k!}{m!} z^m \overline{w}^m.$$

 \triangleright If f is a holomorphic function in \mathbb{B}_n , it has a unique Taylor series,

$$f(z) = \sum_{m} a_m z^m.$$

If we define

$$f_k(z) = \sum_{|m|=k} a_m z^m, \quad k = 0, 1, 2, \dots,$$

then each f_k is a homogeneous polynomial of degree k, and we can rearrange the Taylor series of f as follows:

$$f(z) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} f_k(z).$$

This is called the homogeneous expansion of f.

 \triangleright Using homogeneous expansion of f we can write the radial derivative Rf as

$$Rf(z) = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} kf_k(z).$$

More general, for any real number t, we can define the following fractional radial derivative for a holomorphic function f in \mathbb{B}_n :

$$R^t f(z) = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} k^t f_k(z).$$

 \triangleright When we work with partial derivatives, we will use the following notation, where *m* is any *n*-tuple of nonnegative integers:

$$\partial^m f = \frac{\partial^{|m|} f}{\partial z_1^{m_1} \cdots \partial z_n^{m_n}}$$

▷ An important tool in the study of holomorphic function spaces is the notion of fractional differential and integral operators. There are numerous types of fractional differential and integral operators, we introduce one that is intimately related to and interacts well with the Bergman kernel functions. More specifically, for any complex parameters s and t with the property that neither n + s nor n + s + t is a negative integer, we define two operators $R^{s,t}$ and $R_{s,t}$ on $H(\mathbb{B}_n)$ as follows. If

$$f(z) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} f_k(z)$$

is the homogeneous expansion of a holomorphic function in \mathbb{B}_n , we define

$$R^{s,t}f(z) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{\Gamma(n+1+s)\Gamma(n+1+k+s+t)}{\Gamma(n+1+s+t)\Gamma(n+1+k+s)} f_k(z).$$

If $H(\mathbb{B}_n)$ is equipped with the topology of "uniform convergence on compact sets", it is easy to see that each $\mathbb{R}^{s,t}$ is a continuous invertible operator on $H(\mathbb{B}_n)$. We use $\mathbb{R}_{s,t}$ to denote the inverse of $\mathbb{R}^{s,t}$ on $H(\mathbb{B}_n)$. Thus

$$R_{s,t}f(z) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{\Gamma(n+1+s+t)\Gamma(n+1+k+s)}{\Gamma(n+1+s)\Gamma(n+1+k+s+t)} f_k(z).$$

When s is real and t > 0, it follows from Stirling's formula that

$$\frac{\Gamma(n+1+s)\Gamma(n+1+k+s+t)}{\Gamma(n+1+s+t)\Gamma(n+1+k+s)} \sim k^t$$

as $k \to \infty$. In this case, $R^{s,t}$ is indeed a fractional radial differential operator of order t and $R_{s,t}$ is a fractional radial integral operator of order t.

The operators $R^{s,t}$ and $R_{s,t}$ seem to have first appeared in Peloso [44], and independently in Zhu [68], [69], [70], as a way to define and study holomorphic function spaces on the unit ball, and more generally, on bounded symmetric domains. This

type of fractional differential and integral operators also became an important tool in the books by Arcozzi-Rochberg-Sawyer [7] and Zhu [71].

Kaptanoglu [33], [34], [35] used these operators in a slightly more general way. More specifically, the technical conditions that n + s and n + s + t should not be negative integers can be removed if one is willing to make a separate definition for $R^{s,t}$ (and $R_{s,t}$) in this case. However, since these operators are meant to transform the kernel function $(1 - \langle z, w \rangle)^{-(n+1+s)}$ to $(1 - \langle z, w \rangle)^{-(n+1+s+t)}$, it is clear that the technical conditions mentioned above are natural. Otherwise, these functions would become polynomials and the corresponding reproducing Hilbert spaces would become finite dimensional. Besides, in all our applications, it always involves in choosing a sufficiently large parameter s, and with the technical conditions imposed on s and t, there is never a lack of s for such choices. Also, the use of complex parameters does not present any extra difficulty and will be more convenient for us on several occasions.

LEMMA 1. – Suppose neither n + s nor n + s + t is a negative integer. Then

$$R_{s,t} = R^{s+t,-t}$$

Proof. – This follows directly from the definition of these operators. \Box

LEMMA 2. – Suppose s, t, and λ are complex parameters such that none of $n + \lambda$, $n + \lambda + t$, and $n + \lambda + s + t$ is a negative integer. Then

$$R^{\lambda,t}R^{\lambda+t,s} = R^{\lambda,s+t}.$$

Proof. – This also follows from the definition of these operators. \Box

As was mentioned earlier, the main advantage of the operators $R^{s,t}$ and $R_{s,t}$ is that they interact well with Bergman kernel functions. This is made precise by the following result.

PROPOSITION 3. – Suppose neither n + s nor n + s + t is a negative integer. Then

$$R^{s,t} \frac{1}{(1 - \langle z, w \rangle)^{n+1+s}} = \frac{1}{(1 - \langle z, w \rangle)^{n+1+s+t}},$$
$$R_{s,t} \frac{1}{(1 - \langle z, w \rangle)^{n+1+s+t}} = \frac{1}{(1 - \langle z, w \rangle)^{n+1+s}}.$$

Furthermore, these relations uniquely determine the operators $R^{s,t}$ and $R_{s,t}$ on $H(\mathbb{B}_n)$.

Proof. – See Proposition 1.14 of [71]. The proof there is for the case when s and t are real. But obviously the same proof works for complex parameters as well. \Box

Most of the time we use the above proposition as follows. If a holomorphic function f in \mathbb{B}_n has an integral representation

$$f(z) = \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{\mathrm{d}\mu(w)}{(1 - \langle z, w \rangle)^{n+1+s}},$$

then

$$R^{s,t}f(z) = \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{\mathrm{d}\mu(w)}{(1 - \langle z, w \rangle)^{n+1+s+t}} \cdot$$

In particular, if $\alpha > -1$ and $n + \alpha + t$ is not a negative integer, then

$$R^{\alpha,t}f(z) = \lim_{r \to 1^-} \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{f(rw) \mathrm{d}v_\alpha(w)}{(1 - \langle z, w \rangle)^{n+1+\alpha+t}}$$

for every function $f \in H(\mathbb{B}_n)$. See Corollary 2.3 of [71].

PROPOSITION 4. – Suppose N is a positive integer and s is a complex number such that n + s is not a negative integer. Then the operator $\mathbb{R}^{s,N}$ is a linear partial differential operator on $H(\mathbb{B}_n)$ of order N with polynomial coefficients, that is,

$$R^{s,N}f(z) = \sum_{|m| \le N} p_m(z)\partial^m f(z),$$

where each p_m is a polynomial.

Proof. – The proof of Proposition 1.15 of [71] works for complex parameters as well. \Box

PROPOSITION 5. – Suppose s and t are complex parameters such that neither n + snor n + s + t is a negative integer. If $\alpha = s + N$ for some positive integer N, then

$$R^{s,t} \frac{1}{(1 - \langle z, w \rangle)^{n+1+\alpha}} = \frac{h(\langle z, w \rangle)}{(1 - \langle z, w \rangle)^{n+1+\alpha+t}}$$

where h is a certain one-variable polynomial of degree N. Similarly, there exists a one-variable polynomial q of degree N such that

$$R_{s,t}\frac{1}{(1-\langle z,w\rangle)^{n+1+\alpha+t}} = \frac{q(\langle z,w\rangle)}{(1-\langle z,w\rangle)^{n+1+\alpha}}.$$

Proof. – See the proof of Lemma 2.18 of [71] for the result concerning $R^{s,t}$. Combining this with Lemma 1, the result for $R_{s,t}$ follows as well.

Alternatively, we can use Proposition 3 to write

$$R^{s,t} \frac{1}{(1 - \langle z, w \rangle)^{n+1+\alpha}} = R^{s,t} R^{s,N} \frac{1}{(1 - \langle z, w \rangle)^{n+1+s}}$$

Since $R^{s,N}$ and $R^{s,t}$ commute, another application of Proposition 3 gives

$$R^{s,t} \frac{1}{(1 - \langle z, w \rangle)^{n+1+\alpha}} = R^{s,N} \frac{1}{(1 - \langle z, w \rangle)^{n+1+s+t}}$$

The desired result then follows from Proposition 4.

We also include an easy but important fact concerning the radial derivative.

LEMMA 6. – For any positive integer k the operator R^k is a kth order partial differential operator on $H(\mathbb{B}_n)$ with polynomial coefficients.

Proof. - Obvious.

We are going to need two integral estimates involving Bergman kernel functions.

PROPOSITION 7. – Suppose s and t are real numbers with s > -1. Then the integral

$$I(z) = \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{(1-|w|^2)^s \mathrm{d}v(w)}{|1-\langle z,w\rangle|^{n+1+s+t}}$$

has the following asymptotic behavior as $|z| \rightarrow 1^-$:

- (a) If t < 0, then I(z) is continuous on $\overline{\mathbb{B}}_n$. In particular, I(z) is bounded for $z \in \mathbb{B}_n$.
- (b) If t > 0, then I(z) is comparable to $(1 |z|^2)^{-t}$.
- (c) If t = 0, then I(z) is comparable to $-\log(1 |z|^2)$.

Proof. – See Proposition 1.4.10 of Rudin [47].

PROPOSITION 8. – Suppose a and b are complex parameters. If S and T are integral operators defined by

$$Sf(z) = (1 - |z|^2)^a \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{(1 - |w|^2)^b f(w) dv(w)}{(1 - \langle z, w \rangle)^{n+1+a+b}},$$
$$Tf(z) = (1 - |z|^2)^a \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{(1 - |w|^2)^b f(w) dv(w)}{|1 - \langle z, w \rangle|^{n+1+a+b}},$$

then for any $1 \leq p < \infty$ and α real, the following conditions are equivalent:

- (a) The operator S is bounded on $L^p(\mathbb{B}_n, \mathrm{d}v_\alpha)$.
- (b) The operator T is bounded on $L^p(\mathbb{B}_n, \mathrm{d}v_\alpha)$.
- (c) The parameters satisfy $-p\operatorname{Re} a < \alpha + 1 < p(\operatorname{Re} b + 1)$.

Proof. – See [36] or Theorem 2.10 of [71]. Once again, those proofs are given for real parameters, but the proof for the complex case is essentially the same. The only extra attention to pay is this: when $\lambda = u + iv$ is a complex constant, we have

$$(1 - \langle z, w \rangle)^{\lambda} = |1 - \langle z, w \rangle|^{\lambda} \exp(iu\theta - v\theta)$$

where θ is the argument of $1 - \langle z, w \rangle$, say $\theta \in [0, 2\pi)$. It follows that

$$\left| (1 - \langle z, w \rangle)^{\lambda} \right| = \left| 1 - \langle z, w \rangle \right|^{u} \exp(-v\theta).$$

Since v is a constant and $\theta \in [0, 2\pi)$, we see that

$$|(1 - \langle z, w \rangle)^{\lambda}| \sim |1 - \langle z, w \rangle|^{u} = |1 - \langle z, w \rangle|^{\operatorname{Re} \lambda}.$$

Note that certain special cases of the above proposition can be found in Forelli-Rudin [25] and Rudin [47].

PROPOSITION 9. – Suppose $\operatorname{Re} \alpha > -1$. Then there exists a constant c_{α} such that

$$f(z) = c_{\alpha} \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{f(w)(1-|w|^2)^{\alpha} \mathrm{d}v(w)}{(1-\langle z, w \rangle)^{n+1+\alpha}}, \quad z \in \mathbb{B}_n,$$

where f is any holomorphic function in \mathbb{B}_n such that

$$\int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \left| f(z) \right| \left(1 - |z|^2 \right)^{\alpha} \mathrm{d}v(z) < \infty.$$

Proof. – See Theorem 7.1.4 of Rudin [47] or Theorem 2.2 of Zhu [71].

CHAPTER 4

ISOMORPHISM OF BERGMAN SPACES

Our first main result shows that for fixed p, the spaces A^p_{α} are all isomorphic. A word of caution is necessary here: while the isomorphism among A^p_{α} reduces the topological structure of A^p_{α} to that of the ordinary Bergman space A^p , it does not help too much when the properties of individual functions are concerned. This is clear in the Hilbert space case: the Hardy space H^2 , the Bergman space A^2 , and the Dirichlet space B_2 are all isomorphic as Hilbert spaces, but their respective function theories behave much differently from one to another.

There is a good amount of overlap between the material in this and the next chapter with the results in Beatrous-Burbea [10], [11], Kaptanoglu [34], and Peloso [44]. We present independent proofs here in order to achieve a complete and coherent theory. As was mentioned in the introduction, the spaces B_q^p in Kaptanoglu [34] and our spaces A_{α}^p are actually the same (with the identification of α and q), while the family of spaces A_q^p in Beatrous-Burbea [11] covers ordinary Bergman spaces (our A_{α}^p with $\alpha > -1$) and Hardy spaces H^p .

THEOREM 10. – Suppose p > 0 and α is real. If s is a complex parameter such that neither n + s nor $n + s + (\alpha/p)$ is a negative integer, then a holomorphic function f in \mathbb{B}_n is in A^p_{α} if and only if $R_{s,\alpha/p}f$ is in A^p . Equivalently, $R_{s,\alpha/p}$ is an invertible operator from A^p_{α} onto A^p .

Proof. – Recall that a holomorphic function f in \mathbb{B}_n is in A^p_{α} if and only if there exists a nonnegative integer k with $pk + \alpha > -1$ such that the function $(1 - |z|^2)^k R^k f(z)$ is in $L^p(\mathbb{B}_n, dv_{\alpha})$. Obviously, this is equivalent to the condition that

(2)
$$R^k f \in L^p(\mathbb{B}_n, \mathrm{d}v_{pk+\alpha}).$$

By Theorem 2.16 of [71], the condition that $R_{s,\alpha/p}f \in A^p$ is equivalent to

$$(1-|z|^2)^k R^k R_{s,\alpha/p} f(z) \in L^p(\mathbb{B}_n, \mathrm{d}v).$$

Since \mathbb{R}^k commutes with $\mathbb{R}_{s,\alpha/p}$, the above condition is equivalent to

$$R_{s,\alpha/p}R^k f \in L^p(\mathbb{B}_n, \mathrm{d}v_{pk}).$$

If $\alpha > 0$, then by Theorem 2.19 of [71], the above condition is equivalent to

$$(1-|z|^2)^{\alpha/p}R^{s,\alpha/p}R_{s,\alpha/p}R^kf \in L^p(\mathbb{B}_n, \mathrm{d}v_{pk}).$$

Since $R^{s,\alpha/p}$ is the inverse of $R_{s,\alpha/p}$, the above condition is equivalent to

$$\left(1-|z|^2\right)^{\alpha/p} R^k f \in L^p(\mathbb{B}_n, \mathrm{d}v_{pk}),$$

which is the same as (2). This proves the theorem for $\alpha > 0$.

If $\alpha = 0$, the operator $R_{s,\alpha/p}$ becomes the identity operator, and the desired result is trivial.

If $\alpha < 0$, then by Lemma 1, we have $R_{s,\alpha/p}f \in A^p$ if and only if $R^{s+\alpha/p,-\alpha/p}f \in A^p$, which, according to Theorem 2.16 of [71], is equivalent to

$$(1-|z|^2)^k R^k R^{s+\alpha/p,-\alpha/p} f \in L^p(\mathbb{B}_n, \mathrm{d}v).$$

Since R^k commutes with $R^{s+\alpha/p,-\alpha/p}$, the above condition is equivalent to $R^{s+\alpha/p,-\alpha/p}R^k f \in L^p(\mathbb{B}_n, \mathrm{d}v_{pk})$, or

$$(1-|z|^2)^{-\alpha/p}R^{s+\alpha/p,-\alpha/p}R^kf \in L^p(\mathbb{B}_n, \mathrm{d}v_{pk+\alpha}).$$

Since $\alpha < 0$, it follows from Theorem 2.19 of [71] that the above condition is equivalent to (2). This proves the desired result for $\alpha < 0$ and completes the proof of the theorem.

As a consequence, we obtain the following result which shows that the definition of A^p_{α} is actually independent of the integer k used. This is of course a phenomenon that has been well known to experts in the field.

COROLLARY 11. – Suppose p > 0 and α is real. Then the following conditions are equivalent for holomorphic functions f in \mathbb{B}_n :

- (a) $f \in A^p_{\alpha}$, that is, for some positive integer k with $kp + \alpha > -1$ the function $(1 |z|^2)^k R^k f(z)$ is in $L^p(\mathbb{B}_n, \mathrm{d}v_{\alpha})$.
- (b) For every positive integer k with $kp + \alpha > -1$ the function $(1 |z|^2)^k R^k f(z)$ is in $L^p(\mathbb{B}_n, \mathrm{d}v_\alpha)$.

Proof. – This follows from the proof of Theorem 10. This also follows from the equivalence of (a) and (d) in Theorem 2.16 of [71]. \Box

Since the polynomials are dense in A^p , and since the operators $R^{s,t}$ and $R_{s,t}$ map the set of polynomials onto the set of polynomials, we conclude from Theorem 10 that the polynomials are dense in each space A^p_{α} .

The following result is a generalization of Theorem 10.

THEOREM 12. – Suppose α is real, β is real, and p > 0. Let $t = (\alpha - \beta)/p$ and let s be a complex parameter such that neither n + s nor n + s + t is a negative integer. Then the operator $R_{s,t}$ maps A^p_{α} boundedly onto A^p_{β} .

Proof. – We can approximate s by a sequence $\{s_k\}$ of complex numbers such that each of the operators $R_{s_k,t}$, $R^{s_k+t,\beta/p}$, and $R_{s_k,\alpha/p}$ is well defined. According to Lemmas 1 and 2, we have

$$R_{s_k,t} = R^{s_k + t,\beta/p} R_{s_k,\alpha/p}$$

Since $R^{s_k+t,\beta/p}$ is the inverse of $R_{s_k+t,\beta/p}$, it follows from Theorem 10 that each $R_{s_k,t}$ maps A^p_{α} boundedly onto A^p_{β} . Since $R_{s,t}$ is well defined, an easy limit argument then shows that $R_{s,t}$ maps A^p_{α} boundedly onto A^p_{β} .

For any positive p and real α we let N be the smallest nonnegative integer such that $pN + \alpha > -1$ and define

(3)
$$||f||_{p,\alpha} = |f(0)| + \left[\int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \left(1 - |z|^2\right)^{pN} |R^N f(z)|^p \mathrm{d}v_{\alpha}(z)\right]^{1/p}$$

for $f \in A^p_{\alpha}$. Then A^p_{α} becomes a Banach space when $p \ge 1$. For $0 the space <math>A^p_{\alpha}$ is a topological vector space with a complete metric

(4)
$$d(f,g) = \|f - g\|_{p,\alpha}^p$$

The metric d is invariant in the sense that

$$d(f,g) = d(f-g,0).$$

In particular, A^p_{α} is an *F*-space. One of the properties of an *F*-space that we will use later is that the closed graph theorem is valid for it.

CHAPTER 5

SEVERAL CHARACTERIZATIONS OF A^p_{α}

In this chapter we obtain various characterizations of A^p_{α} in terms of fractional differential operators and in terms of higher order derivatives.

THEOREM 13. – Suppose p > 0 and α is real. Then the following conditions are equivalent for holomorphic functions f in \mathbb{B}_n .

- (a) $f \in A^p_{\alpha}$.
- (b) For some nonnegative integer k with $kp + \alpha > -1$ the functions

$$(1-|z|^2)^{|m|}\partial^m f(z),$$

where |m| = k, all belong to $L^p(\mathbb{B}_n, \mathrm{d}v_\alpha)$.

(c) For every nonnegative integer k with $kp + \alpha > -1$ the functions

$$\left(1-|z|^2\right)^{|m|}\partial^m f(z)$$

where |m| = k, all belong to $L^p(\mathbb{B}_n, \mathrm{d}v_\alpha)$.

Proof. – Fix a nonnegative integer k with $pk + \alpha > -1$ and assume that

$$(1-|z|^2)^k \partial^m f(z) \in L^p(\mathbb{B}_n, \mathrm{d}v_\alpha)$$

for all |m| = k, then

$$(1-|z|^2)^k \partial^m f(z) \in L^p(\mathbb{B}_n, \mathrm{d}v_\alpha)$$

for all $|m| \leq k$; see Theorem 2.17 of [71]. Since \mathbb{R}^k is a linear partial differential operator on $H(\mathbb{B}_n)$ with polynomial coefficients (see Lemma 6), we have

$$\left(1-|z|^2\right)^k R^k f(z) \in L^p(\mathbb{B}_n, \mathrm{d} v_\alpha),$$

or $f \in A^p_{\alpha}$. This proves that condition (b) implies (a). That condition (c) implies (b) is obvious.

Next assume that $f \in A^p_{\alpha}$. Then by Theorem 10, the function $g = R_{\beta,\alpha/p}f$ is in A^p , where β is a sufficiently large (to be specified later) positive number. By Proposition 9, we have

$$R_{\beta,\alpha/p}f(z) = \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{g(w) \mathrm{d}v_\beta(w)}{(1 - \langle z, w \rangle)^{n+1+\beta}}$$

Apply $R^{\beta,\alpha/p}$ to both sides and use Proposition 3. We obtain

(5)
$$f(z) = \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{g(w) \mathrm{d}v_\beta(w)}{(1 - \langle z, w \rangle)^{n+1+\beta+\alpha/p}}$$

If $p \ge 1$ and k is any nonnegative integer such that $pk + \alpha > -1$, then we choose β large enough so that

(6)
$$-pk < \alpha + 1 < p\left(\beta + \frac{\alpha}{p}\right)$$

Rewrite the reproducing formula (5) as

$$f(z) = \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{(1 - |w|^2)^{\beta + \alpha/p} h(w) \mathrm{d}v(w)}{(1 - \langle z, w \rangle)^{n + 1 + \beta + \alpha/p}},$$

where

$$h(z) = (1 - |z|^2)^{-\alpha/p} g(z).$$

Differentiating under the integral sign, we obtain a positive constant C (depending on the parameters but not on f and z) such that

$$(1-|z|^2)^k \left| \partial^m f(z) \right| \le C (1-|z|^2)^k \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{(1-|w|^2)^{\beta+\alpha/p} |h(w)| \mathrm{d}v(w)}{|1-\langle z,w \rangle|^{n+k+1+\beta+\alpha/p}}$$

where |m| = k. Since $h \in L^p(\mathbb{B}_n, \mathrm{d}v_\alpha)$, it follows from (6) and Proposition 8 that the functions $(1 - |z|^2)^k \partial^m f(z)$, where |m| = k, all belong to $L^p(\mathbb{B}_n, \mathrm{d}v_\alpha)$.

The case 0 calls for a different proof. In this case, we differentiate underthe integral sign in (5) and obtain a constant <math>C > 0 (depending on the parameters but not on f and z) such that

$$(1-|z|^2)^k |\partial^m f(z)| \le C (1-|z|^2)^k \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{|g(w)|(1-|w|^2)^\beta dv(w)}{|1-\langle z,w\rangle|^{n+k+1+\beta+\alpha/p}},$$

where |m| = k. We write

$$\beta = \frac{n+1+\beta'}{p} - (n+1)$$

and assume that β is large enough so that $\beta' > 0$. Then we can apply Lemma 2.15 of [71] to show that the integral

$$\int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{|g(w)|(1-|w|^2)^{\beta} \mathrm{d}v(w)}{|1-\langle z,w\rangle|^{n+k+1+\beta+\alpha/p}}$$

is less than or equal to a positive constant times

$$\left[\int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \left|\frac{g(w)}{(1-\langle z,w\rangle)^{n+k+1+\beta+\alpha/p}}\right|^p (1-|w|^2)^{\beta'} \mathrm{d}v(w)\right]^{1/p}.$$

It follows that there exists a positive constant C' such that

$$(1-|z|^2)^{kp} |\partial^m f(z)|^p \le C' (1-|z|^2)^{kp} \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{|g(w)|^p (1-|w|^2)^{\beta'} \mathrm{d}v(w)}{|1-\langle z,w\rangle|^{p(n+k+1+\beta)+\alpha}},$$

where |m| = k. Integrate both sides against the measure dv_{α} and apply Fubini's theorem. We see that the integral

$$\int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \left(1 - |z|^2 \right)^{kp} \left| \partial^m f(z) \right|^p \mathrm{d}v_\alpha(z)$$

is less than or equal to C' times

$$\int_{\mathbb{B}_{n}} |g(w)|^{p} (1-|w|^{2})^{\beta'} \mathrm{d}v(w) \int_{\mathbb{B}_{n}} \frac{(1-|z|^{2})^{kp+\alpha} \mathrm{d}v(z)}{|1-\langle z,w\rangle|^{p(n+k+1+\beta)+\alpha}} \cdot$$

Estimating the inner integral above according to Proposition 7, we find another constant C'' > 0 such that

$$\int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \left(1 - |z|^2\right)^{kp} \left|\partial^m f(z)\right|^p \mathrm{d}v_\alpha(z) \le C'' \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \left|g(w)\right|^p \mathrm{d}v(w)$$

for all |m| = k. This proves that (a) implies (c), and completes the proof of the theorem.

Note that several special cases of the above theorem are well known. See Beatrous-Burbea [11] or Pavlovic [42] for example. In fact, any nontangential partial differential operator of order k with C^{∞} coefficients may be used in place of R^k ; see Peloso [44]. The proof above uses several techniques developed in Zhu [71].

THEOREM 14. – Suppose p > 0, α is real, and f is holomorphic in \mathbb{B}_n . Then the following conditions are equivalent:

- (a) $f \in A^p_{\alpha}$.
- (b) There exists some real t with $pt + \alpha > -1$ such that the function

$$\left(1-|z|^2\right)^t R^{s,t} f(z)$$

is in $L^p(\mathbb{B}_n, \mathrm{d}v_\alpha)$, where s is any real parameter such that neither n + s nor n + s + t is a negative integer.

(c) For every real t with $pt + \alpha > -1$ the function

$$\left(1-|z|^2\right)^t R^{s,t}f(z)$$

is in $L^p(\mathbb{B}_n, \mathrm{d}v_\alpha)$, where s is any real parameter such that neither n + s nor n + s + t is a negative integer.

Proof. – It is obvious that condition (c) implies (b). To show that condition (b) implies (a), we fix a sufficiently large positive number β and apply Proposition 9 to write

$$R^{s,t}f(z) = c_{t+\beta} \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{R^{s,t}f(w)(1-|w|^2)^{t+\beta} dv(w)}{(1-\langle z, w \rangle)^{n+1+t+\beta}}$$

where $c_{t+\beta}$ is a positive constant such that $c_{t+\beta} dv_{\beta}$ is a probability measure on \mathbb{B}_n . Apply \mathbb{R}^k to both sides, where k is a nonnegative integer such that $kp + \alpha > -1$. Then there exists a polynomial h of degree k such that

$$R^k R^{s,t} f(z) = \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{h(\langle z, w \rangle) R^{s,t} f(w) \mathrm{d} v_{t+\beta}(w)}{(1 - \langle z, w \rangle)^{n+1+k+t+\beta}} \cdot$$

If β is chosen so that $\beta - s$ is a sufficiently large positive integer, we first write

$$h(\langle z, w \rangle) = \sum_{j=0}^{k} c_j (1 - \langle z, w \rangle)^j,$$

then apply the operator $R_{s,t}$ to every term according to the second part of Proposition 5, and then combine the various terms. The result is that

$$R_{s,t}R^k R^{s,t}f(z) = \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{g(z,w)R^{s,t}f(w)\mathrm{d}v_{t+\beta}(w)}{(1-\langle z,w\rangle)^{n+1+k+\beta}},$$

where g is a polynomial. Since the operators $R_{s,t}$, R^k , and $R^{s,t}$ commute with each other, and since $R_{s,t}$ is the inverse of $R^{s,t}$, we obtain a constant C > 0 such that

$$(1-|z|^2)^k |R^k f(z)| \le C (1-|z|^2)^k \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{(1-|w|^2)^t |R^{s,t} f(w)| dv_\beta(w)}{|1-\langle z,w\rangle|^{n+1+k+\beta}}.$$

We then follow the same arguments as in the proof of Theorem 13 to show that the condition

$$\left(1-|z|^2\right)^t \left| R^{s,t} f(z) \right| \in L^p(\mathbb{B}_n, \mathrm{d}v_\alpha)$$

implies

$$\left(1-|z|^2\right)^k R^k f(z) \in L^p(\mathbb{B}_n, \mathrm{d} v_\alpha).$$

This proves that condition (b) implies (a).

To show that condition (a) implies (c), we fix a function $f \in A^p_{\alpha}$ and choose a sufficiently large positive number β such that the function $g = R_{\beta,\alpha/p}f$ is in A^p . We then follow the same arguments as in the proof of Theorem 13 to finish the proof. The only adjustment to make here is this: instead of differentiating under the integral sign, we apply the operator $R^{s,t}$ inside the integral sign and take advantage of Proposition 5 (assuming that β is chosen so that $\beta - s$ is a positive integer). We leave the details to the interested reader.

CHAPTER 6

HOLOMORPHIC LIPSCHITZ SPACES

The classical Lipschitz space Λ_{α} , $0 < \alpha < 1$, consists of holomorphic functions fin \mathbb{B}_n such that

$$|f(z) - f(w)| \le C|z - w|^{\alpha}, \quad z, w \in \mathbb{B}_n,$$

where C is a positive constant depending on f. It is well known that a holomorphic function f is in Λ_{α} if and only if there exists a positive constant C such that

$$(1-|z|^2)^{1-\alpha} |Rf(z)| \le C, \quad z \in \mathbb{B}_n.$$

See Rudin [47] and Zhu [71].

In this chapter we extend the theory of Lipschitz spaces Λ_{α} to the full range $-\infty < \alpha < \infty$. More specifically, for any real number α we let Λ_{α} denote the space of holomorphic functions f in \mathbb{B}_n such that for some nonnegative integer $k > \alpha$ the function $(1 - |z|^2)^{k-\alpha} R^k f(z)$ is bounded in \mathbb{B}_n . We first prove that the definition of Λ_{α} is independent of the integer k used.

LEMMA 15. – Suppose f is holomorphic in \mathbb{B}_n . Then the following conditions are equivalent:

(a) There exists some nonnegative integer $k > \alpha$ such that the function

$$\left(1-|z|^2\right)^{k-\alpha}R^kf(z)$$

is bounded in \mathbb{B}_n .

(b) For every nonnegative integer $k > \alpha$ the function

$$\left(1-|z|^2\right)^{k-\alpha}R^kf(z)$$

is bounded in \mathbb{B}_n .

Proof. – Suppose k is a nonnegative integer with $k > \alpha$. Let N = k + 1.

If the function $(1-|z|^2)^{N-\alpha}R^N f(z)$ is bounded in \mathbb{B}_n , then an elementary integral estimate based on the identity

$$R^{k}f(z) - R^{k}f(0) = \int_{0}^{1} \frac{R^{N}f(tz)}{t} dt$$

shows that the function $(1-|z|^2)^{k-\alpha}R^kf(z)$ is bounded in \mathbb{B}_n .

Conversely, if the function $(1 - |z|^2)^{k-\alpha} R^k f(z)$ is bounded, then there exists a constant c > 0 such that

$$R^k f(z) = c \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{(1 - |w|^2)^{k - \alpha} R^k f(w) \mathrm{d}v(w)}{(1 - \langle z, w \rangle)^{n + 1 + k - \alpha}};$$

see Proposition 9. Taking the radial derivative on both sides, we get

$$R^N f(z) = C \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{\langle z, w \rangle (1 - |w|^2)^{k - \alpha} R^k f(w) \mathrm{d}v(w)}{(1 - \langle z, w \rangle)^{n + 1 + N - \alpha}},$$

where $C = c(n+1+k-\alpha)$. This combined with Proposition 7 shows that the function $(1-|z|^2)^{N-\alpha}R^Nf(z)$ is bounded in \mathbb{B}_n .

Therefore, the function $(1 - |z|^2)^{k-\alpha} R^k f(z)$ is bounded if and only if the function $(1 - |z|^2)^{k+1-\alpha} R^{k+1} f(z)$ is bounded, where k is any nonnegative integer satisfying $k > \alpha$. This clearly proves the desired result.

The above lemma is most likely known to experts in the field, although we could not find a precise reference. In the case $\alpha > 0$, the above result as well as everything else in this chapter can be found in Zhu [71].

In what follows we let k be the smallest nonnegative integer greater than α and define a norm on Λ_{α} by

$$||f||_{\alpha} = |f(0)| + \sup_{z \in \mathbb{B}_n} (1 - |z|^2)^{k-\alpha} |R^k f(z)|.$$

It is then easy to check that Λ_{α} becomes a nonseparable Banach space when equipped with this norm.

We write $\mathscr{B} = \Lambda_0$. This is called the Bloch space. It is clear that $f \in \mathscr{B}$ if and only if

$$\sup_{z\in\mathbb{B}_n} \left(1-|z|^2\right) \left| Rf(z) \right| < \infty.$$

See [71] for more information about \mathcal{B} . Our next result shows that all the spaces Λ_{α} are isomorphic to the Bloch space.

THEOREM 16. – Suppose s is complex and α is real such that neither n+s nor $n+s+\alpha$ is a negative integer. Then the operator $R^{s,\alpha}$ maps Λ_{α} onto \mathcal{B} .

Proof. – Suppose f is holomorphic in \mathbb{B}_n . Then $R^{s,\alpha}f$ is in the Bloch space if and only if the function $(1 - |z|^2)^k R^k R^{s,\alpha} f(z)$ is bounded in \mathbb{B}_n , where k is any positive integer. See Lemma 15 above.

If $f \in \Lambda_{\alpha}$, then the function

$$g(z) = (1 - |z|^2)^{k-\alpha} R^k f(z)$$

is bounded in \mathbb{B}_n , where k is any positive integer greater than α . Let N be a sufficiently large positive integer such that the number β defined by

$$k - \alpha + \beta = s + N$$

has real part greater than -1. Then we use Proposition 9 to write

$$R^{k}f(z) = c \int_{\mathbb{B}_{n}} \frac{g(w) \mathrm{d}v_{\beta}(w)}{(1 - \langle z, w \rangle)^{n+1+k-\alpha+\beta}} \cdot$$

Applying Proposition 5, we obtain a polynomial h such that

$$R^{s,\alpha}R^kf(z) = \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{g(w)h(\langle z,w\rangle) dv_\beta(w)}{(1-\langle z,w\rangle)^{n+1+k+\beta}} \cdot$$

By Proposition 7, the function

$$(1 - |z|^2)^k R^{s,\alpha} R^k f(z) = (1 - |z|^2)^k R^k R^{s,\alpha} f(z)$$

is bounded in \mathbb{B}_n , so $R^{s,\alpha}f$ is in the Bloch space.

On the other hand, if $R^{s,\alpha}f$ is in the Bloch space, then by Lemma 1, the function $R_{s+\alpha,-\alpha}f$ is in the Bloch space. We fix a sufficiently large positive integer N such that $\beta = N + s + \alpha$ has real part greater than -1. By part (d) of Theorem 3.4 in [71] (the result there was stated and proved for real β , it is clear that the complex case holds as well), there exists a function $g \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{B}_n)$ such that

$$R_{s+\alpha,-\alpha}f(z) = \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{g(w) \mathrm{d}v_\beta(w)}{(1-\langle z,w\rangle)^{n+1+\beta}}$$

We apply the operator $R^{s+\alpha,-\alpha}$ to both sides and use Proposition 5 to obtain

$$f(z) = \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{p(\langle z, w \rangle) g(w) \mathrm{d} v_\beta(w)}{(1 - \langle z, w \rangle)^{n+1+\beta-\alpha}},$$

where p is a polynomial. An easy computation then shows that

$$R^k f(z) = \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{q(\langle z, w \rangle) g(w) \mathrm{d} v_\beta(w)}{(1 - \langle z, w \rangle)^{n+1+\beta+k-\alpha}},$$

where k is any positive integer greater than α and q is another polynomial. By Proposition 7, the function $(1 - |z|^2)^{k-\alpha} R^k f(z)$ is bounded in \mathbb{B}_n , namely, $f \in \Lambda_{\alpha}$. This completes the proof of the theorem.

More generally, if s is any complex number such that neither n+s nor $n+s+\alpha-\beta$ is a negative integer, then the operator $R^{s,\alpha-\beta}$ is a bounded invertible operator from Λ_{α} onto Λ_{β} . See the proof of Theorem 12.

THEOREM 17. – Suppose f is holomorphic in \mathbb{B}_n and α is real. If $\operatorname{Re} \beta > -1$ and $n + \beta - \alpha$ is not a negative integer, then $f \in \Lambda_{\alpha}$ if and only if there exists a function $g \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{B}_n)$ such that, for $z \in \mathbb{B}_n$,

(7)
$$f(z) = \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{g(w) \mathrm{d}v_\beta(w)}{(1 - \langle z, w \rangle)^{n+1+\beta-\alpha}}$$

Proof. – If f admits the integral representation (7), then for any nonnegative integer $k > \alpha$ we have

$$R^k f(z) = \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{p(\langle z, w \rangle) g(w) \mathrm{d} v_\beta(w)}{(1 - \langle z, w \rangle)^{n+1+\beta+k-\alpha}},$$

where p(z) is a certain polynomial of degree k. An application of Proposition 7 shows that the function $(1 - |z|^2)^{k-\alpha} R^k f(z)$ is bounded in \mathbb{B}_n .

On the other hand, if $f \in \Lambda_{\alpha}$, then by Theorem 16, the function $R^{\beta-\alpha,\alpha}f$ is in the Bloch space. According to the classical integral representation of functions in the Bloch space (see Choe [18] or part (d) of Theorem 3.4 in Zhu's book [71]), there exists a function $g \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{B}_n)$ such that

$$R^{\beta-\alpha,\alpha}f(z) = \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{g(w) \mathrm{d} v_\beta(w)}{(1-\langle z,w\rangle)^{n+1+(\beta-\alpha)+\alpha}} \cdot$$

Applying the operator $R_{\beta-\alpha,\alpha}$ to both sides and using Proposition 3, we conclude that

$$f(z) = \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{g(w) \mathrm{d} v_\beta(w)}{(1-\langle z,w\rangle)^{n+1+\beta-\alpha}}$$

This completes the proof of the theorem.

Since the proof of Theorem 3.4 in Zhu [71] is constructive, it follows that there exists a bounded linear operator

$$L: \Lambda_{\alpha} \longrightarrow L^{\infty}(\mathbb{B}_n)$$

such that the integral representation in (7) can be given by choosing g = L(f).

THEOREM 18. – Suppose α is real and k is a nonnegative integer greater than α . Then a holomorphic function f in \mathbb{B}_n belongs to Λ_{α} if and only if the functions

$$(1-|z|^2)^{k-\alpha}\partial^m f(z), \quad |m|=k,$$

are all bounded in \mathbb{B}_n .

MÉMOIRES DE LA SMF 115

Proof. – If $f \in \Lambda_{\alpha}$, we apply Theorem 17 to represent f in the form

$$f(z) = \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{g(w) \mathrm{d}v_\beta(w)}{(1 - \langle z, w \rangle)^{n+1+\beta-\alpha}},$$

where $g \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{B}_n)$, $\beta > -1$, and $n + \beta - \alpha$ is not a negative integer. Differentiate under the integral sign and apply Proposition 7. We see that the functions $(1 - |z|^2)^{k-\alpha} \partial^m f(z)$, where |m| = k, are all bounded in \mathbb{B}_n .

Conversely, if the function $(1-|z|^2)^{k-\alpha}\partial^m f(z)$ is bounded in \mathbb{B}_n for every |m| = k, then it is easy to see that the function $(1-|z|^2)^{k-\alpha}\partial^m f(z)$ is bounded in \mathbb{B}_n for every $|m| \leq k$. Since \mathbb{R}^k is a *k*th order linear partial differential operator on $H(\mathbb{B}_n)$ with polynomial coefficients (see Lemma 6), we see that the function $(1-|z|^2)^{k-\alpha}\mathbb{R}^k f(z)$ is bounded in \mathbb{B}_n , namely, $f \in \Lambda_{\alpha}$.

Various special cases (such as the Bloch space and the case $\alpha \in (0, 1)$) of the above theorem, as well as the next theorem, have been well known. See Aleksandrov [2], Choe [18], Nowark [40], Ouyang-Yang-Zhao [41], Pavlovic [42], Peloso [44], and Zhu [71] for related results.

THEOREM 19. – Suppose α and t are real with $t > \alpha$. If s is a complex parameter such that neither n+s nor n+s+t is a negative integer, then a holomorphic function f in \mathbb{B}_n belongs to Λ_{α} if and only if the function $(1-|z|^2)^{t-\alpha}R^{s,t}f(z)$ is bounded in \mathbb{B}_n .

Proof. – First assume that the function

$$g(z) = (1 - |z|^2)^{t-\alpha} R^{s,t} f(z)$$

is bounded in \mathbb{B}_n . By Proposition 9, there exists a positive constant c such that

$$R^{s,t}f(z) = c \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{g(w) \mathrm{d}v_\beta(w)}{(1 - \langle z, w \rangle)^{n+1+t+\beta-\alpha}},$$

where β is a sufficiently large positive number with $\beta - \alpha = s + N$ for some positive integer N. If k is a nonnegative integer greater than α , it is easy to see that there exists a polynomial p of degree k such that

(8)
$$R^k R^{s,t} f(z) = \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{p(\langle z, w \rangle) g(w) \mathrm{d}v_\beta(w)}{(1 - \langle z, w \rangle)^{n+1+k+t+\beta-\alpha}}$$

We decompose

$$p(\langle z, w \rangle) = \sum_{j=0}^{k} c_j (1 - \langle z, w \rangle)^j,$$

apply the operator $R_{s,t}$ to both sides of (8), use Proposition 5, and combine the terms. The result is that

$$R_{s,t}R^k R^{s,t}f(z) = \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{h(z,w)g(w)dv_\beta(w)}{(1-\langle z,w\rangle)^{n+1+k+\beta-\alpha}},$$

where h is a certain polynomial. Since all radial differential operators commute, we have

$$R_{s,t}R^kR^{s,t} = R^k$$

This together with Proposition 7 shows that

$$|R^k f(z)| \le \frac{C}{(1-|z|^2)^{k-\alpha}}$$

for some constant C > 0, that is, $f \in \Lambda_{\alpha}$.

Next assume that $f \in \Lambda_{\alpha}$. Let N be a sufficiently large positive integer and write $\beta - \alpha = s + N$. By Theorem 17, there exists a function $g \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{B}_n)$ such that

$$f(z) = \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{g(w) \mathrm{d} v_{\beta}(w)}{(1 - \langle z, w \rangle)^{n+1+\beta-\alpha}} \cdot$$

According to Proposition 5, there exists a polynomial h such that

$$R^{s,t}f(z) = \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{h(z,w)g(w)dv_\beta(w)}{(1-\langle z,w\rangle)^{n+1+\beta-\alpha+t}} \cdot$$

An application of Proposition 7 then shows that

$$|R^{s,t}f(z)| \le \frac{C}{(1-|z|^2)^{t-\alpha}}$$

for some constant C > 0, that is, the function $(1 - |z|^2)^{t-\alpha} R^{s,t} f(z)$ is bounded in \mathbb{B}_n .

All results in this chapter so far are in terms of a certain function being bounded in \mathbb{B}_n . We mention that these results remain true when the big of conditions are replaced by the corresponding little of conditions. More specifically, for each real number α , we let $\Lambda_{\alpha,0}$ denote the space of holomorphic functions f in \mathbb{B}_n such that there exists a nonnegative integer $k > \alpha$ such that the function $(1 - |z|^2)^{k-\alpha} R^k f(z)$ is in $\mathbb{C}_0(\mathbb{B}_n)$. Here $\mathbb{C}_0(\mathbb{B}_n)$ denotes the space of continuous functions f in \mathbb{B}_n with the property that

$$\lim_{|z| \to 1^-} f(z) = 0$$

It can be shown that the definition of $\Lambda_{\alpha,0}$ is independent of the integer k used. The special case $\Lambda_{0,0}$ is denoted by \mathcal{B}_0 and is called the little Bloch space of \mathbb{B}_n . Clearly, $f \in \mathcal{B}_0$ if and only if

$$\lim_{|z| \to 1^{-}} \left(1 - |z|^2 \right) Rf(z) = 0.$$

An alternative description of $\Lambda_{\alpha,0}$ is that it is the closure of the set of polynomials in Λ_{α} , or the closure in Λ_{α} of the set of functions holomorphic on the closed unit ball.

It is then clear how to state and prove the little of analogues of all results of this chapter. It is also well known that when dealing with the little of type results of this chapter, the space $\mathbb{C}_0(\mathbb{B}_n)$ can be replaced by $\mathbb{C}(\overline{\mathbb{B}}_n)$, the space of functions that are continuous on the closed unit ball. We leave out the routine details.

POINTWISE ESTIMATES

We often need to know how fast a function in A^p_{α} grows near the boundary. Using results from the previous chapter, we obtain optimal pointwise estimates for functions in A^p_{α} .

THEOREM 20. – Suppose p > 0 and $n+1+\alpha > 0$. Then there exists a constant C > 0(depending on p and α) such that, for all $f \in A^p_{\alpha}$ and $z \in \mathbb{B}_n$,

$$|f(z)| \le \frac{C ||f||_{p,\alpha}}{(1-|z|^2)^{(n+\alpha+1)/p}}.$$

Proof. – Suppose $f \in A^p_{\alpha}$. Then $R^N f \in A^p_{pN+\alpha}$, where $pN+\alpha > -1$. By Theorem 2.1 of [71],

$$(1-|z|^2)^{(n+1+pN+\alpha)/p} |R^N f(z)| \le C ||f||_{p,\alpha}$$

for some positive constant C (depending only on α). Since

$$\frac{n+1+pN+\alpha}{p} = N + \frac{n+1+\alpha}{p}$$

it follows from Lemma 15 that there exists a constant C' > 0 (depending on p and α) such that, for all $z \in \mathbb{B}_n$.

$$\left(1-|z|^2\right)^{(n+1+\alpha)/p}\left|f(z)\right| \le C' \|f\|_{p,\alpha} \qquad \Box$$

In the case $\alpha > -1$ the above theorem can be found in numerous papers in the literature, including Beatrous-Burbea [11] and Vukotić [60].

It is not hard to see that the estimate given in Theorem 20 above is optimal, namely, the exponent $(n + \alpha + 1)/p$ cannot be improved. However, using polynomial approximations, we can show that

$$\lim_{|z| \to 1^{-}} \left(1 - |z|^2 \right)^{(n+\alpha+1)/p} f(z) = 0$$

whenever $f \in A^p_{\alpha}$ with $n + 1 + \alpha > 0$. Also, if $\alpha > -1$, then the constant C can be taken to be 1; see Theorem 2.1 in [71].

THEOREM 21. – Suppose p > 0 and $n + 1 + \alpha < 0$. Then every function in A^p_{α} is continuous on the closed unit ball and so is bounded in \mathbb{B}_n .

Proof. – Given $f \in A^p_{\alpha}$, Theorem 10 tells us that we can find a function $g \in A^p$ such that $f = R^{s,\alpha/p}g$, where s is any real parameter such that neither n + s nor $n + s + (\alpha/p)$ is a negative integer. By Theorem 20 and the remark following it, the function $(1 - |z|^2)^{(n+1)/p}g(z)$ is in $\mathbb{C}_0(\mathbb{B}_n)$, which, according to the little ob version of Lemma 15, is the same as $g \in \Lambda_{-(n+1)/p,0}$. Let β be a sufficiently large positive number such that

$$\beta + \frac{n+1}{p} = s + N$$

for some positive integer N. We first apply the little of version of Theorem 17 to find a function $h \in \mathbb{C}_0(\mathbb{B}_n)$ such that

$$g(z) = \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{h(w) \mathrm{d} v_\beta(w)}{(1 - \langle z, w \rangle)^{n+1+\beta + (n+1)/p}}$$

We then apply the operator $R^{s,\alpha/p}$ to both sides and make use of Proposition 5. The result is

$$f(z) = \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{p(z, w)h(w) \mathrm{d}v_\beta(w)}{(1 - \langle z, w \rangle)^{n+1+\beta+(n+1+\alpha)/p}},$$

where p is a polynomial. By part (a) of Proposition 7, the integral above converges uniformly for $z \in \mathbb{B}_n$ and so the function f(z) is continuous on the closed unit ball. \Box

When $n + 1 + \alpha < 0$, functions in A^p_{α} are actually much better than just being continuous on the closed unit ball. For example, it follows from Theorems 12, 19, and 20 that every function in A^p_{α} , $n + 1 + \alpha < 0$, actually belongs to a Lipschitz space Λ_{β} for some $\beta > 0$. See Corollary 5.5 of Beatrous-Burbea [11] for a slightly different version of this observation.

Theorems 20 and 21 also follow from Lemmas 5.4 and 5.6 of Beatrous-Burbea [11]. However, as our next result shows, the estimates in [11] for the remaining case $\alpha = -(n+1)$ do not seem to be optimal.

THEOREM 22. – Suppose $n + 1 + \alpha = 0$ and $f \in A^p_{\alpha}$.

- (a) If 0 n</sub>.
- (b) If 1 n</sub>,

$$|f(z)| \le C \Big[\log \frac{2}{1 - |z|^2} \Big]^{1/q}.$$

Proof. – Note that $A_{-(n+1)}^p = B_p$, the diagonal Besov spaces on \mathbb{B}_n ; see Chapter 7 of [71]. If $0 , the Besov space <math>B_p$ is contained in B_1 (this is well known, and follows easily from Theorem 32 and the fact that $l^p \subset l^1$ for $0). Since <math>B_1$ is contained in the ball algebra (see Theorem 6.8 of [71] for example), we conclude that B_p is contained in the ball algebra whenever 0 .

If p > 1, we use Theorem 6.7 of [71] to find a function $g \in L^p(\mathbb{B}_n, d\tau)$ such that

$$f(z) = \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{g(w) \mathrm{d}v(w)}{(1 - \langle z, w \rangle)^{n+1}},$$

where

$$d\tau(z) = \frac{dv(z)}{(1 - |z|^2)^{n+1}}$$

is the Möbius invariant measure on \mathbb{B}_n . Rewrite the above integral representation as

$$f(z) = \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \left(\frac{1-|w|^2}{1-\langle z,w\rangle}\right)^{n+1} g(w) d\tau(w)$$

and apply Hölder's inequality. We obtain

$$|f(z)| \le \left[\int_{\mathbb{B}_n} |g(w)|^p \mathrm{d}\tau(w)\right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \left[\int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{(1-|w|^2)^{(n+1)(q-1)}}{|1-\langle z,w\rangle|^{(n+1)q}} \mathrm{d}v(w)\right]^{\frac{1}{q}}$$

An application of Proposition 7 to the last integral above yields the desired estimate for f(z).

DUALITY

A linear functional $F: A^p_\alpha \to \mathbb{C}$ is said to be bounded if there exists a positive constant C such that

(9)
$$\left|F(f)\right| \le C \|f\|_{p,c}$$

for all $f \in A^p_{\alpha}$. The dual space of A^p_{α} , denoted by $(A^p_{\alpha})^*$, is the vector space of all bounded linear functionals on A^p_{α} . For any bounded linear functional F on A^p_{α} we use ||F|| to denote the smallest constant C satisfying (9). It is then easy to check that $(A^p_{\alpha})^*$ becomes a Banach space with this norm, regardless of $p \ge 1$ or p < 1.

By results of the previous chapter, the point evaluation at any $z \in \mathbb{B}_n$ is a bounded linear functional on A^p_{α} . Therefore, $(A^p_{\alpha})^*$ is a nontrivial Banach space for all p > 0and all real α .

Results of this chapter for the case p > 1 are motivated by the well-known duality relation $(A^p)^* = A^q$ for ordinary Bergman spaces under the ordinary volume integral pairing. Results of this chapter in the case 0 are motivated by and are generalizations of various special cases obtained in the papers Duren-Romberg-Shields [24],Rochberg [46], Shapiro [51], and Zhu [68]. We also mention that this chapter in spiritoverlaps with Section 7 of Kaptanoglu [34].

THEOREM 23. – Suppose $1 , <math>\alpha$ is real, and β is real. If

$$\frac{1}{p} + \frac{1}{q} = 1,$$

and if s_1 and s_2 are complex parameters such that both $R_{s_1,\alpha/p}$ and $R_{s_2,\beta/q}$ are welldefined operators, then $(A^p_\alpha)^* = A^q_\beta$ (with equivalent norms) under the integral pairing

$$\langle f,g \rangle = \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} R_{s_1,\alpha/p} f \ \overline{R_{s_2,\beta/q}g} \, \mathrm{d}v,$$

where $f \in A^p_{\alpha}$ and $g \in A^q_{\beta}$.

Proof. – This follows from the identities

$$R^{s_1,\alpha/p}A^p = A^p_\alpha, \quad R^{s_2,\beta/q}A^q = A^q_\beta,$$

and the well-known duality $(A^p)^* = A^q$ under the integral pairing

$$\langle f,g
angle = \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} f\,\bar{g}\mathrm{d}v,$$

where $f \in A^p_{\alpha}$ and $g \in A^q_{\beta}$.

If $\alpha > -1$ and $\beta > -1$, then the integral pairing

$$\int_{\mathbb{B}_n} R_{s_1,\alpha/p} f \, \overline{R_{s_2,\beta/q}g} \mathrm{d} v$$

can be replaced by the integral pairing

$$\int_{\mathbb{B}_n} f \, \bar{g} \, \mathrm{d} v_{\gamma}, \quad f \in A^p_{\alpha}, g \in A^q_{\beta},$$

where

(10)
$$\gamma = \frac{\alpha}{p} + \frac{\beta}{q}.$$

See Theorem 2.12 of [71]. For arbitrary α and β , we can also use the integral pairing

$$\lim_{r \to 1^{-}} \int_{\mathbb{B}_{n}} R_{s,\gamma} f(rz) \, \overline{g(rz)} \mathrm{d}v(z), \quad f \in A^{p}_{\alpha}, \ g \in A^{q}_{\beta},$$

where γ is defined by (10) and s is any complex parameter such that the operator $R_{s,\gamma}$ is well defined.

More generally, if γ is given by (10) and if k is a sufficiently large positive integer, then the duality $(A^p_{\alpha})^* = A^q_{\beta}$ can be realized with the following integral pairing

$$\langle f,g\rangle_{\gamma} = f(0)\,\overline{g(0)} + \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \left(1 - |z|^2\right)^k R^k f(z)\,\overline{(1 - |z|^2)^k R^k g(z)} \,\mathrm{d}v_{\gamma}(z) + \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \left(1 - |z|^2\right)^k R^k g(z)\,\mathrm{d}v_{\gamma}(z) + \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \left(1 - |z|^2\right)^k R^k f(z)\,\overline{(1 - |z|^2)^k R^k g(z)} \,\mathrm{d}v_{\gamma}(z) + \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \left(1 - |z|^2\right)^k R^k f(z)\,\overline{(1 - |z|^2)^k R^k g(z)} \,\mathrm{d}v_{\gamma}(z) + \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \left(1 - |z|^2\right)^k R^k f(z)\,\overline{(1 - |z|^2)^k R^k g(z)} \,\mathrm{d}v_{\gamma}(z) + \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \left(1 - |z|^2\right)^k R^k f(z)\,\overline{(1 - |z|^2)^k R^k g(z)} \,\mathrm{d}v_{\gamma}(z) + \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \left(1 - |z|^2\right)^k R^k g(z)\,\mathrm{d}v_{\gamma}(z) + \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \left(1 - |z|^2\right)^k R^k f(z)\,\overline{(1 - |z|^2)^k R^k g(z)} \,\mathrm{d}v_{\gamma}(z) + \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \left(1 - |z|^2\right)^k R^k f(z)\,\overline{(1 - |z|^2)^k R^k g(z)} \,\mathrm{d}v_{\gamma}(z) + \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \left(1 - |z|^2\right)^k R^k f(z)\,\mathrm{d}v_{\gamma}(z) + \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \left(1 - |z|^2\right)^k R^k f(z)\,\mathrm{d}v_{\gamma}(z)\,\mathrm{d}v_{\gamma}(z) + \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \left(1 - |z|^2\right)^k R^k f(z)\,\mathrm{d}v_{\gamma}(z$$

where $f \in A^p_{\alpha}$ and $g \in A^q_{\beta}$. Many other different, but equivalent, integral pairings are possible.

THEOREM 24. – Suppose $0 , <math>\alpha$ is real, and β is real. If s_1 and s_2 are complex parameters such that the operators $R_{s_1,\alpha/p}$ and $R^{s_2,\beta}$ are well-defined, then $(A^p_{\alpha})^* = \Lambda_{\beta}$ under the integral pairing

$$\langle f,g \rangle = \lim_{r \to 1^-} \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} R_{s_1,\alpha/p} f(rz) \,\overline{R^{s_2,\beta}g(rz)} \,\mathrm{d}v_{\gamma}(z),$$

where $f \in A^p_{\alpha}$, $g \in \Lambda_{\beta}$, and $\gamma = (n+1)(1/p-1)$.

MÉMOIRES DE LA SMF 115

Proof. – This follows from the identities

$$R^{s_1,\alpha/p}A^p = A^p_\alpha, \quad R^{s_2,\beta}\Lambda_\beta = \mathcal{B},$$

and the well-known duality $(A^p)^* = \mathcal{B}$ under the integral pairing

$$\langle f,g \rangle = \lim_{r \to 1^-} \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} f(rz) \overline{g(rz)} \mathrm{d} v_{\gamma}(z).$$

See Theorem 3.17 of [71].

Once again, it is easy to come up with other different (but equivalent) duality pairings. We state two special cases.

COROLLARY 25. – For any real α we have $(A^1_{\alpha})^* = \Lambda_{\alpha}$ (with equivalent norms) under the integral pairing

$$\langle f,g\rangle = \lim_{r\to 1^-} \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} f(rz)\overline{g(rz)} \mathrm{d} v(z),$$

where $f \in A^1_{\alpha}$ and $g \in \Lambda_{\alpha}$.

Proof. – Simply choose $s_1 = s_2$, $\alpha = \beta$, and p = 1 in the theorem.

COROLLARY 26. – Suppose α is real and s is any complex parameter such that $R^{s,\alpha}$ is well defined. Then $(A^1_{\alpha})^* = \mathcal{B}$ (with equivalent norms) under the integral pairing

$$\langle f,g \rangle = \lim_{r \to 1^-} \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} R_{s,\alpha} f(rz) \overline{g(rz)} dv(z),$$

where $f \in A^1_{\alpha}$ and $g \in \mathcal{B}$.

Proof. – Simply choose $\beta = 0$ in the theorem.

THEOREM 27. – Suppose α and β are real. If s_1 and s_2 are complex parameters such that the operators $R^{s_1,\alpha}$ and $R^{s_2,\beta}$ are both well defined, then $(\Lambda_{\beta,0})^* = A^1_{\alpha}$ (with equivalent norms) under the integral pairing

$$\langle f,g \rangle = \lim_{r \to 1^-} \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} R_{s_1,\alpha} f(rz) \, \overline{R^{s_2,\beta}g(rz)} \mathrm{d}v(z),$$

where $f \in A^1_{\alpha}$ and $g \in \Lambda_{\beta,0}$.

Proof. – See the proof of Theorem 24.

We also mention two special cases.

COROLLARY 28. – For any real α we have $(\Lambda_{\alpha,0})^* = A^1_{\alpha}$ (with equivalent norms) under the integral pairing

$$\langle f,g \rangle = \lim_{r \to 1^-} \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} f(rz) \overline{g(rz)} \mathrm{d}v(z),$$

where $f \in \Lambda_{\alpha,0}$ and $g \in A^1_{\alpha}$.

Proof. – See the proof of Corollary 25.

COROLLARY 29. – Suppose α is real and s is a complex parameter such that the operator $\mathbb{R}^{s,\alpha}$ is well defined. Then $(\mathscr{B}_0)^* = A^1_{\alpha}$ (with equivalent norms) under the integral pairing

$$\langle f,g \rangle = \lim_{r \to 1^-} \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} R_{s,\alpha} f(rz) \overline{g(rz)} dv(z),$$

where $f \in \mathcal{B}_0$ and $g \in A^1_{\alpha}$.

Proof. – Just set $\beta = 0$ in the theorem.

INTEGRAL REPRESENTATIONS

In this chapter we focus on the case $1 \leq p < \infty$ and show that each space A^p_{α} is a quotient space of $L^p(\mathbb{B}_n, \mathrm{d}v_\beta)$. We do this using Bergman type projections.

Integral representations of functions in Bergman spaces of \mathbb{B}_n started in Forelli-Rudin [25] and have seen several generalizations; see Choe [18], Kaptanoglu [34], and Zhu [71]. The next result appears to be new even in the case of unweighted Bergman spaces of the unit disk.

THEOREM 30. – Suppose $p \ge 1$ and α is real. If γ and λ are complex parameters satisfying the two conditions,

- (a) $p(\operatorname{Re} \gamma + 1) > \operatorname{Re} \lambda + 1$,
- (b) $n + \gamma + (\alpha \lambda)/p$ is not a negative integer,

then a holomorphic function f in \mathbb{B}_n belongs to A^p_{α} if and only if

(11)
$$f(z) = \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{g(w) \mathrm{d}v_{\gamma}(w)}{(1 - \langle z, w \rangle)^{n+1+\gamma + (\alpha - \lambda)/p}}$$

for some $g \in L^p(\mathbb{B}_n, \mathrm{d}v_\lambda)$.

Proof. – Suppose that the parameters satisfy conditions (a) and (b). Let

$$\beta = \gamma - \frac{\lambda}{p} \cdot$$

Then $\lambda = p(\gamma - \beta)$. Note that condition (a) is equivalent to $p(\operatorname{Re}\beta + 1) > 1$. In particular, $\operatorname{Re}\beta > -1$ and $n + \beta$ is not a negative integer. Also, condition (b) is equivalent to the condition that $n + (\alpha/p) + \beta$ is not a negative integer. So the operators $R^{\beta,\alpha/p}$ and $R_{\beta,\alpha/p}$ are well defined.

If $f \in A^p_{\alpha}$, then by Theorem 10, the function $R_{\beta,\alpha/p}f$ is in A^p . It follows from Theorem 2.11 of [71] (note that the result there was stated and proved for real parameters, the case of complex parameters is proved in exactly the same way) and the condition $p(\operatorname{Re}\beta + 1) > 1$ that there exists a function $h \in L^p(\mathbb{B}_n, \mathrm{d}v)$ such that

$$R_{\beta,\alpha/p}f(z) = \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{h(w) \mathrm{d}v_\beta(w)}{(1 - \langle z, w \rangle)^{n+1+\beta}}$$

Apply the operator $R^{\beta,\alpha/p}$ to both sides and use Proposition 3. Then

$$f(z) = \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{h(w) \mathrm{d}v_\beta(w)}{(1 - \langle z, w \rangle)^{n+1+\beta + (\alpha/p)}}$$

Let $g(w) = (1 - |w|^2)^{\beta - \gamma} h(w)$. Then $g \in L^p(\mathbb{B}_n, \mathrm{d}v_\lambda)$ and

$$f(z) = \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{g(w) \mathrm{d}v_{\gamma}(w)}{(1 - \langle z, w \rangle)^{n+1 + \gamma + (\alpha - \lambda)/p}}$$

The above arguments can be reversed. So any function represented by (11) is necessarily a function in A^p_{α} . This completes the proof of the theorem.

Once again, the proof of Theorem 2.11 of [71] is constructive. So there exists a bounded linear operator

$$L: A^p_{\alpha} \longrightarrow L^p(\mathbb{B}_n, \mathrm{d}v_{\lambda})$$

such that the integral representation in (11) can be achieved with the choice g = L(f).

If condition (b) above is not satisfied, then

$$\frac{1}{(1 - \langle z, w \rangle)^{n+1 + \gamma + (\alpha - \lambda)/p}} = (1 - \langle z, w \rangle)^k$$

for some nonnegative integer k, and any function represented by (11) is a polynomial of degree less than or equal to k. In this case, the integral representation (11) cannot possibly give rise to all functions in A^p_{α} . This shows that condition (b) is essential for the theorem.

We can also show that condition (a) is essential. In fact, if every function g in $L^p(\mathbb{B}_n, \mathrm{d}v_\lambda)$ gives rise to a function f in A^p_α via the integral representation (11), then we can apply the operator $R^{\gamma+(\alpha-\lambda)/p,k}$ to both sides of (11) and use Theorem 14 to infer that the operator

$$Tg(z) = \left(1 - |z|^2\right)^k \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{g(w) \mathrm{d}v_{\gamma}(w)}{(1 - \langle z, w \rangle)^{n+1+k+\gamma+(\alpha-\lambda)/p}}$$

maps $L^{p}(\mathbb{B}_{n}, \mathrm{d}v_{\lambda})$ boundedly into $L^{p}(\mathbb{B}_{n}, \mathrm{d}v_{\alpha})$, where k is any nonnegative integer such that $pk + \alpha > -1$. Write

$$g(w) = (1 - |w|^2)^{(\alpha - \lambda)/p} h(w).$$

Then $g \in L^p(\mathbb{B}_n, dv_\lambda)$ if and only if $h \in L^p(\mathbb{B}_n, dv_\alpha)$. It follows that the operator

$$Sh(z) = (1 - |z|^2)^k \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{(1 - |w|^2)^{\gamma + (\alpha - \lambda)/p} h(w) dv(w)}{(1 - \langle z, w \rangle)^{n + 1 + k + \gamma + (\alpha - \lambda)/p}}$$

maps $L^p(\mathbb{B}_n, dv_\alpha)$ boundedly into $L^p(\mathbb{B}_n, dv_\alpha)$. By Proposition 8, the parameters must satisfy the conditions

$$-pk < \alpha + 1 < p \operatorname{Re}\left(\gamma + \frac{\alpha - \lambda}{p} + 1\right).$$

It is easy to see that these two conditions are the same as the two conditions

 $pk + \alpha > -1$ and $p(\operatorname{Re} \gamma + 1) > \operatorname{Re} \lambda + 1$.

Therefore, the conditions in Theorem 30 above are best possible.

COROLLARY 31. – Suppose $p \ge 1$ and α is real. If β is any complex parameter such that

- (a) $p(\operatorname{Re} \beta + 1) > \alpha + 1$,
- (b) $n + \beta$ is not a negative integer,

then a holomorphic function f in \mathbb{B}_n belongs to A^p_{α} if and only if

$$f(z) = \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{g(w) \mathrm{d} v_\beta(w)}{(1 - \langle z, w \rangle)^{n+1+\beta}}$$

for some $g \in L^p(\mathbb{B}_n, \mathrm{d}v_\alpha)$.

Proof. – Simply set $\gamma = \beta$ and $\lambda = \alpha$ in the theorem.

ATOMIC DECOMPOSITION

Atomic decomposition for the Bergman spaces A^p_{α} was first obtained in Coifman-Rochberg [21] in the case $\alpha > -1$. This turns out to be a powerful theorem in the theory of Bergman spaces. We now generalize the result to all A^p_{α} . We will also obtain atomic decomposition for the generalized holomorphic Lipschitz spaces Λ_{α} .

THEOREM 32. – Suppose p > 0, α is real, and b is real. If b is neither 0 nor a negative integer, and

(12)
$$b > n \max\left(1, \frac{1}{p}\right) + \frac{\alpha + 1}{p}$$

then there exists a sequence $\{a_k\}$ in \mathbb{B}_n such that a holomorphic function f in \mathbb{B}_n belongs to A^p_{α} if and only if, for some sequence $\{c_k\} \in \ell^p$,

(13)
$$f(z) = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} c_k \frac{(1 - |a_k|^2)^{b - (n+1+\alpha)/p}}{(1 - \langle z, a_k \rangle)^b} \cdot$$

Proof. - Note that the condition in (12) implies that

$$b - \frac{\alpha}{p} > n \max\left(1, \frac{1}{p}\right) + \frac{1}{p} > n.$$

This, together with the assumption that b is neither 0 nor a negative integer, shows that the operators $R^{s,\alpha/p}$ and $R_{s,\alpha/p}$ are well defined, where s is determined by

$$b = n + 1 + s + \frac{\alpha}{p}$$

Also note that the condition in (12) implies that

$$b' > n \max\left(1, \frac{1}{p}\right) + \frac{1}{p},$$

where $b' = b - (\alpha/p)$. By Theorem 2.30 of [71], there exists a sequence $\{a_k\}$ such that $f \in A^p$ if and only if, for some sequence $\{c_k\} \in \ell^p$,

(14)
$$f(z) = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} c_k \frac{(1 - |a_k|^2)^{b' - (n+1)/p}}{(1 - \langle z, a_k \rangle)^{b'}}$$

If f is given by (13), then

$$R_{s,\alpha/p}f(z) = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} c_k \frac{(1 - |a_k|^2)^{b - (n+1+\alpha)/p}}{(1 - \langle z, a_k \rangle)^{b - \alpha/p}}$$

or

$$R_{s,\alpha/p}f(z) = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} c_k \frac{(1-|a_k|^2)^{b'-(n+1)/p}}{(1-\langle z, a_k \rangle)^{b'}}$$

According to the previous paragraph, we have $R_{s,\alpha/p}f \in A^p$. Combining this with Theorem 10, we conclude that $f \in A^p_{\alpha}$.

The above arguments can be reversed, showing that every function $f \in A^p_{\alpha}$ admits an atomic decomposition (13). This completes the proof of the theorem.

Recall that when $\alpha = -(n+1)$, the resulting spaces A^p_{α} are nothing but the diagonal Besov spaces B_p . Atomic decompositions for Besov spaces have also been obtained in Frazier-Jawerth [26] and Peloso [44].

It can be shown that the assumptions on the parameters in the above theorem are optimal. It can also be shown that for $f \in A^p_{\alpha}$, we have

$$||f||_{p,\alpha}^p \sim \inf \sum_{k=1}^\infty |c_k|^p,$$

where the infimum is taken over all sequences $\{c_k\}$ satisfying the representation (13).

The atomic decomposition for functions in the Bloch space was first obtained in Rochberg [46]. As a consequence of atomic decomposition for the Bloch space, we now obtain an atomic decomposition for functions in the generalized Lipschitz spaces.

THEOREM 33. – Suppose α and b are real parameters with the two properties:

- (a) $b + \alpha > n$,
- (b) b is neither 0 nor a negative integer.

Then there exists a sequence $\{a_k\}$ in \mathbb{B}_n such that a holomorphic function f in \mathbb{B}_n belongs to Λ_{α} if and only if, for some sequence $\{c_k\} \in \ell^{\infty}$,

(15)
$$f(z) = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} c_k \frac{(1 - |a_k|^2)^{b+\alpha}}{(1 - \langle z, a_k \rangle)^b}$$

Proof. – Choose s so that b = n + 1 + s. Then the operators $R^{s,\alpha}$ and $R_{s,\alpha}$ are well defined. Let $b' = b + \alpha$. Then a function f is represented by (15) if and only if

$$R^{s,\alpha}f(z) = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} c_k \frac{(1 - |a_k|^2)^{b'}}{(1 - \langle z, a_k \rangle)^{b'}}$$

for some $\{c_k\} \in \ell^{\infty}$. Since $R^{s,\alpha}\Lambda_{\alpha} = \mathcal{B}$, the desired result then follows from the atomic decomposition for the Bloch space; see Theorem 3.23 of [71].

Once again, the assumptions on the parameters b and α in the above theorem are best possible.

A little of version of Theorem 33 also holds, giving the atomic decomposition for the space $\Lambda_{\alpha,0}$. The only adjustment to be made is to replace the sequence space ℓ^{∞} by c_0 (consisting of sequences that tend to 0). We omit the details.

As a corollary of atomic decomposition, we prove the following embedding of weighted Bergman spaces which is well known and very useful in the special case $\alpha > -1$; see Aleksandrov [2], Beatrous-Burbea [11], Rochberg [46], and Lemma 2.15 of Zhu [71].

THEOREM 34. – Suppose $0 and <math>\alpha$ is real. If

$$\beta = \frac{n+1+\alpha}{p} - (n+1),$$

then A^p_{α} is continuously contained in A^1_{β} .

Proof. – Suppose 0 and fix any positive integer <math>b such that $b > (n+1+\alpha)/p$. If $f \in A^p_{\alpha}$, then there exists a sequence $\{c_k\} \in \ell^p \subset \ell^1$ such that

$$f(z) = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} c_k \frac{(1 - |a_k|^2)^{b - (n+1+\alpha)/p}}{(1 - \langle z, a_k \rangle)^b}$$

where $\{a_k\}$ is a certain sequence in \mathbb{B}_n . For any $k \ge 1$ write

$$f_k(z) = \frac{1}{(1 - \langle z, a_k \rangle)^b}$$

Then

$$||f||_{1,\beta} \le \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} |c_k| (1-|a_k|^2)^{b-(n+1+\alpha)/p} ||f_k||_{1,\beta}.$$

An easy computation shows that

$$R^{N}f_{k}(z) = \frac{h(\langle z, a_{k} \rangle)}{(1 - \langle z, a_{k} \rangle)^{b+N}},$$

where N is the smallest nonnegative integer with $N + \beta > -1$ and h is a polynomial of degree N. It follows that

$$\int_{\mathbb{B}_n} (1-|z|^2)^N |R^N f_k(z)| \mathrm{d} v_\beta(z) \le C \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{(1-|z|^2)^{N+\beta} \mathrm{d} v(z)}{|1-\langle z, a_k \rangle|^{b+N}},$$

where C is a positive constant (independent of k). Estimating the second integral above by Proposition 7, we obtain

$$\int_{\mathbb{B}_n} (1-|z|^2)^N |R^N f_k(z)| \mathrm{d} v_\beta(z) \le \frac{C'}{(1-|a_k|^2)^{b-(n+1+\alpha)/p}},$$

where C' is another positive constant independent of k. This shows that

$$\|f\|_{1,\beta} \le C' \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} |c_k| < \infty$$

completing the proof of the theorem.

The above theorem can also be proved without appealing to atomic decomposition. In fact, if k is a sufficiently large positive integer (such that $kp + \alpha > -1$ and $k + \beta > -1$), then the condition $f \in A^p_{\alpha}$, $0 , implies that <math>R^k f \in A^p_{\alpha'}$, where $\alpha' = kp + \alpha$. By Lemma 2.15 of [71], we have $R^k f \in A^p_{\beta'}$, where

$$\beta' = \frac{n+1+\alpha'}{p} - (n+1) = k + \frac{n+1+\alpha}{p} - (n+1) = k + \beta,$$

or equivalently, the function $(1-|z|^2)^k R^k f(z)$ belongs to $L^1(\mathbb{B}_n, \mathrm{d}v_\beta)$, that is, $f \in A^1_\beta$.

THEOREM 35. – Suppose p > 0 and α is real. If q and r are positive numbers satisfying

$$\frac{1}{p} = \frac{1}{q} + \frac{1}{r},$$

then every function $f \in A^p_{\alpha}$ admits a decomposition

$$f(z) = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} g_k(z) h_k(z),$$

where each g_k is in A^q_{α} and each h_k is in A^r_{α} . Furthermore, if 0 , then

$$\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \|g_k\|_{q,\alpha} \|h_k\|_{r,\alpha} \le C \|f\|_{p,\alpha},$$

where C is a positive constant independent of f.

Proof. - Consider the function

$$f(z) = \frac{1}{(1 - \langle z, a \rangle)^b},$$

MÉMOIRES DE LA SMF 115

where $a \in \mathbb{B}_n$ and b is the constant from Theorem 32. We can write f = gh, where

$$g(z) = \frac{1}{(1 - \langle z, a \rangle)^{bp/q}}, \quad h(z) = \frac{1}{(1 - \langle z, a \rangle)^{bp/r}}$$

If k is a sufficiently large positive integer, then it follows from Proposition 7 that

$$\begin{split} \|f\|_{p,\alpha} &\sim \Big[\int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{(1-|z|^2)^{pk} \mathrm{d}v_{\alpha}(z)}{|1-\langle z,a\rangle|^{p(b+k)}}\Big]^{1/p} \\ &\sim \Big[\frac{1}{(1-|a|^2)^{pb-(n+1+\alpha)}}\Big]^{1/p} = \frac{1}{(1-|a|^2)^{b-(n+1+\alpha)/p}}. \end{split}$$

Similar computations show that

$$\|g\|_{q,\alpha} \sim \frac{1}{(1-|a|^2)^{(bp-n-1-\alpha)/q}}$$
 and $\|h\|_{r,\alpha} \sim \frac{1}{(1-|a|^2)^{(bp-n-1-\alpha)/r}}$

It follows that

$$||f||_{p,\alpha} \sim ||g||_{q,\alpha} ||h||_{r,\alpha}.$$

The desired result then follows from Theorem 32 and the fact that

$$\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} |c_k| \le C \Big(\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} |c_k|^p \Big)^{1/p}$$

when 0 . See the proof of Corollary 2.33 in [71] as well.

When $\alpha > -1$, the above theorem can be found in Coifman-Rochberg [21] and Rochberg [46].

COMPLEX INTERPOLATION

In this chapter we determine the complex interpolation space of two generalized weighted Bergman spaces. We also determine the complex interpolation space between a weighted Bergman space and a Lipschitz space.

Throughout this chapter we let

$$S = \{ z = x + iy \in \mathbb{C} : 0 < x < 1 \}, \quad \bar{S} = \{ z = x + iy \in \mathbb{C} : 0 \le x \le 1 \}.$$

Thus S is an open strip in the complex plane and \overline{S} is its closure. We denote the two boundary lines of S by

$$L(S) = \{ z = x + iy \in \mathbb{C} : x = 0 \}, \quad R(S) = \{ z = x + iy \in \mathbb{C} : x = 1 \}.$$

The complex method of interpolation is based on Hadamard's three lines theorem, which states that if f is a function that is continuous on \overline{S} , bounded on \overline{S} , and analytic in S, then for any $\theta \in (0, 1)$

$$\sup_{\operatorname{Re} z=\theta} |f(z)| \leq \big(\sup_{\operatorname{Re} z=0} |f(z)|\big)^{1-\theta} \big(\sup_{\operatorname{Re} z=1} |f(z)|\big)^{\theta}.$$

Let X and Y be two Banach spaces of holomorphic functions in \mathbb{B}_n . Then X + Y becomes a Banach space with the norm

$$||f||_{X+Y} = \inf (||g||_X + ||h||_Y), \quad f \in X+Y,$$

where the infimum is taken over all decompositions f = g + h with $g \in X$ and $h \in Y$. If $\theta \in (0, 1)$, the complex interpolation space $[X, Y]_{\theta}$ consists of holomorphic functions f in \mathbb{B}_n with the following properties:

- 1) There exists a function $\zeta \mapsto f_{\zeta}$ from \overline{S} into the Banach space X + Y that is analytic in S, continuous on \overline{S} , and bounded on \overline{S} .
- 2) $f_{\theta} = f$.
- 3) The function $\zeta \mapsto f_{\zeta}$ is bounded and continuous from L(S) into X.
- 4) The function $\zeta \mapsto f_{\zeta}$ is bounded and continuous from R(S) into Y.

The space $[X, Y]_{\theta}$ is a Banach space with the norm

$$\|f\|_{\theta} = \inf \max \Big(\sup_{\operatorname{Re} \zeta = 0} \|f_{\zeta}\|_{X}, \sup_{\operatorname{Re} \zeta = 1} \|f_{\zeta}\|_{Y} \Big),$$

where the infimum is taken over all f_{ζ} satisfying conditions 1) through 4) above. See Bergh-Löfström [14] and Bennett-Sharpley [13] for more information about complex interpolation.

The complex method of interpolation spaces is functorial in the sense that if

 $T:X+Y \longrightarrow X'+Y'$

is a linear operator with the property that T maps X boundedly into X' and T maps Y boundedly into Y', then T also maps $[X, Y]_{\theta}$ boundedly into $[X', Y']_{\theta}$ for each $\theta \in (0, 1)$.

The most classical example of complex interpolation spaces concerns L^p spaces (over any measure space). More specifically, if $1 \le p_0 < p_1 \le \infty$ and

$$\frac{1}{p} = \frac{1-\theta}{p_0} + \frac{\theta}{p_1}$$

for some $0 < \theta < 1$, then

$$[L^{p_0}, L^{p_1}]_{\theta} = L^p$$

with equal norms.

More generally, if w_0 and w_1 are weight functions of a measure μ , and if $1 \le p_0 < p_1 < \infty$, then for any $\theta \in (0, 1)$ we have

$$[L^{p_0}(w_0), L^{p_1}(w_1)]_{\theta} = L^p(w)$$

with equal norms, provided that

$$\frac{1}{p} = \frac{1-\theta}{p_0} + \frac{\theta}{p_1} \quad \text{and} \quad w^{\frac{1}{p}} = w_0^{\frac{1-\theta}{p_0}} w_1^{\frac{\theta}{p_1}} +$$

This is usually referred to as the Stein-Weiss interpolation theorem. See Stein-Weiss [55].

THEOREM 36. – Suppose α and β are real. If $1 \le p_0 \le p_1 < \infty$ and $1 \qquad 1 - \theta$

$$\frac{1}{p} = \frac{1}{p_0} + \frac{1}{p_1}$$

for some $\theta \in (0,1)$, then

$$\left[A^{p_0}_{\alpha}, A^{p_1}_{\beta}\right]_{\theta} = A^p_{\gamma}$$

with equivalent norms, where γ is determined by

$$\frac{\gamma}{p} = \frac{\alpha}{p_0}(1-\theta) + \frac{\beta}{p_1}\,\theta.$$

Proof. – It is clear that $1 \le p < \infty$. We fix a large positive number s such that

(16)
$$p(s+1) > \gamma + 1, \quad p_0(s+1) > \alpha + 1, \quad p_1(s+1) > \beta + 1.$$

Then by Corollary 31, the integral operator

$$Tg(z) = \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{g(w) \mathrm{d} v_s(w)}{(1 - \langle z, w \rangle)^{n+1+s}}$$

maps $L^{p}(\mathbb{B}_{n}, dv_{\gamma})$ boundedly onto A^{p}_{γ} ; it maps $L^{p_{0}}(\mathbb{B}_{n}, dv_{\alpha})$ boundedly onto $A^{p_{0}}_{\alpha}$; and it maps $L^{p_{1}}(\mathbb{B}_{n}, dv_{\beta})$ boundedly onto $A^{p_{1}}_{\beta}$. It follows from the functorial property of complex interpolation and the Stein-Weiss interpolation theorem that T maps the space

$$\left[L^{p_0}(\mathbb{B}_n, \mathrm{d} v_\alpha), L^{p_1}(\mathbb{B}_n, \mathrm{d} v_\beta)\right]_{\theta} = L^p(\mathbb{B}_n, \mathrm{d} v_\gamma)$$

boundedly into $\left[A^{p_0}_{\alpha}, A^{p_1}_{\beta}\right]_{\theta}$. Since $TL^p(\mathbb{B}_n, \mathrm{d}v_{\gamma}) = A^p_{\gamma}$, we conclude that

$$A^p_{\gamma} \subset \left[A^{p_0}_{\alpha}, A^{p_1}_{\beta}\right]_{\theta}$$

and the inclusion is continuous.

On the other hand, if k is a sufficiently large positive integer, the operator L defined by

$$L(f)(z) = \left(1 - |z|^2\right)^k R^k f(z), \quad f \in H(\mathbb{B}_n),$$

maps $A^{p_0}_{\alpha}$ boundedly into $L^{p_0}(\mathbb{B}_n, dv_{\alpha})$; and it maps $A^{p_1}_{\beta}$ boundedly into $L^{p_1}(\mathbb{B}_n, dv_{\beta})$. By the functorial property of complex interpolation and the Stein-Weiss interpolation theorem, the operator L also maps $[A^{p_0}_{\alpha}, A^{p_1}_{\beta}]_{\theta}$ boundedly into $L^p(\mathbb{B}_n, dv_{\gamma})$. Equivalently, if $f \in [A^{p_0}_{\alpha}, A^{p_1}_{\beta}]_{\theta}$, then the function $(1 - |z|^2)^k R^k f(z)$ belongs to $L^p(\mathbb{B}_n, dv_{\gamma})$, that is, $f \in A^p_{\gamma}$. We conclude that

$$\left[A^{p_0}_{\alpha}, A^{p_1}_{\beta}\right]_{\theta} \subset A^p_{\gamma}$$

and the inclusion is continuous. This completes the proof of the theorem.

COROLLARY 37. – Suppose α is real, β is real, $1 \le p < \infty$, and $0 < \theta < 1$. Then

$$\left[A^p_\alpha, A^p_\beta\right]_\theta = A^p_\gamma,$$

where $\gamma = \alpha(1 - \theta) + \beta \theta$.

THEOREM 38. – Suppose α and β are real. If $1 \leq p < \infty$ and $0 < \theta < 1$, then

$$\left[A^p_{\alpha}, \Lambda_{\beta}\right]_{\theta} = A^q_{\gamma}$$

with equivalent norms, where $q = p/(1-\theta)$ and $\gamma = \alpha - q\beta\theta$.

Proof. – First we consider the linear operator

$$Tf(z) = \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{f(w) \mathrm{d} v_{s+\beta}(w)}{(1 - \langle z, w \rangle)^{n+1+s}},$$

where s is a fixed and sufficiently large positive number. By Theorem 17 and Theorem 30, the operator T maps $L^{\infty}(\mathbb{B}_n)$ boundedly onto Λ_{β} ; and it maps $L^p(\mathbb{B}_n, \mathrm{d}v_{\alpha+p\beta})$ boundedly onto A^p_{α} . Since

$$\frac{1}{q} = \frac{1-\theta}{p} + \frac{\theta}{\infty},$$

it follows that T maps the space

$$L^{q}(\mathbb{B}_{n}, \mathrm{d}v_{\alpha+p\beta}) = \left[L^{p}(\mathbb{B}_{n}, \mathrm{d}v_{\alpha+p\beta}), L^{\infty}(\mathbb{B}_{n})\right]_{\theta}$$

boundedly into $[A^p_{\alpha}, \Lambda_{\beta}]_{\theta}$. But we have $TL^q(\mathbb{B}_n, \mathrm{d}v_{\alpha+p\beta}) = A^q_{\gamma}$ according again to Theorem 30. So

$$A^q_{\gamma} \subset \left[A^p_{\alpha}, \Lambda_{\beta}\right]_{\theta}$$

and the inclusion is continuous.

Next we consider the linear operator

$$Lf(z) = \left(1 - |z|^2\right)^{k-\beta} R^k f(z), \quad f \in H(\mathbb{B}_n),$$

where k is a fixed and sufficiently large positive integer. The operator L maps A^p_{α} boundedly into $L^p(\mathbb{B}_n, dv_{\alpha+p\beta})$; and it maps Λ_{β} boundedly into $L^{\infty}(\mathbb{B}_n)$. Therefore, L also maps $[A^p_{\alpha}, \Lambda_{\beta}]_{\theta}$ boundedly into $L^q(\mathbb{B}_n, dv_{\alpha+p\beta})$, that is, $f \in [A^p_{\alpha}, \Lambda_{\beta}]_{\theta}$ implies that the function $(1 - |z|^2)^{k-\beta} R^k f(z)$ is in $L^q(\mathbb{B}_n, dv_{\alpha+p\beta})$, which is the same as the function $(1 - |z|^2)^k R^k f(z)$ being in $L^q(\mathbb{B}_n, dv_{\gamma})$, or $f \in A^q_{\gamma}$. We conclude that

$$\left[A^p_{\alpha}, \Lambda_{\beta}\right]_{\theta} \subset A^q_{\gamma},$$

and the inclusion is continuous. This completes the proof of the theorem.

THEOREM 39. – Suppose α is real, β is real, and $0 < \theta < 1$. Then

$$\left[\Lambda_{\alpha},\Lambda_{\beta}\right]_{\theta}=\Lambda_{\gamma}$$

with equivalent norms, where $\gamma = \alpha(1 - \theta) + \beta \theta$.

Proof. – Fix a sufficiently large positive number s. If $f \in \Lambda_{\gamma}$, there exists a function $g \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{B}_n)$ such that

$$f(z) = \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{g(w) \mathrm{d} v_s(w)}{(1 - \langle z, w \rangle)^{n+1+s-\gamma}};$$

see Theorem 17. For any $\zeta \in \overline{S}$ we define

$$f_{\zeta}(z) = \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{g(w)(1-|w|^2)^{\alpha(1-\zeta)+\beta\zeta-\gamma} \mathrm{d}v_s(w)}{(1-\langle z,w\rangle)^{n+1+s-\gamma}} \cdot$$

Let k be a sufficiently large positive integer. Then it follows easily from Proposition 7 that the map $\zeta \mapsto f_{\zeta}$ is a bounded continuous function from \overline{S} into

$$\Lambda_{lpha} + \Lambda_{eta} = \Lambda_{\min(lpha,eta)},$$

and its restriction to S is analytic. Also, the map $\zeta \mapsto f_{\zeta}$ is a bounded continuous function from L(S) into Λ_{α} , and from R(S) into Λ_{β} . Since $f_{\theta} = f$, we conclude from the definition of complex interpolation that $f \in [\Lambda_{\alpha}, \Lambda_{\beta}]_{\theta}$. This shows that

$$\Lambda_{\gamma} \subset \left[\Lambda_{lpha}, \Lambda_{eta}
ight]_{ heta}$$

and the inclusion is continuous.

On the other hand, if $f \in [\Lambda_{\alpha}, \Lambda_{\beta}]_{\theta}$, then there exists a family of functions f_{ζ} , where $\zeta \in \overline{S}$, such that

- (a) $\zeta \mapsto f_{\zeta}$ is a bounded continuous function from \overline{S} into $\Lambda_{\min(\alpha,\beta)}$ whose restriction to S is analytic;
- (b) $\zeta \mapsto f_{\zeta}$ is a bounded continuous function from L(S) into Λ_{α} ;
- (c) $\zeta \mapsto f_{\zeta}$ is a bounded continuous function from R(S) into Λ_{β} ;
- (d) $f_{\theta} = f$.

Let k be a positive integer with $k > \max(\alpha, \beta)$ and consider the functions

$$g_{\zeta}(z) = \left(1 - |z|^2\right)^{k - \alpha(1 - \zeta) - \beta\zeta} R^k f_{\zeta}(z), \quad z \in \mathbb{B}_n, \ \zeta \in \overline{S}.$$

By conditions (b) and (c) of the previous paragraph, there exist finite positive constants M_0 and M_1 such that

(17)
$$\sup_{\substack{z \in \mathbb{B}_n \\ \zeta \in L(S)}} |g_{\zeta}(z)| = M_0, \quad \sup_{\substack{z \in \mathbb{B}_n \\ \zeta \in R(S)}} |g_{\zeta}(z)| = M_1.$$

For any fixed point $z \in \mathbb{B}_n$, it follows from condition (a) of the previous paragraph that the function $F(\zeta) = g_{\zeta}(z)$ is a bounded continuous function on \overline{S} whose restriction to S is analytic. Moreover, it follows from (17) that $|F(\zeta)| \leq M_0$ for $\zeta \in L(S)$ and $|F(\zeta)| \leq M_1$ for $\zeta \in R(S)$. By Hadamard's three lines theorem, we must have

$$\left|F(\theta)\right| \leq M_0^{1-\theta} M_1^{\theta} \quad \text{or} \quad \left(1-|z|^2\right)^{k-\gamma} \left|R^k f(z)\right| \leq M_0^{1-\theta} M_1^{\theta}.$$

Since the constant on the right-hand side is independent of z, we have shown that $f \in \Lambda_{\gamma}$. Therefore,

$$\left[\Lambda_{\alpha},\Lambda_{\beta}\right]_{\theta}\subset\Lambda_{\gamma},$$

and the inclusion is continuous. This completes the proof of the theorem.

REPRODUCING KERNELS

In this chapter we focus on the Hilbert space case p = 2. We are going to obtain a characterization of A_{α}^2 in terms of Taylor coefficients, and we are going to define a canonical inner product on A_{α}^2 so that the associated reproducing kernel can be calculated in closed form.

Reproducing kernels for A_{α}^2 are also calculated in Beatrous-Buebea [11] in terms of a certain family of hypergeometric functions. Our approach here is different. We wish to write the reproducing kernel of A_{α}^2 as something that is as close to $(1 - \langle z, w \rangle)^{-(n+1+\alpha)}$ as possible.

THEOREM 40. – Suppose α is real and

$$f(z) = \sum_{m} a_m z^m.$$

Then $f \in A^2_{\alpha}$ if and only if its Taylor coefficients satisfy the condition

(18)
$$\sum_{|m|>0} \frac{m! \mathrm{e}^{|m|}}{|m|^{n+|m|+\alpha+\frac{1}{2}}} |a_m|^2 < \infty.$$

Proof. – Fix a positive integer k such that $2k + \alpha > -1$. If $f(z) = \sum_{m} a_m z^m$ is the Taylor series of f in \mathbb{B}_n , then

$$R^k f(z) = \sum_{|m|>0} a_m |m|^k z^m.$$

It follows that the integral

$$I_{k,\alpha}(f) = \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \left| (1 - |z|^2)^k R^k f(z) \right|^2 \mathrm{d}v_\alpha(z)$$

is equal to

$$\sum_{|m|>0} |a_m|^2 \cdot |m|^{2k} \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} |z^m|^2 (1-|z|^2)^{2k+\alpha} \mathrm{d}v(z).$$

By integration in polar coordinates (see 1.4.3 of Rudin [47] or Lemma 1.11 of Zhu [71]), there exists a constant C > 0 (independent of f) such that

$$I_{k,\alpha}(f) = C \sum_{|m|>0} \frac{|m|^{2k} m!}{\Gamma(n+|m|+2k+\alpha+1)} |a_m|^2$$

Since n, k, and α are all constants, an application of Stirling's formula shows that

$$\Gamma(n+|m|+2k+\alpha+1) \sim |m|^{n+|m|+2k+\alpha+\frac{1}{2}} e^{-|m|}$$

as $|m| \to \infty$. We conclude that the integral $I_{k,\alpha}(f)$ is finite if and only if the condition in (18) holds, and the proof of the theorem is complete.

An immediate consequence of the condition in (18) is that the space A_{α}^2 is independent of the integer k used in the definition of A_{α}^2 . Of course, we already knew this from Section 4.

THEOREM 41. – Suppose $\alpha > -(n + 1)$. Then A_{α}^2 can be equipped with an inner product such that the associated reproducing kernel is given by

(19)
$$K_{\alpha}(z,w) = \frac{1}{(1-\langle z,w\rangle)^{n+1+\alpha}}$$

Proof. – It follows from Stirling's formula again that the condition in (18) is equivalent to

(20)
$$\sum_{m} \frac{m! \Gamma(n+1+\alpha)}{\Gamma(n+|m|+\alpha+1)} |a_{m}|^{2} < \infty.$$

Now define an inner product on A_{α}^2 as follows:

$$\langle f,g\rangle_{\alpha} = \sum_{m} \frac{m!\,\Gamma(n+1+\alpha)}{\Gamma(n+|m|+\alpha+1)}\,a_{m}\overline{b}_{m},$$

where

$$f(z) = \sum_{m} a_m z^m, \quad g(z) = \sum_{m} b_m z^m.$$

Then A_{α}^2 becomes a separable Hilbert space with the following functions forming an orthonormal basis:

$$e_m(z) = \sqrt{\frac{\Gamma(n+|m|+\alpha+1)}{m!\,\Gamma(n+\alpha+1)}}\,z^m,$$

where m runs over all n-tuples of nonnegative integers. It follows from the multinomial formula (1) that the reproducing kernel of A_{α}^2 is given by

$$K_{\alpha}(z,w) = \sum_{m} e_{m}(z)\overline{e_{m}(w)} = \sum_{m} \frac{\Gamma(n+|m|+\alpha+1)}{m!\Gamma(n+\alpha+1)} z^{m}\overline{w}^{m}$$
$$= \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{\Gamma(n+k+\alpha+1)}{k!\Gamma(n+1+\alpha)} \sum_{|m|=k} \frac{k!}{m!} z^{m}\overline{w}^{m}$$
$$= \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{\Gamma(n+k+1+\alpha)}{k!\Gamma(n+\alpha+1)} \langle z,w \rangle^{k} = \frac{1}{(1-\langle z,w \rangle)^{n+1+\alpha}}.$$

This proves the desired result.

When $\alpha > -1$, the reproducing kernel for A_{α}^2 is of course well known. See Rudin [47] or Zhu [71]. When $\alpha \leq -1$, the point here is that you need to use an appropriate inner product on A_{α}^2 so that its reproducing kernel is computable in closed form.

THEOREM 42. – Suppose $\alpha = -(n + 1)$. Then A_{α}^2 can be equipped with an inner product such that the associated reproducing kernel is

(21)
$$K_{-(n+1)}(z,w) = 1 + \log \frac{1}{1 - \langle z, w \rangle}$$

Proof. – If $\alpha = -(n + 1)$, then Theorem 40 tells us that a holomorphic function $f(z) = \sum_{m} a_m z^m$ in \mathbb{B}_n belongs to $A^2_{-(n+1)}$ if and only if

$$\sum_{|m|>0} \frac{m! \,\mathrm{e}^{|m|}}{|m|^{|m|-\frac{1}{2}}} \,|a_m|^2 < \infty,$$

which, according to Stirling's formula, is equivalent to

$$\sum_{m|>0} |m| \frac{m!}{|m|!} |a_m|^2 < \infty.$$

If we define an inner product on $A^2_{-(n+1)}$ by

(22)
$$\langle f,g \rangle_{-(n+1)} = f(0)\overline{g(0)} + \sum_{|m|>0} |m| \frac{m!}{|m|!} a_m \overline{b}_m,$$

where

$$f(z) = \sum_{m} a_m z^m, \quad g(z) = \sum_{m} b_m z^m,$$

then $A^2_{-(n+1)}$ becomes a separable Hilbert space with the following functions forming an orthonormal basis:

$$1, \quad e_m(z) = \sqrt{\frac{|m|!}{m!|m|}} \, z^m,$$

where m runs over all n-tuples of nonnegative integers with |m| > 0. It follows from (1) that the reproducing kernel of $A^2_{-(n+1)}$ is given by

$$\begin{split} K_{-(n+1)}(z,w) &= 1 + \sum_{|m|>0} \frac{|m|!}{m!|m|} \, z^m \overline{w}^m = 1 + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{k} \sum_{|m|=k} \frac{k!}{m!} z^m \overline{w}^m \\ &= 1 + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{\langle z, w \rangle^k}{k} = 1 + \log \frac{1}{1 - \langle z, w \rangle}, \end{split}$$

completing the proof of the theorem.

The space $A^2_{-(n+1)}$ can be thought of as the high dimensional analog of the classical Dirichlet space in the unit disk. It is the unique space of holomorphic functions in the unit ball that can be equipped with a semi-inner product that is invariant under the action of the automorphism group. See Zhu [67]. The formula in Theorem 42 above also appeared in Peloso [44] and Zhu [67].

THEOREM 43. – Suppose $-N < n + 1 + \alpha < -N + 1$ for some positive integer N. Then for any polynomial

$$Q(z,w) = \sum_{|m| \le N} \omega_m z^m \overline{w}^{\,m}$$

with the property that

$$\omega_m > (-1)^{N+1} \frac{\Gamma(n+|m|+\alpha+1)}{m! \,\Gamma(n+\alpha+1)},$$

we can equip A_{α}^2 with an inner product such that the associated reproducing kernel is given by

(23)
$$K_{\alpha}(z,w) = Q(z,w) + \frac{(-1)^{N}}{(1 - \langle z,w \rangle)^{n+1+\alpha}}$$

Proof. – By Theorem 40 and Stirling's formula again, a function $f(z) = \sum_m a_m z^m$ is in A_{α}^2 if and only if

$$\sum_{|m|>0} \left| \frac{m! \, \Gamma(n+1+\alpha)}{\Gamma(n+|m|+\alpha+1)} \right| |a_m|^2 < \infty.$$

If $-N < n + 1 + \alpha < -N + 1$, it follows from the identity

$$\frac{\Gamma(n+\alpha+1)}{\Gamma(n+|m|+\alpha+1)} = \frac{1}{(n+1+\alpha)(n+2+\alpha)\cdots(n+|m|+\alpha)}$$

that for any |m| > N we have

$$\left|\frac{\Gamma(n+\alpha+1)}{\Gamma(n+|m|+\alpha+1)}\right| = (-1)^N \frac{\Gamma(n+\alpha+1)}{\Gamma(n+|m|+\alpha+1)}.$$

Therefore, for any positive coefficients c_m , where $|m| \leq N$, we can define an inner product on A_{α}^2 as follows:

(24)
$$\langle f,g \rangle_{\alpha} = \sum_{|m| \le N} c_m a_m \bar{b}_m + (-1)^N \sum_{|m| > N} \frac{m! \Gamma(n+\alpha+1)}{\Gamma(n+|m|+\alpha+1)} a_m \bar{b}_m,$$

where

$$f(z) = \sum_{m} a_m z^m, \quad g(z) = \sum_{m} b_m z^m.$$

Then A_{α}^2 becomes a separable Hilbert space with the following functions forming an orthonormal basis:

$$e_m(z) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{c_m}} z^m, \quad |m| \le N,$$

and

$$e_m(z) = \sqrt{(-1)^N \frac{\Gamma(n+|m|+\alpha+1)}{m! \, \Gamma(n+\alpha+1)}} \, z^m, \quad |m| > N.$$

Using the mutinomial formula (1), we find that the corresponding reproducing kernel for A^2_{α} is given by

$$\begin{split} K_{\alpha}(z,w) &= \sum_{|m| \leq N} e_m(z) \overline{e_m(w)} + \sum_{|m| > N} e_m(z) \overline{e_m(w)} \\ &= \sum_{|m| \leq N} \frac{1}{c_m} z^m \overline{w}^m + (-1)^N \sum_{|m| > N} \frac{\Gamma(n+|m|+\alpha+1)}{m! \, \Gamma(n+\alpha+1)} \, z^m \overline{w}^m \\ &= \sum_{|m| \leq N} \omega_m z^m \overline{w}^m + \frac{(-1)^N}{(1-\langle z, w \rangle)^{n+1+\alpha}}, \end{split}$$

where

$$\omega_m = \frac{1}{c_m} - (-1)^N \frac{\Gamma(n+|m|+\alpha+1)}{m! \, \Gamma(n+\alpha+1)} > (-1)^{N+1} \frac{\Gamma(n+|m|+\alpha+1)}{m! \, \Gamma(n+\alpha+1)} \cdot$$

This completes the proof of the theorem.

The appearance of the sign $(-1)^N$ in (23) is a little peculiar; we do not know if there is any simple explanation for it. We also note in passing that the reproducing kernel given by (23) is bounded.

It remains for us to consider the case in which $n + 1 + \alpha = -N$ is a negative integer. The principal part of the reproducing kernel in this case will be shown to be the function

$$(\langle z, w \rangle - 1)^N \log \frac{1}{1 - \langle z, w \rangle}$$

Thus for every positive integer N we consider the function

$$f_N(z) = (z-1)^N \log \frac{1}{1-z}, \quad z \in \mathbb{D}.$$

It is clear that each f_N is analytic in the unit disk \mathbb{D} and

$$f'_{N+1}(z) = (N+1)f_N(z) - (z-1)^N.$$

In particular,

$$f_{N+1}^{(k+1)}(z) = (N+1)f_N^{(k)}(z), \quad k > N.$$

It follows from this and induction that $f_N^{(k)}(0) > 0$ for all k > N. Also observe that the Nth derivative of f_N is $-\log(1-z)$ plus a polynomial, so the Taylor coefficients of f_N has the property that, as $k \to \infty$,

$$\frac{f_N^{(k)}(0)}{k!} \sim \frac{1}{k^{N+1}}$$

THEOREM 44. – Suppose $n + 1 + \alpha = -N$ for some positive integer N and

$$(z-1)^N \log \frac{1}{1-z} = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} A_k z^k.$$

Then for any polynomial

$$Q(z,w) = \sum_{|m| \le N} \omega_m z^m \overline{w}^m$$

with the property that

$$\omega_m > -\frac{|m|!A_{|m|}}{m!},$$

we can equip A^2_{α} with an inner product such that the associated reproducing kernel is

(25)
$$K_{\alpha}(z,w) = Q(z,w) + (\langle z,w \rangle - 1)^N \log \frac{1}{1 - \langle z,w \rangle}.$$

Proof. – It follows from (18) and Stirling's formula that a function $f(z) = \sum_m a_m z^m$ belongs to A^2_{α} if and only if

$$\sum_{m} |m|^{N+1} \frac{m!}{|m|!} |a_{m}|^{2} < \infty$$

which is equivalent to

$$\sum_{|m|>N} \frac{m!}{|m|! A_{|m|}} |a_m|^2 < \infty.$$

If $c_m > 0$ for $|m| \le N$, we can define an inner product on A^2_{α} as follows:

(26)
$$\langle f,g\rangle_{\alpha} = \sum_{|m| \le N} c_m a_m \overline{b}_m + \sum_{|m| > N} \frac{m!}{|m|! A_{|m|}} a_m \overline{b}_m.$$

where

$$f(z) = \sum_{m} a_m z^m, \quad g(z) = \sum_{m} b_m z^m.$$

MÉMOIRES DE LA SMF 115

Then A_{α}^2 becomes a separable Hilbert space and the following functions form an orthonormal basis:

$$e_m(z) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{c_m}} z^m, \quad |m| \le N,$$

and

$$e_m(z) = \sqrt{\frac{|m|!A_{|m|}}{m!}} z^m, \quad |m| > N.$$

The associated reproducing kernel for A_{α}^2 is given by

$$\begin{split} K_{\alpha}(z,w) &= \sum_{|m| \le N} e_m(z)\overline{e_m(w)} + \sum_{|m| > N} e_m(z)\overline{e_m(w)} \\ &= \sum_{|m| \le N} \frac{z^m \overline{w}^m}{c_m} + \sum_{|m| > N} \frac{|m|! A_{|m|}}{m!} z^m \overline{w}^m \\ &= \sum_{|m| \le N} \left(\frac{1}{c_m} - \frac{|m|! A_{|m|}}{m!}\right) z^m \overline{w}^m + \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} A_k \sum_{|m| = k} \frac{k!}{m!} z^m \overline{w}^m \\ &= \sum_{|m| \le N} \omega_m z^m \overline{w}^m + \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} A_k \langle z, w \rangle^k \\ &= Q(z,w) + (\langle z, w \rangle - 1)^N \log \frac{1}{1 - \langle z, w \rangle}, \end{split}$$

where the coefficients of

$$Q(z,w) = \sum_{|m| \le N} \omega_m z^m \overline{w}^m$$

satisfy

$$\omega_m = \frac{1}{c_m} - \frac{|m|! A_{|m|}}{m!} > -\frac{|m|! A_{|m|}}{m!}$$

This completes the proof of the theorem.

Once again, the reproducing kernel in (25) is bounded on $\mathbb{B}_n \times \mathbb{B}_n$. Also notice that we can rewrite the kernel in (25) as

$$K_{\alpha}(z,w) = Q(z,w) + (-1)^{N} \left(1 - \langle z,w \rangle\right)^{N} \log \frac{1}{1 - \langle z,w \rangle},$$

which is probably a partial explanation for the sign $(-1)^N$ in (23).

It is clear that the reproducing kernel of a Hilbert space of holomorphic functions depends on the inner product used for the space. We close this chapter by examining the reproducing kernel of A_{α}^2 that corresponds to the following natural inner product which we have used in Chapter 7:

$$\langle f,g \rangle_{\alpha} = f(0)\overline{g(0)} + \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} R^k f(z) \overline{R^k g(z)} dv_{2k+\alpha}(z),$$

where k is any nonnegative integer with $2k + \alpha > -1$. This inner product gives rise to the norm

$$||f||_{2,\alpha} = \left(|f(0)|^2 + \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \left| R^k f(z) \right|^2 \mathrm{d}v_{2k+\alpha}(z) \right)^{1/2}$$

for $f\in A^2_\alpha.$ For this inner product we can show that the corresponding reproducing kernel for A^2_α is

$$K_w^{\alpha}(z) = K_{\alpha}(z, w) = 1 + R^{-2k} \Big(\frac{1}{(1 - \langle z, w \rangle)^{n+1+\alpha+2k}} \Big).$$

The result is a simple consequence of the identity,

$$f(0)\overline{g(0)} + \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} R^k f(z)\overline{R^{-k}g(z)} \,\mathrm{d}v_{2k+\alpha}(z) = \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} f(z)\overline{g(z)} \,\mathrm{d}v_{2k+\alpha}(z),$$

which can easily be proved by the use of Taylor expansions. We leave the details to the interested reader.

CARLESON TYPE MEASURES

The purpose of this chapter is to study Carleson type measures for the Bergman spaces A^p_{α} . Unlike most other chapters of the paper, the results here depend very much on the various parameters.

The notion of Carleson measures was of course introduced by Carleson [15], [16] for the unit disk. Carleson's original definition works well in the theory of Hardy spaces, and this can easily be seen in such classics as Duren [23] and Garnett [27]. The characterization of Carleson measures for the Hardy spaces of the unit ball can be found in Hörmander [32] and Power [45].

Later, the notion of Carleson measures was extended to the context of Bergman spaces. Earlier papers in this direction include Cima-Wogen [20], Hastings [31], Luecking [38], Zhu [66]. Also, Carleson type measures have been studied for holomorphic Besov spaces (of which the Dirichlet space is a special case); see Arcozzi-Rochberg-Sawyer [7], Kaptanoglu [35], Stegenga [54], and Wu [61]. In particular, our results of this chapter contain several special cases that have been known before.

For any $\zeta \in \mathbb{S}_n$ and r > 0 let

 $Q_r(\zeta) = \{ z \in \mathbb{B}_n : |1 - \langle z, \zeta \rangle| < r \}.$

These are the high dimensional analogues of Carleson squares in the unit disk. They are also called nonisotropic metric balls. See Rudin [47] or Zhu [71] for more information about the geometry of these nonisotropic balls.

THEOREM 45. – Suppose $n + 1 + \alpha > 0$ and μ is a positive Borel measure on \mathbb{B}_n . Then the following conditions are equivalent:

- (a) There exists a constant C > 0 such that, for all $\zeta \in \mathbb{S}_n$ and all r > 0,
- (27) $\mu(Q_r(\zeta)) \le Cr^{n+1+\alpha}.$

(b) For each s > 0 there exists a constant C > 0 such that, for all $z \in \mathbb{B}_n$,

(28)
$$\int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{(1-|z|^2)^s d\mu(w)}{|1-\langle z,w\rangle|^{n+1+\alpha+s}} \le C.$$

(c) For some s > 0 there exists a constant C > 0 such that the inequality in (28) holds for all $z \in \mathbb{B}_n$.

Proof. – It is obvious that condition (b) implies (c). Now assume that condition (c) holds, that is, there exist positive constants s and C such that the inequality in (28) holds. If $\zeta \in \mathbb{S}_n$ and $r \in (0, 1)$, then

(29)
$$\int_{Q_r(\zeta)} \frac{(1-|z|^2)^s d\mu(w)}{|1-\langle z, w \rangle|^{n+1+\alpha+s}} \le C$$

for all $z \in \mathbb{B}_n$. If we choose $z = (1 - r)\zeta$, then

$$1 - \langle z, w \rangle = (1 - r) (1 - \langle \zeta, w \rangle) + r$$

for all $w \in \mathbb{B}_n$, so

$$\left|1-\langle z,w\rangle\right| \le (1-r)r+r < 2r$$

for all $w \in Q_r(\zeta)$, which gives

$$\frac{(1-|z|^2)^s}{|1-\langle z,w\rangle|^{n+1+\alpha+s}} \geq \frac{r^s}{(2r)^{n+1+\alpha+s}} = \frac{2^{-(n+1+\alpha+s)}}{r^{n+1+\alpha}}$$

for all $w \in Q_r(\zeta)$. Combining this with (29), we conclude that

$$\mu(Q_r(\zeta)) \le 2^{n+1+\alpha+s} C r^{n+1+\alpha}$$

for all $\zeta \in \mathbb{S}_n$ and all $r \in (0, 1)$. The case $r \ge 1$ can be disposed of very easily. This proves that condition (c) implies (a).

Next assume that condition (a) holds. In particular, μ is a finite measure, so

$$\sup_{|z|\leq \frac{3}{4}}\int_{\mathbb{B}_n}\frac{(1-|z|^2)^s\mathrm{d}\mu(w)}{|1-\langle z,w\rangle|^{n+1+\alpha+s}}<\infty$$

for each s > 0. We fix an arbitrary positive number s and proceed to show that the inequality in (28) must hold for $\frac{3}{4} < |z| < 1$.

Fix some point $z \in \mathbb{B}_n$ with $\frac{3}{4} < |z| < 1$ and choose $\zeta = z/|z|$. For any nonnegative integer k let $r_k = 2^{k+1}(1-|z|)$. We decompose the unit ball \mathbb{B}_n into the disjoint union of the sets

$$E_0 = Q_{r_0}(\zeta), \quad E_k = Q_{r_k}(\zeta) - Q_{r_{k-1}}(\zeta), \quad 1 \le k < \infty.$$

By condition (a), we have

$$\mu(E_k) \le \mu(Q_{r_k}(\zeta)) \le 2^{(k+1)(n+1+\alpha)} (1-|z|)^{n+1+\alpha} C$$

for all $k \ge 0$. On the other hand, if $k \ge 1$ and $w \in E_k$, then

$$\begin{split} \left|1 - \langle z, w \rangle\right| &= \left|(1 - |z|) + |z|(1 - \langle \zeta, w \rangle)\right| \\ &\geq |z| \cdot \left|1 - \langle \zeta, w \rangle\right| - (1 - |z|) \\ &\geq \frac{3}{4} \times 2^k (1 - |z|) - (1 - |z|) \geq 2^{k-1} (1 - |z|). \end{split}$$

This holds for k = 0 as well, because

$$|1 - \langle z, w \rangle| \ge 1 - |z| \ge \frac{1}{2} (1 - |z|).$$

It follows that

$$\begin{split} \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{(1-|z|^2)^s \mathrm{d}\mu(w)}{|1-\langle z,w\rangle|^{n+1+\alpha+s}} &= \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \int_{E_k} \frac{(1-|z|^2)^s \mathrm{d}\mu(w)}{|1-\langle z,w\rangle|^{n+1+\alpha+s}} \\ &\leq \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{(1-|z|^2)^s \mu(E_k)}{(2^{k-1}(1-|z|))^{n+1+\alpha+s}} \\ &\leq \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{2^{s+(k+1)(n+1+\alpha)}(1-|z|)^{n+1+\alpha+s}C}{2^{(k-1)(n+1+\alpha+s)}(1-|z|)^{n+1+\alpha+s}} = C' \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{(2^s)^k} < \infty, \end{split}$$

where C' is a positive constant independent of z. This completes the proof of the theorem.

Our results are most complete when $0 . The following result settles the case <math>n + 1 + \alpha > 0$, and Proposition 49 deals with the cases $n + 1 + \alpha \leq 0$.

THEOREM 46. – Suppose $\alpha > -(n+1)$, $0 , and <math>\mu$ is a positive Borel measure on \mathbb{B}_n . Then the following two conditions are equivalent:

(a) There exists a constant C > 0 such that, for all $f \in A^p_{\alpha}$,

(30)
$$\int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \left| f(w) \right|^p \mathrm{d}\mu(w) \le C \|f\|_{p,\alpha}^p$$

(b) There exists a constant C > 0 such that, for all $\zeta \in \mathbb{S}_n$ and all $r \in (0, 1)$,

(31)
$$\mu(Q_r(\zeta)) \le Cr^{n+1+\alpha}.$$

Proof. - First assume that condition (a) holds. We consider the function

$$f(w) = \frac{1}{(1 - \langle w, z \rangle)^{(n+1+\alpha+s)/p}}, \quad w \in \mathbb{B}_n$$

where s is positive and $z \in \mathbb{B}_n$. If k is the smallest nonnegative integer such that $kp + \alpha > -1$, then an elementary calculation shows that

$$R^k f(w) = \frac{Q(\langle w, z \rangle)}{(1 - \langle w, z \rangle)^{k + (n+1+\alpha+s)/p}},$$

where Q is a polynomial of degree k. It follows from Proposition 7 that there exists a constant C > 0 (independent of z) such that

$$\int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \left| (1 - |w|^2)^k R^k f(w) \right|^p \mathrm{d}v_{\alpha}(w) \le \frac{C}{(1 - |z|^2)^s}$$

for all $z \in \mathbb{B}_n$. Combining this with condition (a), we conclude that

$$\int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{(1-|z|^2)^s \mathrm{d}\mu(w)}{|1-\langle z,w\rangle|^{n+1+\alpha+s}} \le C$$

for all $z \in \mathbb{B}_n$, which, according to Theorem 45, is equivalent to condition (b).

Next assume that condition (b) holds. Then condition (b) of Theorem 45 holds. We proceed to prove the inequality in (30).

Given $f \in A^p_{\alpha}$, we use the atomic decomposition for A^p_{α} (see Theorem 32) to write

$$f(z) = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} c_k \frac{(1 - |a_k|^2)^{b - (n+1+\alpha)/p}}{(1 - \langle z, a_k \rangle)^b}$$

where b is a sufficiently large positive number and

$$\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} |c_k|^p \le C ||f||_{p,\alpha}^p$$

for some positive constant C independent of f. Since 0 , we have

$$|f(z)|^p \le \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} |c_k|^p \frac{(1-|a_k|^2)^{pb-(n+1+\alpha)}}{|1-\langle z, a_k \rangle|^{pb}},$$

and so

$$\int_{\mathbb{B}_n} |f(z)|^p \mathrm{d}\mu(z) \le \sum_{k=1}^\infty |c_k|^p (1-|a_k|^2)^{pb-(n+1+\alpha)} \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{\mathrm{d}\mu(z)}{|1-\langle z, a_k \rangle|^{pb}}.$$

Apply condition (b) of Theorem 45 to the last integral above. We obtain C' > 0 (a constant independent of f) such that

$$\int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \left| f(z) \right|^p \mathrm{d}\mu(z) \le C' \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} |c_k|^p \le CC' \|f\|_{p,\alpha}^p$$

This completes the proof of the theorem.

COROLLARY 47. – If $\alpha > -1$ and p > 0, then the following two conditions are equivalent for a positive Borel measure μ on \mathbb{B}_n .

(a) There exists a constant C > 0 such that, for all $f \in A^p_{\alpha}$,

$$\int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \left| f(z) \right|^p \mathrm{d}\mu(z) \le C \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \left| f(z) \right|^p \mathrm{d}v_\alpha(z).$$

(b) There exists a constant C > 0 such that, for all r > 0 and $\zeta \in \mathbb{S}_n$,

$$\mu(Q_r(\zeta)) \le Cr^{n+1+\alpha}.$$

Now assume that condition (b) holds and $f \in A^p_{\alpha}$ for some p > 1. Then the function $g = f^N$ belongs to A^q_{α} , where N is any positive integer and q = p/N. We choose N large enough so that 0 < q < 1. Then

$$\int_{\mathbb{B}_n} |g(z)|^q \mathrm{d}\mu(z) \le C \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} |g(z)|^q \mathrm{d}v_{\alpha}(z),$$

where C is a positive constant independent of g. This is the same as

$$\int_{\mathbb{B}_n} |f(z)|^p \mathrm{d}\mu(z) \le C \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} |f(z)|^p \mathrm{d}v_{\alpha}(z).$$

and the corollary is proved.

Let $\beta(z, w)$ be the distance between z and w in the Bergman metric of \mathbb{B}_n . For any R > 0 and $a \in \mathbb{B}_n$ we write

$$D(a,R) = \{ z \in \mathbb{B}_n : \beta(z,a) < R \}.$$

When $\alpha > -1$, the condition

$$\mu(Q_r(\zeta)) \leq Cr^{n+1+\alpha}, \quad r > 0, \ \zeta \in \mathbb{S}_n,$$

is equivalent to the condition

$$\mu(D(a,R)) \le C_R (1-|a|^2)^{n+1+\alpha}, \quad a \in \mathbb{B}_n.$$

See Lemma 5.23 and Corollary 5.24 of [71] (note that the definition of $Q_r(\zeta)$ in [71] is different from its definition in this paper). It can be shown that these two conditions are no longer equivalent when $\alpha \leq -1$. In fact, if f is a function in the Bloch space that is not in BMOA, then the measure

$$\mathrm{d}\mu(z) = \left|Rf(z)\right|^2 \left(1 - |z|^2\right) \mathrm{d}v(z)$$

satisfies

$$\sup_{r,\zeta} \frac{\mu(Q_r(\zeta))}{r^n} = \infty \quad \text{and} \quad \sup_{a \in \mathbb{B}_n} \frac{\mu(D(a,R))}{(1-|a|^2)^n} < \infty.$$

Recall that the Hardy space H^p , where 0 , consists of holomorphic functions <math>f in \mathbb{B}_n such that

$$\|f\|_p^p = \sup_{0 < r < 1} \int_{\mathbb{S}_n} \left| f(r\zeta) \right|^p \mathrm{d}\sigma(\zeta) < \infty,$$

where $d\sigma$ is the normalized surface area measure on \mathbb{S}_n . It is well known that every function $f \in H^p$ has a finite radial limit at almost every point on \mathbb{S}_n . If we write

$$f(\zeta) = \lim_{r \to 1^{-}} f(r\zeta), \quad \zeta \in \mathbb{S}_n,$$

then we actually have

$$\|f\|_p^p = \int_{\mathbb{S}_n} |f(\zeta)|^p \mathrm{d}\sigma(\zeta).$$

It is known that the following two conditions are equivalent for a positive Borel measure μ on \mathbb{B}_n ; see Hörmander [32], Power [45], or Zhu [71].

(a) There exists a constant C > 0 such that, for all $f \in H^p$,

$$\int_{\mathbb{B}_n} |f(z)|^p \mathrm{d}\mu(z) \le C \int_{\mathbb{S}_n} |f(\zeta)|^p \mathrm{d}\sigma(\zeta).$$

(b) There exists a constant C > 0 such that, for all r > 0 and $\zeta \in \mathbb{S}_n$,

$$\mu(Q_r(\zeta)) \le Cr^n$$

COROLLARY 48. – Suppose $\alpha = -1$, $0 , and <math>\mu$ is a positive Borel measure on \mathbb{B}_n . Then the following two conditions are equivalent.

(a) There exists a constant C > 0 such that, for all $f \in A^p_{\alpha}$,

$$\int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \left| f(z) \right|^p \mathrm{d}\mu(z) \le C \|f\|_{p,\alpha}^p$$

(b) There exists a constant C > 0 such that, for all r > 0 and $\zeta \in \mathbb{S}_n$,

$$\mu(Q_r(\zeta)) \le Cr^n.$$

Proof. – That (a) implies (b) follows from the first part of the proof of Theorem 46. To show that condition (b) implies (a), we notice that $A_{-1}^2 = H^2$, so the case p = 2 follows from the characterization of Carleson measures for Hardy spaces. The case $0 follows from Theorem 46. The case of <math>1 \le p \le 2$ then follows from complex interpolation.

PROPOSITION 49. – Let μ be a positive Borel measure on \mathbb{B}_n . If $n + 1 + \alpha < 0$ and $0 , or if <math>n + 1 + \alpha = 0$ and 0 , then the following two conditions are equivalent.

(a) There exists a constant C > 0 such that, for all $f \in A^p_{\alpha}$,

$$\int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \left| f(z) \right|^p \mathrm{d}\mu(z) \le C \|f\|_{p,\alpha}^p.$$

(b) The measure μ is finite.

Proof. – Since A^p_{α} contains all constant functions, it is clear that condition (a) implies (b). On the other hand, if μ is a finite positive Borel measure, it follows from Theorems 21 and 22 that A^p_{α} is contained in $L^p(\mathbb{B}_n, d\mu)$. By the closed graph theorem, A^p_{α} is continuously contained in $L^p(\mathbb{B}_n, d\mu)$, so there exists a positive constant C > 0such that, for all $f \in A^p_{\alpha}$,

$$\int_{\mathbb{B}_n} |f|^p \mathrm{d}\mu \le C ||f||_{p,\alpha}^p.$$

As far as the condition

$$\int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \left| f(z) \right|^p \mathrm{d}\mu(z) \le C \|f\|_{p,\alpha}^p, \quad f \in A^p_\alpha,$$

is concerned, the most difficult case is probably when $\alpha = -(n+1)$ and 1 .This case is considered in Arcozzi-Rochberg-Sawyer [7] and complete results are obtained in the range <math>1 . Earlier results dealing with the Besovspaces include Arcozzi [5], Arcozzi-Rochberg-Sawyer [6], Stegenga [54], and Wu [61].

THEOREM 50. – Suppose $0 , <math>\alpha$ is real, and μ is a positive Borel measure on \mathbb{B}_n . Then for any nonnegative integer k with $\alpha + kp > -1$ the following conditions are equivalent.

(a) There is a contant C > 0 such that, for all $f \in A^p_{\alpha}$,

$$\int_{\mathbb{B}_n} |R^k f(w)|^q \mathrm{d}\mu(w) \le C \|f\|_{p,\alpha}^q.$$

(b) For each (or some) s > 0 there is a constant C > 0 such that, for all $z \in \mathbb{B}_n$,

$$\int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{(1-|z|^2)^s}{|1-\langle z,w\rangle|^{s+(n+1+\alpha+kp)q/p}} \mathrm{d}\mu(w) \le C.$$

(c) There is a constant C > 0 such that, for all r > 0 and $\zeta \in (0, 1)$,

$$\mu(Q_r(\zeta)) \le Cr^{(n+1+\alpha+kp)q/p}$$

(d) For each (or some) R > 0 there exists a constant C > 0 such that, for all $a \in \mathbb{B}_n$,

$$\mu(D(a,R)) \le C(1-|a|^2)^{(n+1+\alpha+kp)q/p}.$$

Proof. – Suppose (a) holds. Applying (a) to the functions $f_k(z) = z_k$, $1 \le k \le n$, we see that μ is a finite measure. For a fixed $z \in \mathbb{B}_n$ let

$$h_z(w) = \frac{(1 - |z|^2)^{s/q}}{(1 - \langle w, z \rangle)^{s/q + (n+1+\alpha+k)/p}}$$

and let $f_z(w)$ be an analytic function on \mathbb{B}_n such that

$$R^k f_z(w) = h_z(w) - h_z(0)$$

where $h_z(0) = (1 - |z|^2)^{s/q} \le 1$.

It follows from Proposition 7 that

$$\sup_{z\in\mathbb{B}_n} \|f_z\|_{p,\alpha} \le C.$$

Applying (a) to f_z yields

$$\int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \left| h_z(w) - h_z(0) \right|^q \mathrm{d}\mu(w) \le C.$$

It follows from the elementary inequality

$$|h_z(w)|^q \le 2^q (|h_z(w) - h_z(0)|^q + |h_z(0)|^q)$$

that

$$\int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \left| h_z(w) \right|^q \mathrm{d}\mu(w) \le 2^q \big(C + \mu(\mathbb{B}_n) \big),$$

which gives us (b).

Next assume that (b) holds. Recall that D(z,r) is the Bergman metric ball at z with radius R. By Lemmas 2.24 and 2.20 of [71], we have

$$\begin{split} |R^{k}f(z)|^{p} &\leq \frac{C}{(1-|z|^{2})^{n+1+\alpha+kp}} \int_{D(z,r)} \left| R^{k}f(w) \right|^{p} \mathrm{d}v_{\alpha+kp}(w) \\ &\leq C \int_{D(z,r)} \frac{|R^{k}f(w)|^{p}(1-|w|^{2})^{sp/q+kp}}{|1-\langle w,z\rangle|^{sp/q+n+1+\alpha+kp}} \mathrm{d}v_{\alpha}(w) \\ &\leq C \int_{\mathbb{B}_{n}} \frac{(1-|w|^{2})^{sp/q} \mathrm{d}\lambda(w)}{|1-\langle z,w\rangle|^{sp/q+n+1+\alpha+kp}}, \end{split}$$

where

$$\mathrm{d}\lambda(w) = \left| R^k f(w) \right|^p \left(1 - |w|^2 \right)^{kp} \mathrm{d}v_\alpha(w)$$

is a finite measure on \mathbb{B}_n whenever $f \in A^p_{\alpha}$. In fact, $\lambda(\mathbb{B}_n) \leq C \|f\|_{p,\alpha}^p$ for some constant independent of f.

If p = q, an application of Fubini's theorem to the estimate in the previous paragraph shows that (b) implies (a). If p < q, we write p' = q/p and 1/p' + 1/q' = 1, and apply Hölder's inequality to the estimate in the previous paragraph. The result is

$$\left|R^k f(z)\right|^p \le C \left[\int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{(1-|w|^2)^s d\lambda(w)}{|1-\langle z,w\rangle|^{s+(n+1+\alpha+kp)q/p}}\right]^{1/p'} \left[\lambda(\mathbb{B}_n)\right]^{1/q'}$$

It follows that

$$\left|R^{k}f(z)\right|^{q} \leq C\left(\lambda(\mathbb{B}_{n})\right)^{p'/q'} \int_{\mathbb{B}_{n}} \frac{(1-|w|^{2})^{s} \mathrm{d}\lambda(w)}{|1-\langle z,w\rangle|^{s+(n+1+\alpha+kp)q/p}}$$

We now integrate against the measure $d\mu$, apply Fubini's theorem, and use condition (b) to obtain

$$\int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \left| R^k f(z) \right|^q \mathrm{d}\mu(z) \le C \left(\lambda(\mathbb{B}_n) \right)^{1+p'/q'}.$$

Since $\lambda(\mathbb{B}_n) \leq C \|f\|_{p,\alpha}^p$, we get

$$\int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \left| R^k f(z) \right|^q \mathrm{d}\mu(z) \le C \| f \|_{p,\alpha}^q.$$

This shows that (b) implies (a).

The equivalence of (b) and (c) has already been proved in Theorem 45. Since

$$(n+1+\alpha+kp)q/p \ge n+1+\alpha+kp > n,$$

the equivalence of (c) and (d) follows from the remarks after Corollary 47. This completes the proof of the theorem. $\hfill \Box$

A similar result can be obtained in terms of fractional radial differential operators $R^{s,t}$ instead of R^k above. We omit the details.

Once a certain result concerning Carleson measures is established, it is then relatively easy to formulate and prove its little of version. For example, with the same assumptions in Theorem 50, we can show that the following four conditions are equivalent.

(a) If $\{f_j\}$ is a bounded sequence in A^p_α and $f_j(z) \to 0$ for every $z \in \mathbb{B}_n$, then

$$\lim_{j \to \infty} \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \left| R^k f_j(z) \right|^q \mathrm{d}\mu(z) = 0.$$

(b) For every (or some) s > 0 we have

$$\lim_{z|\to 1^-} \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{(1-|z|^2)^s \mathrm{d}\mu(w)}{|1-\langle z, w \rangle|^{s+(n+1+\alpha+kp)q/p}} = 0.$$

(c) The following limit holds uniformly for $\zeta \in \mathbb{S}_n$:

$$\lim_{r \to 0^+} \frac{\mu(Q_r(\zeta))}{r^{(n+1+\alpha+kp)q/p}} = 0.$$

(d) For every (or some) R > 0 we have

$$\lim_{|a| \to 1^{-}} \frac{\mu(D(a, R))}{(1 - |a|^2)^{(n+1+\alpha+kp)q/p}} = 0.$$

The interested reader should have no trouble filling in the details.

As our next theorem shows, the assumption that $p \leq q$ is essential for Theorem 50. To deal with the case p > q, we associate two functions to any positive Borel measure μ on \mathbb{B}_n . More specifically, for any real γ and s we define

$$B_{s,\gamma}(\mu)(z) = \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{(1-|z|^2)^s \mathrm{d}\mu(w)}{|1-\langle z,w\rangle|^{n+1+s+\gamma}}, \quad z \in \mathbb{B}_n,$$

and for any real γ and positive R we define

$$\widehat{\mu}_{R,\gamma}(z) = rac{\mu(D(z,R))}{(1-|z|^2)^{n+1+\gamma}}, \quad z \in \mathbb{B}_n.$$

If $d\mu(z) = h(z) dv_{\gamma}(z)$, we use the convention that

$$B_{s,\gamma}(h)(z) = B_{s,\gamma}(\mu), \quad \widehat{h}_{R,\gamma}(z) = \widehat{\mu}_{R,\gamma}(z).$$

It is clear that $B_{s,\gamma}(\mu)(z)$ and $\hat{\mu}_{R,\gamma}(z)$ are certain averages of μ near the point z. The function $B_{s,\gamma}(\mu)$ is sometimes called a Berezin transform of μ .

LEMMA 51. – Suppose μ is a positive Borel measure on \mathbb{B}_n . If γ is real, p > 0, and R > 0, then there exists a positive constant C such that

$$\int_{\mathbb{B}_n} |g(z)|^p \mathrm{d}\mu(z) \le C \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} |g(z)|^p \widehat{\mu}_{R,\gamma}(z) \mathrm{d}v_{\gamma}(z)$$

for all holomorphic functions g in \mathbb{B}_n .

Proof. – It follows from Lemma 2.20 and Corollary 2.21 of [71] that

$$(1 - |z|^2)^{n+1} \sim (1 - |w|^2)^{n+1} \sim v(D(z, R)) \sim v(D(w, R))$$

for $w \in D(z, R)$. We use Lemma 2.24 of [71] and Fubini's theorem to obtain

$$\begin{split} \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \left| g(z) \right|^p \mathrm{d}\mu(z) &\leq C_1 \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{\mathrm{d}\mu(z)}{(1-|z|^2)^{n+1}} \int_{D(z,R)} \left| g(w) \right|^p \mathrm{d}v(w) \\ &\leq C_2 \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \mathrm{d}\mu(z) \int_{D(z,R)} \frac{|g(w)|^p \mathrm{d}v_{\gamma}(w)}{(1-|w|^2)^{n+1+\gamma}} \\ &= C_2 \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{|g(w)|^p \mathrm{d}v_{\gamma}(w)}{(1-|w|^2)^{n+1+\gamma}} \int_{D(w,R)} \mathrm{d}\mu(z) \\ &= C_3 \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} |g(w)|^p \widehat{\mu}_{R,\gamma}(w) \mathrm{d}v_{\gamma}(w), \end{split}$$

which proves the desired estimate.

LEMMA 52. – Let μ be a positive Borel measure on \mathbb{B}_n . If γ is real, s is real, and R > 0, then there exists a constant C > 0 such that $B_{s,\gamma}(\mu) \leq CB_{s,\gamma}(\widehat{\mu}_{R,\gamma})$.

Proof. – For $w \in \mathbb{B}_n$, apply Lemma 51 to the function

$$g(z) = \frac{(1 - |w|^2)^s}{(1 - \langle z, w \rangle)^{n+1+s}}$$

with p = 1. The desired result follows.

LEMMA 53. – Let μ be a positive Borel measure on \mathbb{B}_n . If γ and s are real and R is positive, then there exists a positive constant C such that $\hat{\mu}_{R,\gamma} \leq CB_{s,\gamma}(\mu)$.

Proof. – Once again, we have $1 - |z|^2 \sim 1 - |w|^2 \sim |1 - \langle z, w \rangle|$ for $w \in D(z, R)$. It follows that

$$\widehat{\mu}_{R,\gamma}(z) = \frac{\mu(D(z,R))}{(1-|z|^2)^{n+1+\gamma}} \le C \int_{D(z,R)} \frac{(1-|z|^2)^s \mathrm{d}\mu(w)}{|1-\langle z,w\rangle|^{n+1+s+\gamma}} \le CB_{s,\gamma}(\mu)(z),$$

proving the desired estimate.

THEOREM 54. – Let $0 < q < p < \infty$ and α be any real number, and let μ be a positive Borel measure on \mathbb{B}_n . Then for any nonnegative integer k with $\alpha + kp > -1$ the following conditions are equivalent.

 \square

(a) There is a constant C > 0 such that, for all $f \in A^p_{\alpha}$,

$$\int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \left| R^k f(w) \right|^q \mathrm{d}\mu(w) \le C \|f\|_{p,\alpha}^q$$

(b) For any bounded sequence $\{f_j\}$ in A^p_α with $f_j(z) \to 0$ for every $z \in \mathbb{B}_n$,

$$\lim_{j \to \infty} \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} |R^k f_j(w)|^q d\mu(w) = 0.$$

- (c) For any fixed r > 0 the function $\widehat{\mu}_{r,\gamma}$ is in $L^{p/(p-q)}(\mathbb{B}_n, \mathrm{d}v_{\gamma})$, where $\gamma = \alpha + kp$.
- (d) For any fixed s > 0 the function $B_{s,\gamma}(\mu)$ is in $L^{p/(p-q)}(\mathbb{B}_n, \mathrm{d}v_{\gamma})$, where $\gamma = \alpha + kp$.

Proof. – Let s > 0 satisfy $s + \alpha + kq > -1$. It follows from Lemmas 2.24 and 2.20 of [71] that

$$\begin{split} R^{k}f(z)|^{q} &\leq \frac{C}{(1-|z|^{2})^{n+1+s+\alpha+kq}} \int_{D(z,r)} \left| R^{k}f(w) \right|^{q} \mathrm{d}v_{s+\alpha+kq}(w) \\ &\leq C \int_{D(z,r)} \frac{|R^{k}f(w)|^{q}(1-|w|^{2})^{s+kq}}{|1-\langle w,z\rangle|^{n+1+s+\alpha+kq}} \mathrm{d}v_{\alpha}(w) \\ &= C \int_{\mathbb{B}_{n}} \frac{|R^{k}f(w)|^{q}(1-|w|^{2})^{s+kq}}{|1-\langle w,z\rangle|^{n+1+s+\alpha+kq}} \chi_{D(z,r)}(w) \mathrm{d}v_{\alpha}(w), \end{split}$$

where $\chi_E(z)$ denotes the characteristic function of a set *E*. Integrate with respect to $d\mu$, apply Fubini's theorem, and use Lemma 2.20 of [71]. We see that the integral

$$\int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \left| R^k f(z) \right|^q \mathrm{d}\mu(z)$$

is dominated by

$$\int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{\mu(D(w,r))}{(1-|w|^2)^{n+1+\alpha+kq}} |R^k f(w)|^q (1-|w|^2)^{kq} \mathrm{d}v_\alpha(w)$$

If condition (c) holds, then an application of Hölder's inequality yields

$$\begin{split} \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} |R^k f|^q \mathrm{d}\mu &\leq C \|f\|_{p,\alpha}^q \Big[\int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \Big(\frac{\mu(D(w,r))}{(1-|w|^2)^{n+1+\alpha+kq}} \Big)^{p/(p-q)} \mathrm{d}v_\alpha \Big]^{1-q/p} \\ &= C \|f\|_{p,\alpha}^q \Big[\int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \Big(\frac{\mu(D(w,r))}{(1-|w|^2)^{n+1+\alpha+kp}} \Big)^{p/(p-q)} \mathrm{d}v_{\alpha+kp} \Big]^{1-q/p} \\ &\leq C \|f\|_{p,\alpha}^q. \end{split}$$

This proves that (c) implies (a).

Since $1 - |z| \sim 1 - |w|$ for $z \in D(w, r)$ (see Lemma 2.20 of [71]), there exists a constant $\delta > 0$ such that

$$\delta^{-1} \le \frac{1 - |z|^2}{1 - |w|^2} \le \delta$$

for all $z \in D(w, r)$. For 0 < t < 1 let

$$A_t = \left\{ z \in \mathbb{B}_n : 1 - |z|^2 < t \right\}$$

Then the conditions $z \in A_t$ and $w \in D(z, r)$ imply that $w \in A_{\delta t}$.

Let $\{f_j\}$ be a bounded sequence in A^p_{α} with $f_j(z) \to 0$ for every $z \in \mathbb{B}_n$. Then a normal family argument shows that $f_j(z) \to 0$ uniformly on every compact subset of \mathbb{B}_n . Using the estimate from the first paragraph of this proof together with Fubini's theorem, we see that the integral

$$\int_{A_t} \left| R^k f_j(z) \right|^q \mathrm{d}\mu(z)$$

is dominated by

$$\int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \left| R^k f_j(w) \right|^q \left(1 - |w|^2 \right)^{s+kq} \mathrm{d}v_\alpha(w) \int_{A_t} \frac{\chi_{D(w,r)} \mathrm{d}\mu(z)}{|1 - \langle z, w \rangle|^{n+1+s+\alpha+kq}}$$

According to the previous paragraph,

$$\chi_{A_t \cap D(w,r)}(z) = 0, \quad z \in \mathbb{B}_n,$$

unless $w \in A_{\delta t}$. It follows that the integral

$$\int_{A_t} |R^k f_j(z)|^q \mathrm{d}\mu(z)$$

is dominated by

$$\int_{A_{\delta t}} \left| R^k f_j(w) \right|^q \left(1 - |w|^2 \right)^{s+kq} \mathrm{d}v_\alpha(w) \int_{A_t} \frac{\chi_{D(w,r)} \mathrm{d}\mu(z)}{|1 - \langle z, w \rangle|^{n+1+s+\alpha+kq}}$$

Since $|1 - \langle z, w \rangle|$ is comparable to $1 - |w|^2$ whenever $z \in D(w, r)$, we get

$$\int_{A_t} |R^k f_j|^q d\mu \le C \int_{A_{\delta t}} \frac{\mu(D(w,r))}{(1-|w|^2)^{n+1+\alpha+kq}} |R^k f_j(w)|^q (1-|w|^2)^{kq} dv_{\alpha}.$$

By Hölder's inequlity,

$$\int_{A_t} |R^k f_j|^q \mathrm{d}\mu \le C \|f_j\|_{p,\alpha}^q \Big[\int_{A_{\delta t}} \Big(\frac{\mu(D(w,r))}{(1-|w|^2)^{n+1+\alpha+kp}} \Big)^{\frac{p}{p-q}} \mathrm{d}v_{\alpha+kp} \Big]^{1-q/p}$$

If the function

$$\widehat{\mu}_{r,\gamma}(z) = rac{\mu(D(z,r))}{(1-|z|^2)^{n+1+lpha+kp}}$$

is in $L^{p/(p-q)}(\mathbb{B}_n, \mathrm{d}v_{\alpha+kp})$, then for any given $\epsilon > 0$ there is a $t \in (0,1)$ such that

$$\int_{A_{\delta t}} \left(\frac{\mu(D(w,r))}{(1-|w|^2)^{n+1+\alpha+kp}} \right)^{p/(p-q)} \mathrm{d}v_{\alpha+kp}(w) < \epsilon^{p/(p-q)}$$

Thus for such t,

$$\int_{A_t} \left| R^k f_j(z) \right|^q \mathrm{d}\mu(z) \le C\epsilon.$$

MÉMOIRES DE LA SMF 115

Since $\mathbb{B}_n \setminus A_t$ is a compact subset of \mathbb{B}_n and $f_j \to 0$ uniformly on every compact subset of \mathbb{B}_n , we have

$$\lim_{j \to \infty} \int_{\mathbb{B}_n \setminus A_t} \left| R^k f_j(z) \right|^q \mathrm{d}\mu(z) = 0.$$

Combining this with an earlier estimate we get

$$\limsup_{j \to \infty} \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \left| R^k f_j(z) \right|^q \mathrm{d}\mu(z) \le C\epsilon.$$

Since ϵ is arbitrary, we must have

$$\lim_{j \to \infty} \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \left| R^k f_j(z) \right|^q \mathrm{d}\mu(z) = 0.$$

This shows that (c) implies (b) as well.

The proof of that (b) implies (a) is standard. In fact, if (a) is not true, then there is a sequence $\{f_j\}$ in A^p_{α} such that $\|f_j\|_{p,\alpha} \leq 1$ and

(32)
$$\lim_{j \to \infty} \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \left| R^k f_j(w) \right|^q \mathrm{d}\mu(w) = \infty.$$

Since $||f_j||_{p,\alpha} \leq 1$, $\{f_j\}$ is uniformly bounded on compact subsets of \mathbb{B}_n . By Montel's Theorem, there is a subsequence of $\{f_j\}$, which we still denote by $\{f_j\}$, that converges uniformly on compact subsets of \mathbb{B}_n to a holomorphic function f in \mathbb{B}_n . It follows from Fatou's lemma that $f \in A^p_{\alpha}$ with $||f||_{p,\alpha} \leq 1$. In particular,

$$||f_j - f||_{p,\alpha} \le \max(2, 2^{1/p})$$

and $f_j - f \to 0$ uniformly on compact subsets of \mathbb{B}_n . If condition (b) holds, then

$$\lim_{j \to \infty} \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \left| R^k f_j(w) - R^k f(w) \right|^q \mathrm{d}\mu(w) = 0,$$

which contradicts (32). This shows that (b) implies (a).

To prove that (a) implies (c), we follow the proof of Theorem 1 in Luecking [39]. Let $\{a_j\}$ be the sequence of points in \mathbb{B}_n from Theorem 2.30 in [71]. Let b be a real number such that

$$b > n \max\left(1, \frac{1}{p}\right) + \frac{1+\alpha}{p}$$

Let

$$g_j(z) = \frac{(1 - |a_j|^2)^{b - (n+1+\alpha)/p}}{(1 - \langle z, a_j \rangle)^{b+k}} = \frac{(1 - |a_j|^2)^{(b+k) - (n+1+\alpha+kp)/p}}{(1 - \langle z, a_j \rangle)^{b+k}}$$

Let $\{c_j\} \in \ell^p$. Then by Theorem 2.30 of [71], we have

$$\sum_{j=1}^{\infty} c_j g_j(z) \in A^p_{\alpha+kp}.$$

Let

$$h_j(z) = R^{-k} (g_j(z) - g_j(0))$$
 and $f(z) = \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} c_j h_j(z).$

Then

$$R^{k}f(z) = \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} c_{j}R^{k}h_{j}(z) = \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} c_{j}(g_{j}(z) - g_{j}(0)).$$

It is clear that $R^k f \in A^p_{\alpha+kp}$, and so $f \in A^p_{\alpha}$. Moreover,

$$||f||_{p,\alpha}^p \le C \sum_{j=1}^\infty |c_j|^p,$$

where C is a positive constant independent of f. If condition (a) holds, then

$$\int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \left| R^k f(z) \right|^q \mathrm{d}\mu(z) \le C \|f\|_{p,\alpha}^q \le C \Big(\sum_{j=1}^\infty |c_j|^p \Big)^{q/p}.$$

Therefore,

$$\begin{split} &\int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \Big| \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} c_j g_j \Big|^q \mathrm{d}\mu \\ &\leq 2^q \Big[\int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \Big| \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} c_j g_j - \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} c_j g_j(0) \Big|^q \mathrm{d}\mu + \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \Big| \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} c_j g_j(0) \Big|^q \mathrm{d}\mu \Big] \\ &\leq 2^q \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \Big| R^k f(z) \Big|^q \mathrm{d}\mu(z) + 2^q \mu(\mathbb{B}_n) \Big(\sum_{j=1}^{\infty} |c_j|^p \Big)^{q/p} \leq C \Big(\sum_{j=1}^{\infty} |c_j|^p \Big)^{q/p} \end{split}$$

Let $r_j(t)$ be a sequence of Rademacher functions (see page 336 of Lucking [39]). If we replace c_j by $r_j(t)c_j$, the above inequality is still true, so

$$\int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \left| \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} r_j(t) c_j g_j(z) \right|^q \mathrm{d}\mu(z) \le C \left(\sum_{j=1}^{\infty} |c_j|^p \right)^{q/p}$$

Integrating with respect to t from 0 to 1, applying Fubini's theorem, and invoking Khinchine's inequality (see Luecking [39]), we obtain

$$A_q \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \Big(\sum_{j=1}^{\infty} |c_j|^2 |g_j(z)|^2 \Big)^{q/2} \mathrm{d}\mu(z) \le C \Big(\sum_{j=1}^{\infty} |c_j|^p \Big)^{q/p},$$

where A_p is the constant that appears in Khinchine's inequality. The rest of the proof is exactly the same as the one in Lucking [39].

The condition in (d) first appeared in Choe-Koo-Yi [19], where it was used for the embedding of harmonic Bergman spaces into $L^q(d\mu)$. Our proof of the equivalence of (c) and (d) follows the method in [19]. In fact, if $\hat{\mu}_{r,\gamma}$ is in $L^{p/(p-q)}(\mathbb{B}_n, dv_{\gamma})$, then an application of Proposition 8 shows that the function $B_{s,\gamma}(\hat{\mu}_{r,\gamma})$ is also in $L^{p/(p-q)}(\mathbb{B}_n, dv_{\gamma})$. By Lemma 52, we must have $B_{s,\gamma}(\mu) \in L^{p/(p-q)}(\mathbb{B}_n, dv_{\gamma})$. This

CHAPTER 14

COEFFICIENT MULTIPLIERS

Recall from Theorem 12 that for $t = (\alpha - \beta)/p$, the operator $R_{s,t}$ maps A^p_{α} boundedly onto A^p_{β} . In terms of Taylor coefficients, we have

$$R_{s,t}\left(\sum_{m}a_{m}z^{m}\right) = \sum_{m}c_{m}a_{m}z^{m},$$

where

$$c_m = \frac{\Gamma(n+1+s+t)\Gamma(n+1+|m|+s)}{\Gamma(n+1+s)\Gamma(n+1+|m|+s+t)}$$

Therefore, the operator $R_{s,t}$ is just a coefficient multiplier on holomorphic functions in \mathbb{B}_n . When α and β are real, an application of Stirling's formula shows that

$$c_m \sim \frac{1}{|m|^t}$$

as $|m| \to \infty$. We are going to show that this result still holds if we replace the multiplier sequence $\{c_m\}$ above by the more explicit multiplier sequence $\{|m|^{(\beta-\alpha)/p}\}$. A similar result will be proved for the generalized Lipschitz spaces Λ_{α} .

We introduce two methods, one based on complex interpolation and the other based on atomic decomposition.

LEMMA 55. – Suppose t is complex and k is a postive integer large enough so that k + Re t > 0. There exists a constant c such that

$$\int_0^1 R^k f(rz) \left(\log \frac{1}{r} \right)^{t+k-1} \frac{\mathrm{d}r}{r} = c \sum_{|m|>0} |m|^{-t} a_m z^m$$

for all holomorphic $f(z) = \sum_{m} a_m z^m$ in \mathbb{B}_n .

Proof. – Fix $z \in \mathbb{B}_n$. We want to evaluate the integral

$$I(f,z) = \int_0^1 R^k f(rz) \left(\log\frac{1}{r}\right)^{t+k-1} \frac{\mathrm{d}r}{r}$$

in terms of the Taylor expansion of f. If $f(z) = \sum_m a_m z^m$, then

$$R^k f(z) = \sum_{|m|>0} |m|^k a_m z^m,$$

 \mathbf{so}

$$I(f,z) = \sum_{|m|>0} |m|^k a_m z^m \int_0^1 r^{|m|-1} \left(\log\frac{1}{r}\right)^{t+k-1} \mathrm{d}r.$$

Making the change of variables $r = e^{-s}$, we obtain

$$I(f,z) = \sum_{|m|>0} |m|^k a_m z^m \int_0^\infty e^{-|m|s} s^{t+k-1} ds.$$

Let u = |m|s. Then

$$I(f,z) = c \sum_{|m|>0} |m|^{-t} a_m z^m,$$

where $c = \int_0^\infty e^{-u} u^{t+k-1} du$.

Given any real α and β , we are going to fix a sufficiently large positive integer k and consider operators on $H(\mathbb{B}_n)$ of the form

$$T_{\zeta}f(z) = \int_0^1 R^k f(rz) \left(\log\frac{1}{r}\right)^{(\alpha-\beta)(1-\zeta)+k-1} \frac{\mathrm{d}r}{r}$$

where $0 \leq \operatorname{Re} \zeta \leq 1$.

LEMMA 56. – If $\operatorname{Re} \zeta = 0$, the operator T_{ζ} maps A^1_{α} boundedly into A^1_{β} .

Proof. - Let N be a sufficiently large positive integer. We have

$$R^{N}T_{\zeta}f(z) = \int_{0}^{1} R^{N+k}f(rz) \left(\log\frac{1}{r}\right)^{(\alpha-\beta)(1-\zeta)+k-1}\frac{\mathrm{d}r}{r}$$

If $\operatorname{Re} \zeta = 0$, it follows from Fubini's theorem that the integral

$$I = \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} |R^N T_{\zeta} f(z)| (1 - |z|^2)^{N+\beta} \mathrm{d}v(z)$$

does not exceed

$$\int_0^1 \left(\log\frac{1}{r}\right)^{\alpha-\beta+k-1} \frac{\mathrm{d}r}{r} \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \left| R^{N+k} f(rz) \right| \left(1-|z|^2\right)^{N+\beta} \mathrm{d}v(z).$$

Let w = rz in the inner integral. Then I does not exceed the integral

$$\int_0^1 \left(\log\frac{1}{r}\right)^{\alpha-\beta+k-1} \frac{\mathrm{d}r}{r^{2n+1}} \int_{|w|< r} \left| R^{N+k} f(w) \right| \left(1 - \frac{|w|^2}{r^2}\right)^{N+\beta} \mathrm{d}v(w).$$

Since $1 - |w|^2/r^2 \le 1 - |w|^2$ for all |w| < r, we have

$$I \le \int_0^1 \left(\log \frac{1}{r} \right)^{\alpha - \beta + k - 1} \frac{\mathrm{d}r}{r^{2n+1}} \int_{|w| < r} \left| R^{N+k} f(w) \right| \left(1 - |w|^2 \right)^{N+\beta} \mathrm{d}v(w).$$

We interchange the order of integration and obtain

$$I \le \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} |R^{N+k} f(w)| (1-|w|^2)^{N+\beta} \mathrm{d}v(w) \int_{|w|}^1 \left(\log \frac{1}{r}\right)^{\alpha-\beta+k-1} \frac{\mathrm{d}r}{r^{2n+1}} \cdot \frac{$$

It is easy to see that there exists a constant C > 0 such that

$$\int_{|w|}^{1} \left(\log \frac{1}{r}\right)^{\alpha-\beta+k-1} \frac{\mathrm{d}r}{r^{2n+1}} \le C \frac{(1-|w|^2)^{\alpha-\beta+k}}{|w|^{2n}}$$

for all $w \in \mathbb{B}_n$, so

$$I \le C \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} |R^{N+k} f(w)| (1-|w|^2)^{N+k+\alpha} \frac{\mathrm{d}v(w)}{|w|^{2n}} dv(w) + C \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} |R^{N+k} f(w)| dw(w) +$$

Since $|R^{N+k}f(w)| \le C|w|$ near the origin and

$$\int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{\mathrm{d} v(w)}{|w|^{2n-1}} < \infty$$

by polar coordinates, we can find another constant C' > 0, independent of f, such that

$$I \le C \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \left| R^{N+k} f(w) \right| \left(1 - |w|^2 \right)^{N+k} \mathrm{d}v_\alpha(w).$$

This completes the proof of the lemma.

LEMMA 57. – If $\operatorname{Re} \zeta = 1$, the operator T_{ζ} is bounded on the Bloch space \mathcal{B} .

Proof. – We have

$$RT_{\zeta}f(z) = \int_{0}^{1} R^{k+1}f(rz) \left(\log\frac{1}{r}\right)^{(\alpha-\beta)(1-\zeta)+k-1}\frac{\mathrm{d}r}{r}$$

If $\operatorname{Re} \zeta = 1$ and $f \in \mathcal{B}$, then

$$\begin{aligned} \left| RT_{\zeta}f(z) \right| &\leq \int_{0}^{1} \left| R^{k+1}f(rz) \right| \left(\log \frac{1}{r} \right)^{k-1} \frac{\mathrm{d}r}{r} \\ &\leq C \int_{0}^{1} \left(1 - r^{2}|z|^{2} \right)^{-(k+1)} \left(\log \frac{1}{r} \right)^{k-1} \mathrm{d}r \leq C' \left(1 - |z|^{2} \right)^{-1}, \end{aligned}$$

where C and C' are positive constants independent of z. This shows that $T_{\zeta}f$ is in the Bloch space.

LEMMA 58. – Suppose s > -1, t is a positive integer, and

$$I(z) = \int_0^1 \frac{(1-x)^s \mathrm{d}x}{(1-xz)^{s+t+1}}, \quad z \in \mathbb{D}.$$

There exists a polynomial p(z) such that

$$I(z) = \frac{p(z)}{(1-z)^t}, \quad z \in \mathbb{D}.$$

Proof. – We compute the integral I(z) with the help of Taylor expansion.

$$I(z) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{\Gamma(k+s+t+1)}{k! \, \Gamma(s+t+1)} z^k \int_0^1 x^k (1-x)^s \mathrm{d}x$$

Since

$$\int_0^1 x^k (1-x)^s dx = \frac{\Gamma(k+1)\Gamma(s+1)}{\Gamma(k+s+2)},$$

we have

$$I(z) = \frac{1}{s+1} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{\Gamma(s+2)\Gamma(k+s+t+1)}{\Gamma(s+t+1)\Gamma(k+s+2)} z^k$$
$$= \frac{1}{s+1} R^{s,t-1} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} z^k = \frac{1}{s+1} R^{s,t-1} \frac{1}{1-z}$$

Since t is a positive integer, the operator $R^{s,t-1}$ is a linear differential operator of order t-1 on $H(\mathbb{D})$ with polynomial coefficients (see Proposition 4). It follows that there exists a polynomial p(z) such that

$$I(z) = \frac{p(z)}{(1-z)^t}$$

This completes the proof of the lemma.

We can now prove the first main result of the chapter.

THEOREM 59. – Suppose α is real, β is real, and p > 0. Then the operator T defined on $H(\mathbb{B}_n)$ by

$$Tf(z) = f(0) + \sum_{|m|>0} |m|^{(\beta-\alpha)/p} a_m z^m, \quad f(z) = \sum_m a_m z^m,$$

maps A^p_{α} boundedly onto A^p_{β} .

Proof. – By switching the roles of α and β , it is enough for us to show that the operator T maps A^p_{α} into A^p_{β} .

When p = 1, the desired result follows from Lemmas 55 and 56.

First suppose that 1 with <math>1/p + 1/q = 1. Let $\theta = 1/q$. Then

$$\frac{1}{p} = \frac{1-\theta}{1} + \frac{\theta}{\infty}$$

Because the dual space of A^p_β can be identified with A^q_β under the integral pairing

$$\langle f,g\rangle = \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} (1-|z|^2)^N R^{s,N} f(z) \overline{(1-|z|^2)^N R^{s,N} g(z)} \mathrm{d} v_\beta(z),$$

where N is a sufficiently large positive number, it suffices for us to show that there exists a constant C > 0, independent of f and g, such that

(33)
$$\left| \langle Tf, g \rangle \right| \le C \|f\|_{p,\alpha} \|g\|_{q,\beta}$$

MÉMOIRES DE LA SMF 115

for all $f \in A^p_{\alpha}$ and $g \in A^q_{\beta}$.

Fix a unit vector f in A^p_{α} and fix a polynomial g that is a unit vector in A^q_{β} (recall that the polynomials are dense in A^q_{β}). It follows from the complex interpolation relation (see Theorems 38) $[A^1_{\alpha}, \mathcal{B}]_{\theta} = A^p_{\alpha}$ that there exist functions f_{ζ} , where $\zeta \in \overline{S}$, such that

- (a) $f_{\theta} = f;$
- (b) $\zeta \mapsto f_{\zeta}$ is a bounded continuous function from \overline{S} into $A^1_{\alpha} + \mathcal{B}$ whose restriction to S is analytic;
- (c) $\zeta \mapsto f_{\zeta}$ is a bounded continuous function from L(S) into A^1_{α} with $||f_{\zeta}||_{1,\alpha} \leq C$;
- (d) $\zeta \mapsto f_{\zeta}$ is a bounded continuous function from R(S) into \mathscr{B} with $||f_{\zeta}||_{\mathscr{B}} \leq C$.

Here C is a positive constant independent of f.

Consider the function

$$F(\zeta) = \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \left(1 - |z|^2 \right)^N R^{s,N} T_{\zeta} f_{\zeta}(z) g_{\zeta}(z) \mathrm{d} v_{\beta}(z),$$

where $\zeta \in \overline{S}$ and

$$g_{\zeta}(z) = \frac{\overline{R^{s,N}g(z)}}{|R^{s,N}g(z)|} \left[(1-|z|^2)^N |R^{s,N}g(z)| \right]^{q\zeta}.$$

Because g is a polynomial, the function F is bounded and continuous on \overline{S} and its restriction to S is analytic. When $\zeta = \theta$, it follows from Lemma 55 that $F(\theta) = \langle Tf, g \rangle$.

When $\operatorname{Re} \zeta = 0$, it follows from Lemma 56 that T_{ζ} maps A^{1}_{α} boundedly into A^{1}_{β} , so there exists a positive constant C_{0} such that

$$||T_{\zeta}f_{\zeta}||_{1,\beta} \le C_0 ||f_{\zeta}||_{1,\alpha} \le C_0 C$$

for all $\operatorname{Re} \zeta = 0$. Thus there exists a constant $M_0 > 0$ (independent of $f, g, \text{ and } \zeta$) such that, for all $\operatorname{Re} \zeta = 0$,

$$\left|F(\zeta)\right| \leq \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \left(1 - |z|^2\right)^N \left|R^{s,N} T_{\zeta} f_{\zeta}(z)\right| \mathrm{d}v_{\beta}(z) \leq M_0.$$

When $\operatorname{Re} \zeta = 1$, it follows from Lemma 57 that T_{ζ} is bounded on the Bloch space, so there exists a positive constant C_1 such that, for all $\operatorname{Re} \zeta = 1$,

$$\|T_{\zeta}f_{\zeta}\|_{\mathscr{B}} \le C_1 \|f_{\zeta}\|_{\mathscr{B}} \le C_1 C_1.$$

We can then find a positive constant M_1 (independent of f, g, and ζ) such that, for all $\operatorname{Re} \zeta = 1$,

$$\left|F(\zeta)\right| \le C_1 \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \left(1 - |z|^2\right)^{Nq} \left|R^{s,N}g(z)\right|^q \mathrm{d}v_\beta(z) \le M_1.$$

It follows from Hadamard's three lines theorem that

$$|F(\theta)| \le M_0^{1-\theta} M_1^{\theta}.$$

Since M_0 and M_1 are independent of f and g, this yields the estimate (33) and proves the theorem for 1 .

Next assume that 0 . By Theorem 32, there exists a positive number <math>b (we can choose b to be as large as we want) and a sequence $\{a_k\}$ in \mathbb{B}_n such that every function $f \in A^p_{\alpha}$ can be written as

$$f(z) = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} c_k f_k(z),$$

with

$$\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} |c_k|^p \le C ||f||_{p,\alpha}^p,$$

where C is a positive constant independent of f and

$$f_k(z) = \frac{(1 - |a_k|^2)^{b - (n+1+\alpha)/p}}{(1 - \langle z, a_k \rangle)^b} \cdot$$

By first considering finite sums and then taking a limit, we may assume that

$$Tf = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} c_k Tf_k.$$

Since 0 , we must have

$$||Tf||_{p,\beta}^{p} \leq \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} |c_{k}|^{p} ||Tf_{k}||_{p,\beta}^{p}$$

Since the sequence $\{f_k\}$ is bounded in A^p_{α} , the proof of the theorem will be complete if we can show that there exists a constant C > 0 such that

$$||Tf||_{p,\beta} \le C ||f||_{p,\alpha}$$

for functions of the form

(34)
$$f(z) = \frac{1}{(1 - \langle z, a \rangle)^b}, \quad a \in \mathbb{B}_n.$$

We fix a sufficiently large positive integer k and apply Lemma 55 to represent the operator T as

$$Tf(z) = f(0) + c \int_0^1 R^k f(rz) \left(\log \frac{1}{r}\right)^{k + (\alpha - \beta)/p - 1} \frac{\mathrm{d}r}{r}$$

Write $R^k = R^{k-1}R$ and take the factor R^{k-1} out of the integral sign. Then

$$Tf(z) = f(0) + cR^{k-1} \int_0^1 \frac{Rf(rz)}{r} \left(\log\frac{1}{r}\right)^{k + (\alpha - \beta)/p - 1} dr$$

We assume that b is chosen so that $b - k - (\alpha - \beta)/p$ is a sufficiently large positive integer. It is easy to see that

$$\left(\frac{\log \frac{1}{r}}{1-r}\right)^{k+(\alpha-\beta)/p-1} = 1 + \sum_{j=1}^{L} b_j (1-r)^j + H(r),$$

where $H(r) = O((1 - r)^L)$ as $r \to 1$. It follows that

$$T = T_0 + T_1 + \dots + T_L + T_{L+1},$$

where

$$T_0 f(z) = f(0) + cR^{k-1} \int_0^1 \frac{Rf(rz)}{r} (1-r)^{k+(\alpha-\beta)-1} dr,$$

and

$$T_j f(z) = c b_j R^{k-1} \int_0^1 \frac{R f(rz)}{r} (1-r)^{k+j+(\alpha-\beta)/p-1} \mathrm{d}r, \quad 1 \le j \le L,$$

and

$$T_{L+1}f(z) = c \int_0^1 R^k f(rz)(1-r)^{k+(\alpha-\beta)/p-1} H(r) \frac{\mathrm{d}r}{r}$$

It then follows from Lemma 58 that there exists a constant C > 0 such that

$$||T_j f||_{p,\beta} \le C ||f||_{p,\alpha}$$

for all $0 \leq j \leq L$ and all functions f given in (34). The same estimate holds for the operator T_{L+1} as well, except this time we do not use Lemma 58, but use the assumption that L is large enough so that

$$R^{N}T_{L+1}f(z) = c \int_{0}^{1} R^{N+k} f(rz)(1-r)^{k+(\alpha-\beta)/p-1}H(r)\frac{\mathrm{d}r}{r}$$

is bounded, where N is any nonnegative integer with $pN + \beta > -1$ and f is given by (34). This proves the case $0 and completes the proof of the theorem. <math>\Box$

As the second main result of this chapter we establish an isomorphism between Λ_{α} and Λ_{β} by a simple coefficient multiplier.

THEOREM 60. – Suppose α and β are real. Then the operator T defined by

$$f(z) = \sum_{m} a_m z^m \mapsto Tf(z) = f(0) + \sum_{|m|>0} a_m |m|^{\alpha-\beta} z^m$$

is an invertible operator from Λ_{α} onto Λ_{β} .

Proof. – By reversing the role of α and β , it suffices for us to show that the operator T maps Λ_{α} boundedly into Λ_{β} .

Given $f \in \Lambda_{\alpha}$, we fix a sufficiently large positive integer k and use Lemma 55 to write

$$Tf(z) = f(0) + c \int_0^1 R^k f(rz) \left(\log\frac{1}{r}\right)^{k-\alpha+\beta-1} \frac{\mathrm{d}r}{r}.$$

If N is another sufficiently large positive integer, then

$$R^{N}Tf(z) = \int_{0}^{1} R^{N+k} f(rz) \left(\log \frac{1}{r}\right)^{k-\alpha+\beta-1} \frac{\mathrm{d}r}{r} \cdot$$

Since $f \in \Lambda_{\alpha}$, it follows from Lemma 15 that

$$\sup_{z \in \mathbb{B}_n} (1 - |z|^2)^{N+k-\alpha} |R^{N+k} f(z)| < \infty.$$

But $R^{N+k}f(0) = 0$, we must also have

$$\sup_{z \in \mathbb{B}_n} (1 - |z|^2)^{N + k - \alpha} \frac{|R^{N + k} f(z)|}{|z|} < \infty$$

So there exists a constant C > 0 such that

$$|R^N Tf(z)| \le C \int_0^1 \left(\log \frac{1}{r}\right)^{k-\alpha+\beta-1} \frac{\mathrm{d}r}{(1-r^2|z|^2)^{N+k-\alpha}}$$

Now the above integral clearly converges near r = 0. When r is away from 0, $\log \frac{1}{r}$ is comparable to $1 - r^2$. So there exists another constant C > 0 such that

$$|R^N Tf(z)| \le C \int_0^1 \frac{(1-r^2)^{k-\alpha+\beta-1} \mathrm{d}r}{(1-r^2|z|^2)^{N+k-\alpha}}$$

An elementary estimate then shows that

$$|R^N T f(z)| \le \frac{C}{(1-|z|^2)^{N-\beta}}$$

for some constant C > 0 and all $z \in \mathbb{B}_n$. This shows that Tf is in Λ_β and completes the proof of the theorem.

We mention that, at least in the case n = 1, the theorem above also follows from Theorem 12 and the asymptotic expansion of a ratio of two gamma functions as given in Tricomi-Erdelyi [58]. In fact, in the one-dimensional case, it is easy to see that if

$$f(z) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} a_k z^k$$

is a function in Λ_{α} , then the sequence $\{k^{\alpha}a_k\}$ is bounded. It is also easy to show that if the sequence $\{k^{\alpha+1}a_k\}$ is bounded, then the function f is in Λ_{α} . This together with the main result of Tricomi-Erdelyi [58] easily gives Theorem 59 above. Coefficients of functions in Bloch and Lipschitz spaces are also studied in Bennet-Stegenga-Timoney [12].

CHAPTER 15

LACUNARY SERIES

One way to construct concrete examples in certain spaces of analytic functions is by using lacunary series. In this chapter we characterize lacunary series in weighted Bergman spaces and Lipschitz spaces.

We say that an analytic function f on \mathbb{B}_n has a lacunary homogeneous expansion if its homogeneous expansion is of the form

$$f(z) = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} f_{m_k}(z),$$

where m_k satisfies the condition

$$\inf_k \frac{m_{k+1}}{m_k} = \lambda > 1.$$

If n = 1, the lacunary homogeneous expansions are just lacunary series in the unit disk. When n > 1, we say a lacunary homogeneous expansion is a lacunary series if every homogeneous polynomial f_{m_k} consists of just one term.

Our first result characterizes a lacunary homogeneous expansion in A^p_{α} .

PROPOSITION 61. – Let $0 , <math>\alpha$ be any real number, and

$$f(z) = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} f_{m_k}(z)$$

be a lacunary homogeneous expansion. Then $f \in A^p_{\alpha}$ if and only if

$$\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} m_k^{-1-\alpha} \|f_{m_k}\|_{H^p}^p < \infty,$$

where

$$\|f\|_{H^p} = \left(\int_{\mathbb{S}_n} |f(\zeta)|^p \,\mathrm{d}\sigma(\zeta)\right)^{1/p}$$

denotes the H^p -norm of f.

Proof. - By Proposition 3 in Yang-Ouyang [64], if

$$g(z) = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} g_{m_k}(z)$$

is a lacunary homogeneous expansion, then $g \in A^p$ if and only if

$$\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} m_k^{-1} \|g_{m_k}\|_{H^p}^p < \infty.$$

Let $f \in A^p_{\alpha}$. By Theorem 10, if s is a real number such that neither n + snor $n + s + (\alpha/p)$ is a negative integer, then $f \in A^p_{\alpha}$ if and only if $R_{s,\alpha/p}f \in A^p$, which, by the above result, is equivalent to

$$\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} m_k^{-1} \|c_{m_k} f_{m_k}\|_{H^p}^p < \infty,$$

where

$$c_{m_k} = \frac{\Gamma(n+1+s+\alpha/p)\Gamma(n+1+m_k+s)}{\Gamma(n+1+s)\Gamma(n+1+m_k+s+\alpha/p)}$$

It follows from Stirling's formula that

$$c_{m_k} \sim m_k^{-\alpha/p}$$

as $k \to \infty$. Thus the above condition is equivalent to

$$\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} m_k^{-1-\alpha} \|f_{m_k}\|_{H^p}^p < \infty.$$

The proof is complete.

The next result characterizes a lacunary series in A^p_{α} .

PROPOSITION 62. – Let $0 , <math>\alpha$ be any real number, and

$$f(z) = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} f_{m_k}(z)$$

be a lacunary series, where

$$f_{m_k}(z) = a_k z_1^{m_{k_1}} \cdots z_n^{m_{k_n}}.$$

Then $f \in A^p_{\alpha}$ if and ony if

$$\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{|a_k|^p \prod_{i=1}^n \Gamma(\frac{1}{2}m_{k_i}p+1)}{m_k^{1+\alpha} \Gamma(\frac{1}{2}m_kp+n)} < \infty.$$

Proof. – Let $\zeta^m = \zeta_1^{m_1} \cdots \zeta_n^{m_n}$ and $|m| = m_1 + \cdots + m_n$. An easy modification of the proof of Lemma 1.11 in [71] shows that

$$\|\zeta^{m}\|_{H^{p}}^{p} = \frac{(n-1)! \prod_{i=1}^{n} \Gamma(\frac{1}{2}m_{i}p+1)}{\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}|m|p+n)}$$

Combining this identity and Proposition 61, we get the desired result.

PROPOSITION 63. – Let α be any real number, let

$$f(z) = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} f_{m_k}(z)$$

be a lacunary homogeneous expansion, and denote by

$$\|f_{m_k}\|_{H^{\infty}} = \sup_{\zeta \in \mathbb{S}_n} |f_{m_k}(\zeta)|$$

Then

(a) $f \in \Lambda_{\alpha}$ if and only if

$$\sup_{k\geq 1} m_k^{\alpha} \|f_{m_k}\|_{H^{\infty}} < \infty.$$

(b) $f \in \Lambda_{\alpha,0}$ if and only if

$$\lim_{k \to \infty} m_k^{\alpha} \| f_{m_k} \|_{H^{\infty}} = 0.$$

Proof. – The results follow easily from Theorem 16, the corresponding result for $\Lambda_{\alpha,0}$, and Propositions 2 and 3 in Wulan-Zhu [62]. We leave the details to the interested reader.

PROPOSITION 64. – Let α be any real number and

$$f(z) = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} f_{m_k}(z)$$

be a lacunary series, where $f_{m_k}(z) = a_k z_1^{m_1} \cdots z_n^{m_{k_n}}$. Then

(a) $f \in \Lambda_{\alpha}$ if and only if

$$\sup_{k\geq 1}m_k^{\alpha}|a_k|\sqrt{\frac{m_{k_1}^{m_{k_1}}\cdots m_{k_n}^{m_{k_n}}}{m_k^{m_k}}}<\infty.$$

(b) $f \in \Lambda_{\alpha,0}$ if and only if

$$\lim_{k \to \infty} m_k^{\alpha} |a_k| \sqrt{\frac{m_{k_1}^{m_{k_1}} \cdots m_{k_n}^{m_{k_n}}}{m_k^{m_k}}} = 0.$$

Proof. – The results follow directly from Proposition 63 and Lemma 4 in Wulan-Zhu [62]. \Box

Several special cases of the main results of this chapter are known. For example, lacunary series in the Bloch space of the unit disk are described in Anderson-Clunie-Pommerenke [3], lacunary series in weighted Bergman spaces A^p_{α} of the unit ball, where $\alpha > -1$, are described in Stević [56], and lacunary series in Bloch and certain Lipschitz spaces of the unit ball are characterized in Wulan-Zhu [62].

CHAPTER 16

INCLUSION RELATIONS

In this chapter we study inclusion relations among weighted Bergman spaces and Lipschitz spaces. From the definition and Proposition 64 it is very easy to see that if $\alpha > \beta$ then $\Lambda_{\alpha} \subset \Lambda_{\beta}$, and the inclusion is strict.

The inclusion relations between weighted Bergman spaces are more complicated in general. Several embedding theorems have been known before, and our results here overlap with some of them; see Aleksandrov [2], Beatrous-Burbea [11], Graham [28], Luecking [39], and Rochberg [46]. We begin with the following simple case.

PROPOSITION 65. – Let $0 , and let <math>\alpha$ and β be any two real numbers satisfying $\alpha < \beta$. Then

$$A^p_\alpha \subset A^p_\beta,$$

and the inclusion is strict.

Proof. – The inclusion is obvious. To prove that the inclusion is strict, we only need to test functions of the form $f_t(z) = (1 - z_1)^t$. See Yang-Ouyang [64] for a similar argument.

To better describe the inclusion relations of Bergman spaces, we introduce the notion of Lipschitz stretch first. More specifically, if X is a space of analytic functions, we define the *Lipschitz stretch* of X as follows:

$$\Lambda(X) = \inf \left\{ \beta - \alpha : \Lambda_{-\alpha} \subset X \subset \Lambda_{-\beta} \right\}.$$

We also call the constants

$$\alpha_0 = \sup \left\{ \alpha : \Lambda_{-\alpha} \subset X \right\}, \quad \beta_0 = \inf \left\{ \beta : X \subset \Lambda_{-\beta} \right\}$$

the lower and upper bounds of the Lipschitz stretch, respectively. A similar concept using Bloch type spaces was introduced in Zhao [65] for spaces of analytic functions in the unit disk. THEOREM 66. – Let $0 and let <math>\alpha$ be any real number. Then for any $\gamma < (1+\alpha)/p$ we have

$$\Lambda_{-\gamma} \subset A^p_\alpha \subset \Lambda_{-(n+1+\alpha)/p}$$

Both inclusions are strict and best possible, where "best possible" means that, for each p and α , the index γ of $\Lambda_{-\gamma}$ on the left-hand side cannot be replaced by a larger number, and the index $(n + 1 + \alpha)/p$ on the right-hand side cannot be replaced by a smaller one.

Proof. – Suppose $f \in A^p_{\alpha}$. Then $R^k f \in A^p_{pk+\alpha}$, where k is a nonnegative integer satisfying $pk + \alpha > -1$. By Theorem 20, there exists a positive constant C such that

$$(1 - |z|^2)^{k + (n+1+\alpha)/p} |R^k f(z)| \le C$$

for all $z \in \mathbb{B}_n$. This means $f \in \Lambda_{-(n+1+\alpha)/p}$, so $A^p_{\alpha} \subset \Lambda_{-(n+1+\alpha)/p}$.

Next suppose $\gamma < (1 + \alpha)/p$ and $f \in \Lambda_{-\gamma}$. Let k be a nonnegative integer such that $k + \gamma > 0$. Then $kp + \alpha > -1$ and $\alpha - p\gamma > -1$, so

$$\begin{split} \int_{\mathbb{B}_{n}} \left(1 - |z|^{2}\right)^{pk} \left|R^{k} f(z)\right|^{p} \mathrm{d}v_{\alpha}(z) \\ &\leq \sup_{z \in \mathbb{B}_{n}} \left((1 - |z|^{2})^{k + \gamma} |R^{k} f(z)|\right)^{p} \int_{\mathbb{B}_{n}} \left(1 - |z|^{2}\right)^{-p\gamma} \mathrm{d}v_{\alpha}(z) \\ &\leq C \sup_{z \in \mathbb{B}_{n}} \left((1 - |z|^{2})^{k + \gamma} |R^{k} f(z)|\right)^{p}. \end{split}$$

Thus $\Lambda_{-\gamma} \subset A^p_{\alpha}$.

We only give a sketch of the rest of the proof since it is similar to the argument used in Yang-Ouyang [64]. For t > 0 let k be a nonnegative integer such that $k + \gamma > 0$. Since the radial derivative is an invertible operator on the space of holomorphic functions in \mathbb{B}_n that vanish at the origin, we can define a holomorphic function f_t in \mathbb{B}_n by

$$f_t(z) = R^{-k} \left[(1 - z_1)^{-t - k} - 1 \right]$$

Then

$$R^k f_t(z) = (1 - z_1)^{-t - k} - 1,$$

so for any $z \in \mathbb{B}_n$ and $t \leq \gamma$,

$$\left(1-|z|^{2}\right)^{k+\gamma}\left|R^{k}f_{t}(z)\right| \leq \left(1-|z|^{2}\right)^{k+\gamma}\left(|1-z_{1}|^{-t-k}+1\right) \leq C(1-|z|^{2})^{\gamma-t} \leq C.$$

On the other hand, if $t > \gamma$, then we take z = (x, 0, ..., 0), where x is a real number between 0 and 1, to obtain

$$\left(1-|z|^2\right)^{k+\gamma} \left| R^k f_t(z) \right| = (1-x^2)^{k+\gamma} \left((1-x)^{-t-k} - 1 \right) \ge (1-x)^{\gamma-t} \to \infty$$

as $x \to 1$. Thus

(35)
$$f_t \in \Lambda_{-\gamma}$$
 if and only if $t \leq \gamma$.

By a similar computation as used in Yang-Ouyang [64], we see that

(36)
$$f_t \in A^p_{\alpha} \quad \text{when} \quad t < \frac{n+1+\alpha}{p},$$

and

(37)
$$f_t \notin A^p_{\alpha}$$
 when $t = \frac{n+1+\alpha}{p}$

For any $\varepsilon > 0$ let $t = (n + 1 + \alpha)/p - \varepsilon/2$. Then

$$(n+1+\alpha)/p - \varepsilon < t < (n+1+\alpha)/p.$$

By (36) and (35) we hav

$$f_t \in A^p_{\alpha}$$
 but $f_t \notin \Lambda_{-((n+1+\alpha)/p-\varepsilon)}$.

This shows that the inclusion $A^p_{\alpha} \subset \Lambda_{(n+1+\alpha)/p}$ is the best possible. At the same time it also shows that the inclusion $\Lambda_{-\gamma} \subset A^p_{\alpha}$ is strict, since

$$\Lambda_{-\gamma} \subset \Lambda_{-((n+1+\alpha)/p-\varepsilon)}$$

as $\varepsilon \leq n/p$.

Let $t = (n + 1 + \alpha)/p$. Then by (37) and (35), $f_t \notin A^p_{\alpha}$ but $f_t \in \Lambda_{-(n+1+\alpha)/p}$, so the inclusion $A^p_{\alpha} \subset \Lambda_{-(n+1+\alpha)/p}$ is strict.

To show that the left inclusion is the best possible, we let

$$f_{p,\alpha}(z) = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} f_{m_k}(z) = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} 2^{k(1+\alpha)/p} W_{2^k}(z),$$

where $\{W_{2^k}\}$ is a sequence of polynomials with Hadamard gaps as in Theorem 1.2 of Ryll-Wojtaszczyk [48] and Corollary 1 of Ullrich [59] with the properties

 $\|W_{2^k}\|_{H^\infty} = 1, \quad \|W_{2^k}\|_{H^p} > C(n,p),$

where C(n, p) is a constant depending only on n and p.

From Proposition 63 and Proposition 61 we easily deduce that $f_{p,\alpha} \in \Lambda_{-(1+\alpha)/p}$ but $f_{p,\alpha} \notin A^p_{\alpha}$. Thus the inclusion $\Lambda_{-\gamma} \subset A^p_{\alpha}$ is best possible. The proof is complete. \Box

As a direct consequence we obtain the Lipschitz stretch of A^p_{α} .

COROLLARY 67. – Let $0 and let <math>\alpha$ be any real number. Then

$$\Lambda(A^p_\alpha) = \frac{n}{p}$$

with lower bound $(1 + \alpha)/p$ and upper bound $(n + 1 + \alpha)/p$.

COROLLARY 68. – All weighted Bergman spaces are different, that is, $A^p_{\alpha} \neq A^q_{\beta}$ whenever $(p, \alpha) \neq (q, \beta)$. *Proof.* – If p = q but $\alpha \neq \beta$, then by Proposition 65, A^p_{α} and A^q_{β} are different. If $p \neq q$, then Corollary 67 tells us that $\Lambda(A^p_{\alpha}) = n/p$, while $\Lambda(A^q_{\beta}) = n/q$. Thus A^p_{α} and A^q_{β} have different Lipschitz stretchs, so they must be different.

The following two theorems completely describe the inclusion relations between two weighted Bergman spaces.

THEOREM 69. – Let $0 . Then <math>A^p_{\alpha} \subset A^q_{\beta}$ if and only if

$$\frac{n+1+\alpha}{p} \le \frac{n+1+\beta}{q}$$

and in this case the inclusion is strict.

Proof. – Let $0 and <math>f \in A^p_{\alpha}$. Let k be a nonnegative integer such that $pk + \alpha > -1$ and $kq + \beta > -1$. It follows from the closed graph theorem that the inclusion $A^p_{\alpha} \subset A^q_{\beta}$ is equivalent to

(38)
$$\int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \left| R^k f(z) \right|^q \mathrm{d} v_{kq+\beta}(z) \le C \|f\|_{p,\alpha}^q$$

Let s > 0 be a real number which is sufficiently large. By Theorem 50, the inequality in (38) is equivalent to

$$\sup_{z\in\mathbb{B}_n}\int_{\mathbb{B}_n}\frac{(1-|z|^2)^s}{|1-\langle z,w\rangle|^{s+(n+1+\alpha+kp)q/p}}\mathrm{d}v_{kq+\beta}(w)<\infty,$$

or

$$\sup_{z \in \mathbb{B}_n} (1 - |z|^2)^s \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{(1 - |w|^2)^{kq + \beta}}{|1 - \langle z, w \rangle|^{s + kq + (n+1+\alpha)q/p}} \mathrm{d}v(w) < \infty.$$

By Proposition 7, the inequality above holds if and only if

 $c=s+kq+(n+1+\alpha)q/p-(n+1)-(kq+\beta)\leq s,$

which is easily seen to be equivalent to

$$\frac{n+1+\alpha}{p} \le \frac{n+1+\beta}{q}$$

In view of Corollary 68 the proof is now complete.

THEOREM 70. – Let $0 < q < p < \infty$. Then $A^p_{\alpha} \subset A^q_{\beta}$ if and only if

$$\frac{1+\alpha}{p} < \frac{1+\beta}{q},$$

and in this case the inclusion is strict.

MÉMOIRES DE LA SMF 115

Proof. – Let $0 < q < p < \infty$ and $f \in A^p_{\alpha}$. Let k be a nonnegative integer such that $pk + \alpha > -1$ and $kq + \beta > -1$. Once again, the closed graph theorem tells us that the inclusion $A^p_{\alpha} \subset A^q_{\beta}$ is equivalent to

(39)
$$\int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \left| R^k f(z) \right|^q \mathrm{d} v_{kq+\beta}(z) \le C \| f \|_{p,\alpha}^q.$$

Let s > 0 be a real number which is sufficiently large. By Theorem 54, the inequality in (39) is equivalent to

(40)
$$B_{s,kp+\alpha}(v_{kq+\beta}) \in L^{p/(p-q)}(\mathbb{B}_n, \mathrm{d}v_{kp+\alpha}).$$

If s is large enough, then by Proposition 7,

$$B_{s,kp+\alpha}(v_{kq+\beta})(z) = \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{(1-|z|^2)^s (1-|w|^2)^{kq+\beta}}{|1-\langle w,z\rangle|^{n+1+s+kp+\alpha}} \mathrm{d}v(w) \sim (1-|z|^2)^{-k(p-q)-(\alpha-\beta)},$$

as |z| approaches 1. Thus (40) is equivalent to

$$\int_{\mathbb{B}_n} (1-|z|^2)^{-(k(p-q)+(\alpha-\beta))p/(p-q)+kp+\alpha} \mathrm{d}v(z) < \infty$$

which is equivalent to

$$\frac{1+\alpha}{p} < \frac{1+\beta}{q}$$

This along with Corollary 68 finishes the proof.

	SOCIÉTÉ	MATHÉMATI	QUE DE	FRANCE	2008
--	---------	-----------	--------	--------	------

CHAPTER 17

FURTHER REMARKS

Unless p = 2, the space A_{-1}^p is not the same as the Hardy space H^p , although in many situations it is useful to think of H^p as the limit of A_{α}^p as α approaches -1. One particular problem here is to identify the complex interpolation space between H^p and A_{α}^p when $\alpha > -1$ and $p \ge 1$. It is also interesting to ask for the complex interpolation space between H^p and Λ_{α} .

The spaces A^p_{α} when α is a negative integer appear to be very special. It would be interesting to see some "singular properties" of these spaces.

One of the interesting problems left open in the paper is whether or not Theorem 46 remains valid when $1 . This is certainly not an easy question, since an affirmative answer would characterize Carleson measures for the Hardy space <math>H^2$ as a special case, and it is well known that the characterization of Carleson measures for Hardy spaces is very technical. On the other hand, two special cases can be disposed of easily: Corollary 47 covers the case $\alpha > -1$ and p > 0, while Corollary 48 covers the case $\alpha = -1$ and $0 . In view of recent work by Arcozzi, Rochberg, and Sawyer (see [5], [6], and [7]) concerning Carleson measures for the standard Besov spaces <math>B_p = A_{-(n+1)}^p$, the extension of Theorem 46 to the case p > 1 when α is arbitrary is most likely a very challenging problem.

After the completion of this paper, several other interesting characterizations for Bergman spaces have appeared. See [37], [43], and [63].

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- P. AHERN & W. COHN "Besov spaces, Sobolev spaces and Cauchy integrals", Michigan Math. J. 39 (1972), p. 239–261.
- [2] A. ALEKSANDROV Function theory in the unit ball, Several Complex Variables II, G.M. Khenkin and A.G. Vitushkin, ed., Springer, 1994.
- [3] J. ANDERSON, J. CLUNIE & C. POMMERENKE "On Bloch functions and normal functions", J. reine angew. Math. 270, p. 12–37.
- [4] J. ARAZY, S. FISHER, S. JANSON & J. PEETRE "Membership of Hankel operators on the ball in unitary ideals", J. London Math. Soc. 43 (1991), p. 485–508.
- [5] N. ARCOZZI "Carleson measures for analytic Besov spaces: the upper triangle case", J. Inequal. Pure Appl. Math., 6 (2005) no. 1, Art. 13.
- [6] N. ARCOZZI, R. ROCHBERG & E. SAWYER "Carleson measures for analytic Besov spaces", *Rev. Mat. Iberoamericana* 18 (2002), p. 443–510.
- [7] _____, Carleson measures and interpolating sequences for Besov spaces on complex balls, Memoirs Amer. Math. Soc., vol. 859, 2006.
- [8] W. ARVESON "Subalgebras of C*-algebras III, multivariable operator theory", Acta Math. 181 (1998), p. 159–228.
- [9] F. BEATROUS "Estimates for derivatives of holomorphic functions in pseudoconvex domains", *Math. Z.* 191 (1986), p. 91–116.
- [10] F. BEATROUS & J. BURBEA "Characterizations of spaces of holomorphic functions in the ball", Kodai Math. J. 8 (1985), p. 36–51.
- [11] _____, Holomorphic Sobolev spaces on the ball, Dissertationes Math., Warszawa, vol. 276, 1989.
- [12] J. BENNET, D. STEGENGA & R. TIMONEY "Coefficients of Bloch and Lipschitz functions", *Illinois J. Math.* 25 (1981), p. 520–531.

- [13] C. BENNETT & R. SHARPLEY Interpolation of Operators, Academic Press, New York, 1988.
- [14] J. BERGH & J. LÖFSTRÖM Interpolation Spaces: An Introduction, Grundlehrem, vol. 223, Springer, Berlin, 1976.
- [15] L. CARLESON "An interpolation problem for bounded analytic functions", Amer. J. Math. 80 (1958), p. 921–930.
- [16] _____, "Interpolation by analytic functions and the corona problem", Ann. Math. 76 (1962), p. 547–559.
- [17] X. CHEN & K. GUO Analytic Hilbert Modules, Chapman Hall/CRC Press, Boca Raton, 2003.
- [18] B. R. CHOE "Projections, the weighted Bergman spaces and the Bloch space", Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 108 (1990), p. 127–136.
- [19] B. R. CHOE, H. KOO & H. YI "Positive Toeplitz operators between harmonic Bergman spaces", *Potential Anal.* 17 (2002), p. 307–335.
- [20] J. CIMA & W. WOGEN "A Carleson measure theorem for the Bergman space of the ball", J. Operator Theory 7 (1982), p. 157–165.
- [21] R. COIFMAN & R. ROCHBERG "Representation theorems for holomorphic and harmonic functions", Astérisque 77 (1980), p. 11–66.
- [22] R. COIFMAN, R. ROCHBERG & G. WEISS "Factorization theorems for Hardy spaces of several complex variables", Ann. Math. 103 (1976), p. 611–635.
- [23] P. DUREN Theory of H^p Spaces, Academic Press, New York, 1970.
- [24] P. DUREN, B. ROMBERG & A. SHIELDS "Linear functionals on H^p spaces with 0 ", J. reine angew. Math. 238 (1969), p. 32–60.
- [25] F. FORELLI & W. RUDIN "Projections on spaces of holomorphic functions on balls", *Indiana Univ. Math. J.* 24 (1974), p. 593–602.
- [26] M. FRAZIER & B. JAWERTH "Decomposition of Besov spaces", Indiana Univ. Math. J. 34 (1985), p. 777–799.
- [27] J. GARNETT Bounded Analytic Functions, Academic Press, New York, 1981.
- [28] I. GRAHAM "The radial derivative, fractional integrals and the comparative growth of means of holomorphic functions on the unit ball in \mathbb{C}^{n} ", in *Recent*

Developments in Several Complex Variables, vol. 100, Ann. Math. Studies, 1981, p. 171–178.

- [29] K. T. HAHN & E. H. YOUSSFI "M-harmonic Besov spaces and Hankel operators on the Bergman space on ball of Cⁿ", Manuscripta Math. 71 (1991), p. 67–81.
- [30] _____, "Möbius invariant Besov spaces and Hankel operators on the Bergman spaces on the unit ball", *Complex Variables* **17** (1991), p. 89–104.
- [31] W. HASTINGS "A Carleson measure theorem for Bergman spaces", Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 52 (1975), p. 237–241.
- [32] L. HÖRMANDER "L^p estimates for (pluri-)subharmonic functions", Math. Scand. 20 (1967), p. 65–78.
- [33] T. KAPTANOGLU "Besov spaces and Bergman projections on the ball", C.R. Acad. Sci. Paris, Sér. I 335 (2002), p. 729–732.
- [34] _____, "Bergman projections on Besov spaces on balls", Illinois J. Math. 49 (2005), p. 385–403.
- [35] _____, "Carleson measures for Besov spaces on the ball", J. Funct. Anal. 250 (2007), p. 483–520.
- [36] O. KURES & K. ZHU "A class of integral operators on the unit ball of Cⁿ", Integr. Equ. Oper. Theory 56 (2006), p. 71–82.
- [37] S. LI, H. WULAN, R. ZHAO & K. ZHU "A characterization of Bergman spaces on the unit ball of \mathbb{C}^{n} ", 2007, to appear in *Glasgow Math J*.
- [38] D. LUECKING "A technique for characterizing Carleson measures on Bergman spaces", Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 87 (1983), p. 656–660.
- [39] _____, "Embedding theorems for spaces of analytic functions via Khinchine's inequality", Michigan Math. J. 40 (1993), p. 333–358.
- [40] M. NOWARK "Bloch and Möbius invariant Besov spaces on the unit ball of \mathbb{C}^{n} , Complex Variables 44 (2001), p. 1–12.
- [41] C. OUYANG, W. YANG & R. ZHAO "Characterizations of Bergman spaces and the Bloch space in the unit ball of Cⁿ", Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 374 (1995), p. 4301–4312.
- [42] M. PAVLOVIC "Inequalities for the gradient of eigenfunctions of the invariant Laplacian in the unit ball", *Indag. Math.* 2 (1991), p. 89–98.

- [43] M. PAVLOVIC & K. ZHU "New characterizations of Bergman spaces", Ann. Acad. Sci. Fen. 33 (2008), p. 87–99.
- [44] M. PELOSO "Möbius invariant spaces on the unit ball", Michigan Math. J. 39 (1992), p. 509–536.
- [45] S. POWER "Hörmander's Carleson theorem for the ball", Glasg. Math. J. 26 (1985), p. 13–17.
- [46] R. ROCHBERG "Decomposition theorems for Bergman spaces and their applications", in Operators and Function Theory, D. Reidel, 1985, p. 225–277.
- [47] W. RUDIN Function Theory in the Unit Ball of \mathbb{C}^n , Springer, New York, 1980.
- [48] J. RYLL & P. WOJTASZCZYK "On homogeneous polynomials on a complex ball", Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 276 (1983), p. 107–116.
- [49] K. SEIP "Beurling type density theorems in the unit disk", Invent. Math. 113 (1993), p. 21–39.
- [50] _____, "Regular sets of sampling and interpolation for weighted Bergman spaces", Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 117 (1993), p. 213–220.
- [51] J. SHAPIRO "Macey topologies, reproducing kernels and diagonal maps on Hardy and Bergman spaces", Duke Math. J. 43 (1976), p. 187–202.
- [52] J. SHI "Inequalities for integral means of holomorphic functions and their derivatives in the unit ball of Cⁿ", Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 328 (1991), p. 619– 632.
- [53] A. SISKAKIS "Weighted integrals of analytic functions", Acta Sci. Math. 66 (2000), p. 651–664.
- [54] D. STEGENGA "Multipliers of the Dirichlet space", Illinois J. Math. 24 (1980), p. 113–139.
- [55] E. STEIN & G. WEISS "Interpolation of operators with change of measures", Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 87 (1958), p. 159–172.
- [56] S. STEVIĆ "A generalization of a result of Choa on analytic functions with Hadamard gaps", J. Korean Math. Soc. 43 (2006), p. 579–591.
- [57] M. STOLL Invariant Potential Theory in the Unit Ball of \mathbb{C}^n , Cambridge Univ. Press, London, 1994.

- [58] F. G. TRICOMI & A. ERDELYI "The asymptotic expansion of a ratio of gamma functions", *Pacific J. Math.* 1 (1951), p. 133–142.
- [59] D. ULLRICH "Radial divergence in BMOA", Proc. London Math. Soc. 68 (1994), p. 145–160.
- [60] D. VUKOTIĆ "A sharp estimate for A^p_{α} functions in \mathbb{C}^n ", Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 117 (1993), p. 753–756.
- [61] Z. WU "Carleson measures and multipliers for the Dirichlet space", J. Funct. Anal. 169 (1999), p. 148–163.
- [62] H. WULAN & K. ZHU "Bloch and BMO functions in the unit ball", 53 (2008),
 p. 1009–1019, Complex Variables.
- [63] _____, "Lipschitz type characterizations of Bergman spaces", to appear in Bull. Canadian. Math. Soc.
- [64] W. YANG & C. OUYANG "Exact location of α -Bloch spaces in L^p_a and H^p of a complex unit ball", *Rocky Mountain J. Math.* **30** (2000), p. 1151–1169.
- [65] R. ZHAO On a general family of function spaces, vol. 105, Ann. Acad. Sci. Fenn. Math. Dissertationes, 1996, 56 pp.
- [66] K. ZHU "Positive Toeplitz operators on weighted Bergman spaces of bounded symmetric domains", J. Operator Theory 20 (1988), p. 329–357.
- [67] _____, "Möbius invariant Hilbert spaces of holomorphic functions in the unit ball of \mathbb{C}^{n} ", Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. **323** (1991), 823-842).
- [68] _____, "Bergman and Hardy spaces with small exponents", Pacific J. Math. 162 (1994), p. 189–199.
- [69] _____, "Holomorphic Besov spaces on bounded symmetric domains", Quart. J. Math. Oxford 46 (1995), p. 239–256.
- [70] _____, "Holomorphic Besov spaces on bounded symmetric domains II", Indiana Univ. Math. J. 44 (1995), p. 239–256.
- [71] _____, Spaces of Holomorphic Functions in the Unit Ball, Springer, New York, 2005.